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12 Bundesanzeiger
SAP SE 3
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o SAP SE
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Priifungs- und Compliance-Ausschuss
SAP SE
SAP
2023 Form 20-F
407 SEC
10A-3

Personal- und Governance-Ausschuss
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Finanz- und Investitionsausschuss

Technologie- und Strategieausschuss

Nominierungsausschuss
Ausschuss fiir Mitarbeiterangelegenheiten und Unternehmenskultur
go-to-market
SAP
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20-F SAP SE 7 2

1 Prokurist SAP SE
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
12 31
13,664 11,426 8,701 8,080 6,933
13,261 13,965 14,660 15,148 16,080
26,924 25,391 23,361 23,228 23,012
@ 31,207 29,520 26,953 27,338 27,553
5,787 6,090 6,308 6,623 4,473
@ 5,964 1,708 5,376 5,283 3,370
&) 6,139 2,284 5,256 5,145 3,321
1 @B
( ) 5.26 1.95 4.46 4.35 2.78
( ) 5.20 1.94 4.46 4.35 2.78
O
1,167 1,170 1,180 1,182 1,194
1,180 1,175 1,180 1,182 1,194
12 31
®) 8,124 9,008 8,898 5,311 5,314
68,335 72,159 71,174 58,464 60,212
®) 1,735 4,808 4,528 2,348 3,273
®) 7,941 9,547 11,042 13,605 12,923
1,229 1,229 1,229 1,229 1,229
Q) 43,406 42,848 41,523 29,927 30,822
@ (A.D) (€.2)
@
(€©) (C.6)
(O]
®) (E.3)
(6) (E.3) (0.5)
Q) (E.2)
SAP SE SAP SE SAP European Company Societas Europaea
SE SAP SE
SAP SE
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Systemanalyse und Programmentwicklung GbR  1972-1976) SAP Systeme, Anwendungen, Produkte in der

Datenverarbeitung GmbH 1976-1988
Datenverarbeitung 1988-2005 SAP AG 2005-2014
69190
+49-6227-7-47474

1972
SAP SE
2 3
5 6
SAP
9 10 11
SAP 2023 12 31
SAP SE
ADR NYSE
STOXX50
2023 12 31
S&P
5

SAP Aktiengesellschaft Systeme, Anwendungen, Produkte in der

16

TecDAX

S&P ESG

1 IDC, Worldwide Enterprise Applications Software Market Shares, 2022: Cloud Is the Digital World Foundational

Choice, Doc #US51040223, 2023 7
2 IDC, Worldwide Semiannual Software Tracker, 2023H1, 2023 10
3 IDC, Worldwide Semiannual Software Tracker, 2023H1, 2023 10
4 IDC, Worldwide Semiannual Software Tracker, 2023H1, 2023 10

5 IDC, Worldwide Travel and Expense Management Software Market Shares, 2022: Evolving Travel Models Pushing

Digital Transformation, Doc #US49194223, 2023 9
6 IDC, Worldwide Semiannual Software Tracker, 2023H1, 2023 10

7 Gartner, Inc., Magic Quadrant for Data Integration Tools, Doc G00777860, 2023 12
8 Gartner, Inc., Magic Quadrant for Financial Planning Software, Doc G00784792, 2023 12

9 Gartner, Inc., Magic Quadrant for Analytics and Business Intelligence Platforms, Doc G00768632, 2023 4

10 Gartner, Inc., Magic Quadrant for Data Quality Solutions, Doc G00759931, 2022 11

11 CGartner, Inc., Magic Quadrant for Process Mining Tools, Doc G00774746, 2023 3

SAP SE SAP 2023 12 31 SAP
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SAP SE SAP 2023 12 31 SAP 236
2023 SAP
SAP SE
2023 2023
o 12 31
( (€))
) (
)
SAP Deutschland SE
& Co. KG 100% 5,724,456 1,796,440 (@)
@
SAP hweiz) A
(Schweiz) AG 100% 1,392,865 310,761 Q)
SAP (UK)Limited
ot 100% 1,431,680 204,673 Q)
SAP Espafia —
Sistemas,
Aplicaciones y
Productos en la 100% 640,969 120,151 ™
Informatica,
S.A.
SAP F S.A.
rance 100% 1,217,078 1,924,300 Q)
SAP Italia Sistemi
Applicazioni
Prodotti in Data 100% 743,718 92,681 Q)
Processing
S.p.A.
SAP Nederland
B.V. 100% 828,363 967,086 (@)
(O]
Ariba, Inc.
100% 1,426,356 6,618,961 ™
Concur
Technologies,
Inc. 100% 2,169,139 8,828,126 (@)
SAP America, Inc.
100% 8,476,670 11,879,728 ™
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SAP Industries,
Inc.
100% 603,743 1,427,522 (@)
SAP National
Security Services,
Inc. 100% 1,152,270 567,360 Q)
SAP Brasil Ltda.
@ 100% 810,113 112,716 (@)
SAP Canada Inc. .
100% 1,187,938 768,751 (@]
SAP México S.A.
de C.V. 100% 531,654 131,233 (@)
(©))
SAP
100% 1,164,259 303,285 (@)
SAP Australia Pty
Ltd. 100% 808,936 96,836 (@)
SAP (China) Co.,
Ltd. 100% 1,313,574 -75,918 ™
(©))
SAP India Private
Limited *
100% 792,589 310,957 ™
™)
€Y IFRS
® SAP SE
(3) SAP SE
@) 2 403 2023 12 31 2023 9 30
EMEA
APJ
2023 12 31 2022 12 31 2021 12 31
EMEA APJ EMEA APJ EMEA APJ

1 4,389 4,266 4,426 13,080 4,178 4,025 4,538 12,740 4,551 4,191 4,406 13,148
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8,178 5,013 5,481 18,672 8,129 5,106 5,769 19,005 8,095 5,053 5,864 19,012

1 18,086 5,884 12,474 36,444 17,764 5,752 11,764 35,280 16,487 5,641 11,248 33,377

12,086 10,300 5,342 27,728 11,671 10,633 5,463 27,766 10,721 10,186 5,183 26,090

3,619 1,777 1,307 6,704 3,387 1,804 1,240 6,431 3,278 1,866 1,164 6,308

2,834 1,274 867 4,975 2,795 1,382 912 5,089 2,602 1,299 821 4,722
SAP @ a1 ) 49,191 28,515 29,897 107,602 47,924 28,702 29,686 106,312 45,734 28,236 28,687 102,658
421 138 0 558 188 189 8 385 377 44 44 465
SAP ( ) 48,222 28,239 29,582 106,043 47,359 28,785 29,438 105,582 44,622 27,822 28,009 100,453
1 IN.1
1 FTE
FTE 2
6
1 Qualtrics
2 558
EMRHEY THERAY fEXR— ALY D YAFFIFYY LY
FEXRDFIE AXEOTHFTE THOAHR ~MEL =R
A—0ORT FTE#EC
107, 6024 106, 0434 160, 000 1, 8574
P41, 000 NREE - 06,3128 [ +173 00258 : 105,502% H16,000 N26E - U000 | | 1 +1.382 N00EE 505
2024 8,000
G.8
(8.1) (8.2)
2024 5
SAP SE Works Council WoC
SAP SE WoC
SAP SE SAP
SE SAP Deutschland SE & Co. KG SAP Germany hybris GmbH Concur
(Germany) GmbH Emarsys Interactive Services GmbH
SAP SE SAP Germany hybris GmbH Concur
(Germany) GmbH Emarsys Interactive Services GmbH
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SAP SE SAP Germany SAP SE
SAP France SAP France Holding SAP Labs France Concur (France) SAS
SYNTEC 2019 12 31
SAP France SAP France Holding SAP Labs France Concur (France) SAS
SAP France SAP France Holding SAP Labs
France Concur (France) SAS

SAP Espafia — Sistemas, Aplicaciones y Productos en la Informatica, S.A. SAP Belgium

NV/SA.  SAP Israel SAP Nederland B.V. SAP Italia Sistemi Applicazioni Prodotti in Data Processing

S.p.A. SAP China Beijing SAP CR, spol. s r.o. SAP Services
s.r.o. Ariba Czech s.r.o. Concur Czech (s.r.o.) SAP Brasil Ltda SAP Korea Ltd. SAP
North West Africa Ltd. SAP Slovensko s.r.o. SAP sistemi, aplikacije in
produkti za obdelavo podatkov d.o.o. SAP Romania SRL  SAP Svenska Aktiebolag
SAP UK Ltd. SAP Ireland Ltd. SAP
SAP 2015 64
2022
*
17.5% 76.1% 76.1% -

*

2023
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1.5
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2023 9
2023 11 SAP BTP

SAP Build Code
2023 12

Cloud ERP SAP S/4HANA

Cloud ERP Suite

ESG
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ESG
SAP BTP
SAP
SAP BTP Al

IT Al
Al
Joule
Al Foundation SAP HANA Al
Al

Cloud ERP Suite

SAP BTP

SAP S/4HANA SAP BTP

RISE
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Premium Plus
RISE with SAP GROW with SAP
RISE with SAP ERP
RISE with SAP
GROW with SAP ERP
GROW with
SAP
IT
IT
ERP
SAP S/4HANA
SAP HANA
Al SAP
S/4HANA ERP

ERP

SAP SuccessFactors
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SAP Ariba

SAP

SAP
SAP
Al

SAP BTP

SAP Datasphere
iPaaS
LLM

SAP

SAP BTP
SAP Build
SAP Analytics Cloud
API SAP Integration Suite
Al Al
SAP BTP

190

241404

EDINETOOOO
O00DO0000O0O0n(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP Concur

SAP BTP

SAP Build Code IT
ABAP Cloud
SAP HANA

Al Foundation on SAP BTP



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0000O0O0n(E24727)

oooooog
SAP Signavio
2023 11 LeanlX IT
EAM
LeanlX IT SAP
Signavio
Taulia

Taulia Cash Flow

Acceleration Platform

Taulia ESG
SAP Cloud for Sustainable Enterprises
ESG SAP Sustainability Control Tower
SAP Sustainability Data Exchange
25,000
SAP BTP
SAP Enterprise Support SAP Preferred Success

SAP Cloud Application Services

SAP
MaxAttention SAP ActiveAttention
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2023 NPS 2
2024 NPS 9 13
1 2023
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9 2022

26/404

NPS

KPI

EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

NPS

NPS

2022

KPI

XM



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

ooooooo
3 3
2023
KP1 2023 2023
140
140.6
142
270
276.4
274
86.5
1,2 90.4
89.5
49 50.9
8 12 9
76%  80% 80%
0 0
* 2023 2023 1 Qualtrics 7 2
2023 2023 7
1 IFRS
2
2024
KP1 2023 2024
170
136.6
173 2
290
269.2
295 2
65.1 6
(2024 1.3 : 79 1,2
87.2 ===
(2023 )
50.9 35.0
9 9 13
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80% 76%  80%
2030
690
GET SET ET
2027 25%
22.2%
o 4
1 IFRS 2024 2024 IFRS
2
3 IFRS
4 GET SET ET
2025
KkPI 2025
215
375
1 162
1 100
80
2030 2030
GET SET ET
2027 25%
(%)
1 IFRS 2025 2024 IFRS
3 3 3 4 (3
3 5 3 6
@
53 Q3 O
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10

CEO
CEO CFO ESG

0CSO
0CSO

1SO 14001:2015 Leadership in Energy and

Environmental Design LEED

IT IT
NGO

2023 8 CEO
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CEO
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@

CFO

NGO

CEO

ESG

Al

NPO

2022

CEO

€SO
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2022

RCP 2.6 4.5 8.5 1

2021 2050 2
2030 2050 3

2023

2 IPCC RCP 2.6 RCP 8.5
3 IPCC RCP 4.5 RCP 8.5
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2022

81
82

People & Operations

HXM

2023

3

SAP SuccessFactors

30
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1
1 SAP SuccessFactors
FTE 7,187 2022 12,564 41.5 2022
38.1
SAP Returnship
7,187 FTE 37.8 2022
27.9
Vocational Training / SAP Student Training and Rotation (VT/ STAR)
1,454
2 g2 2022 78
2,700
SAP Internship Experience Program: 22 1,568 2022
1,662
12
2023 4,500 4.53
2023 1,212
80 90
97,000
4 53 5
39,618 2022 134,233
12023 99 230 2021
1300 2022 :310 98 12,057 50
2025
200 2023 180
25,559 2022 20,054 5,903 2022 5,444
Qualtrics
6 4.22 7 4.68
1:96 2:67 8
8.7 2022 8.3
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170 (2022 1 154)
Chief Learning Officer 2023 Learning Elite Awards
IDC MarketScape 3 European IT Training Services 2021 Vendor
Assessment U.S. IT Training 2021 Vendor Assessment APeJ IT Training Services
2022 Vendor Assessment 2023
0 3
VT/STAR
Experience SAP ?
11 5
CS
CS
100 150 200
145 300 1121 53
3 11 5
1 2
1 4
93 2023 2022 g8 1
SAP Talk
SMART2
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The
Josh Bersin Company 3
CCB kP14
Move SAP
2023 97
Own SAP
2023 75 2022 79 6,710,033
2022 9,183,599
99.8
66
Success Map M&A
SMART Specific Measurable Achievable Realistic
Timely
2023 The Josh Bersin Company SAP
KP1 KPI
B.3
160
LGBTQ+
3

35/404



LGBTQ+

ENG

EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

ooooOoog
35.2 2022 34.9 29.7 2022
29.3 1222
2023 Forbes 3
2022 18
SAP Business Women = s Network 150
3,300
Global Women=s Development Program
263
20 SAP Returnship
66
2023 10 Autism at Work 16 2022 15
244 2022 215
SAP Autism Inclusion Pledge 126

- Disability:IN

HollyRod Foundation Corporate Compassion Award
Sensory Relaxation Room SuccessConnect
Tranquility Lounge

European Network Against Racism ENAR Equal@ork

Partnership for Global LGBTIQA+Equality Pride
on the Promenade
: Human Rights Campaign 5
Uhlala Group PRIDE Champion Audit Work
With Pride PRIDE 4
Out & Equal 2023 Workplace Summit

5 100
13 (ENG)
ENG
Allyship for Inclusion ENG
2023
#Unfiltered 92 2022 91
2023 Religious Freedom and Business Foundation Top Faith-

Friendly Company
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SAP EMEA South

&

Tech Day of Pink

SAP SuccessFactors SAP SuccessFactors

SAP Desiign
1

KP1

SAP Leadership Summit
1 1 44.4
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Al
Pledge to Flex
5 17m In
2023 2 3
Future of Work
Health &
Safety Commitment Statement
2023
SAP Global Health Summit SAP Global

Health & Safety Policy
SAP Global Health & Safety Policy

Are you OK?
SAP Global Mindfulness Practice

SAP.i0

2023 SAP.i0 120

Hasso Plattner Founders = Award:

NPS
NPS
NPS NPS NPS

NPS
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0 6
7 8
100 100 NPS
2023
Concur
NPS
#Unfiltered 5
NPS:
NPS
10 9 10
NPS 100 100
(WiER):2024
Executive Team Executive Team 3
KP1
KP1
Cc02
GHG
2023
3
2024 2030 Net Zero
1 2
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#Unfiltered

NPS

NPS

Global Executive Team Senior
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2024
7 KP1
7 KP1 5
#Unfiltered
4 #Unfiltered ( 76 )
71 ) 78,041
2023 #Unfiltered
KPI 1

HERRTASF—0 0 BN
HN—t R

g6

3

R

0eER A0SR HEE

80

A S A—i3 BN
A=t rER

+=0ii—=t k-

7ot OMEE
H—t bR

87 vr ||628 551+

BHCI

2023
2024
BHCI
2024 2025
2023 4 3
#Unfiltered 2023 10

HEE

2025

2023

82,651
HC

==y -
AR

Tk JOE—9—-
AaTER

71 4755

HERADERR
N hRR

96.44

#Unfiltered
BHCI 78 80
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KP1
#Unfiltered!

2023

10 #Unfiltered (

ELxA - AR -
HIILFe—iEN
PR il . 1!

81

TEROxE
=t FREE

29.7 ¢ et

by o |

76 80

2023 4

#Unfiltered
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FTE

2023
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ADR

EU COVID-19

SAP

ESG
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CoEBC

OEC

SEC DOJ 2024

DOJ
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SLA
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SAP Business Technology Platform (SAP BTP)
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Al

Al

go-to-market

Al

Al

Al

Al

Al

SAP BTP

Al

Al
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Al
Al

Global Al Ethics Policy

Al
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1
3 4 (3
2
2 3 3 4 (3
3
(A.1)
2023 ECB
1
ECB EMEA 2023
GDP
ECB
APJ 2023
COVID-19
2023 GDP
ECB 4
IT
2 International Data Corporation
IDC IT IDC

IDC
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2
3
SaaS Al GenAl ML
API 3 1DC
Al
4
IDC ESG
ESG
4 1DC
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(€)) 2024 2 9 136G
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3) 2024 2 9 SAP SE
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1973
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2024 AP
SAP
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2021 3
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SAP SE (G.4) SAP SE
13 5 28
SAP SE Sanoma
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(Lars Lamadé)((3)(®) 1971 4 6 2002 2029
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SAP SE (Pascal Denat)(D()(®) 1967 8 21 2024 2029
( )
Zoox, Inc.
(Aicha Evans)W@©®® | 1969 3 2 2017 2028
SAP SE (
) SAP SE
(Andreas Hahn)(2)(3)(6) 1971 1 4 2024 2029
. Dr. i (O©1C))
Hasso Plattner Institute (Prof. Dr Raliﬁ?erbrlch) 1974 5 11 2024 2028
for Digital Engineering gGmbH
SAP SE
SAP OB 0G (Vargret Klein-Magar)@®@ | 194 9 5 2012 2029
Changcheng Investment Partners
(Jennifer Xin-zhe Li)®®@ap|1%7 9 21 2022 2021
Miracle Plus Ltd. CEO (r. Qi Lu)®AD 1961 9 3 2020 2027
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90/404



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

Oswald Consulting GmbH
(Gerhard Oswald)()(#(6)(8) 1953 6 20 2019 2026
Deutsche Bank AG
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2022

{83, 0%6)

G6%
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a-—no

2023
185, 696}

95.6 83.0
2023 LTI 2016 - 2019
STI
STI
STI
2023
(Christian Klein)
CEO
2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022
C )y ) ( ) ( ) 2023 2022
1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 15.4 1,100.0 23.5
1 21.7 0 220.0 13.5 0 220.0 21.7 0.3 13.5 0.3
1,121.7 1,100.0 1,320.0 1,113.5 1,100.0 1,320.0 1,121.7 15.7 1,113.5 23.8
STI 2022 1,900.0 0 2,660.0 0 1,162.8 24.9
STI 2023 1,900.0 0 2,660.0 2,186.9 30.6 0
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LTI 2016 - 2018 0 -163.9 -3.5
LTI 2016 - 2019 386.9 5.4 2,561.8 54.8
LTI 2020 — 2020 3,462.6 48.4 0
LTI 2020 - 2022 5,500.0 0 14,666.7 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2023 5,500.0 0 14,666.7 0 0
7,400.0 0 17,326.7 7,400.0 0 17,326.7 6,036.4 84.3 3,560.6 76.2
8,521.7 1,100.0 18,646.7 8,513.5 1,100.0 18,646.7 7,158.1 100.0 4,674.1 100.0
LT12016 2019 2,948.7
2,561.8 386.9
(Dominik Asam)
(2023 3 7 )
2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022
C ) C ) C ) C ) 2023 2022
655.1 655.1 655.1 655.1 16.6 0
1 57.5 0 65.5 57.5 1.5 0
1,600.0 1,600.0 1,600.0 1,600.0 40.6 0
2,312.5 2,255.1 2,320.6 0 0 0 2,312.5 58.7 0 0
STI 2023 1,416.3 0 1,982.8 1,630.2 41.3 0
LTI 2020 - 2023 2,654.8 0 7,079.5 0 0
4,071.1 0 9,062.3 0 0 0 1,630.2 41.3 0 0
6,383.6 2,255.1 11,382.9 0 0 0 3,942.7 100.0 0 0
3.85
2023 STI 0.43 LTI 0.6 1.6
2024 STI LTI
(Sabine Bendiek)
(2023 12 31 )

2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022
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( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) 2023 2022
700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 34.7 700.0 49.6
1 21.4 0 70.0 23.4 0 70.0 21.4 1.1 23.4 1.7
721.4 700.0 770.0 723.4 700.0 770.0 721.4 35.8 723.4 51.2
STI 2022 1,125.8 0 1,576.1 0 689.0  48.8
STI 2023 1,125.8 0 1,576.1 1,295.7 64.2 0
LTI 2020 — 2022 2,754.3 0 7,344.8 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2023 2,174.3 0 5,798.0 0 0
3,300.0 o 7,374.1 3,880.1 0 8,920.9 1,295.7 64.2 689.0  48.8
4,021.4 700.0 8,144.1 4,603.4 700.0 9,690.9 2,017.1 100.0 1,412.3 100.0
(Luka Mucic)
(2023 3 31 )
2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022
( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) 2023 2022
187.5 187.5 187.5 750.0 750.0 750.0 187.5 9.2 750.0 23.1
1 4.4 0 18.8 17.2 0 75.0 4.4 0.2 17.2 0.5
191.9 187.5 206-3 767.2 750.0 825.0 191.9 9.4 767.2 23.6
STI 2022 1,150.0 0 1,610.0 0 703.8 21.7
STI 2023 287.5 0 402.5 330.9 16.3 0
LTI 2016 - 2018 0 -194.7 -6.0
LTI 2016 - 2019 297.8 14.6 1,971.6 60.7
LTI 2020 - 2020 1,213.3 59.7 0
LTI 2020 — 2022 2,900.0 0 7,733.3 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2023 715.1 0 1,906.9 0 0
1,002.6 0 2,309.4 4,050.0 0 9,343.3 1,842.0 90.6 2,480.7 76.4
1,194.5 187.5 2,515.6 4,817.2 750.0 10,168.3 2,033.9 100.0 3,247.9 100.0
LTI12016 2019 2,269.3
1,971.6 297.8
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2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022

C ) C ) C ) C ) 2023 2022
700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 19.2 700.0 21.8
1 15.7 0 70.0 15.7 0 70.0 15.7 0.4 15.7 0.5
715.7 700.0 770.0 715.7 700.0 770.0 715.7 19.6 715.7 22.3
STI 2022 1,125.8 0 1,576.1 0 689.0 21.5
STI 2023 1,125.8 0 1,576.1 1,295.7 35.5 0
LTI 2016 - 2019 272.8 7.5 1,805.4 56.2
LTI 2020 — 2020 1,368.8 37.5 0
LTI 2020 — 2022 2,174.3 0 5,798.1 0 0
LTI 2020 — 2023 2,174.3 0 5,798.1 0 0
3,300.1 0 7,374.2 3,300.1 0 7,374.2 2,937.3 80.4 2,494.3 77.7
4,015.7 700.0 8,144.2 4,015.7 700.0 8,144.2 3,653.0 100.0 3,210.0 100.0
LTI12016 2019 2,078.2
1,805.4 272.8
(Scott Russell)
2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022
( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) 2023 2022
1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 32.5 1,000.0 43.8
1 64.5 0 431.0 70.1 0 250.0 64.5 2.1 70.1 3.1
( 112.7 0 1,100.0 202.8 0 1,100.0 112.7 3.7 202.8 8.9
)2

1,177.3 1,000.0 2,531.0 1,272.8 1,000.0 2,350.0 1,177.3 38.3 1,272.8 55.8
STI 2022 1,650.0 0 2,310.0 0 1,009.8 44.2
STI 2023 1,650.0 0 2,310.0 1,899.2  61.7 0
LTI 2020 — 2022 2,850.0 0 7,600.0 0 0
LTI 2020 — 2023 2,850.0 0 7,600.0 0 0

4,500.0 0 9,910.0 4,500.0 0 9,910.0 1,899.2 61.7 1,009.8 44.2

5,677.3 1,000.0 12,441.0 5,772.8 1,000.0 12,260.0 3,076.4 100.0 2,282.6 100.0
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(Thomas Saueressig)
2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022
( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) 2023 2022
800.0 800.0 800.0 716.7 716.7 716.7 800.0 22.2 716.7 41.4
1 15.9 0 80.0 15.7 0 72.0 15.9 0.4 15.7 0.9
815.9 800.0 880.0 732.4 716.7 788.7 815.9 22.6 732.4 423
STI 2022 1,138.2 0 1,593.4 0 696.6  40.2
STI 2023 1,200.0 0 1,680.0 1,381.2 38.2 0
LTI 2016 - 2019 45.6 1.3 301.7 17.4
LTI 2020 - 2020 1,368.8 37.9 0
LTI 2020 - 2022 2,278.8 0 6,076.8 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2023 2,800.0 0 7,466.7 0 0
4,000.0 0 9,146.7 3,417.0 0 7,670.2 2,795.6 77.4 998.3 57.7
4,815.9 800.0 10,026.7 4,149.4 716.7 8,458.9 3,611.5 100.0 1,730.7 100.0
LT12016 2019 347.3
301.7 45.6
(Julia White)
2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022
Cc )y ) ( ) ( ) 2023 2022

750.0 750.0 750.0 750.0 750.0 750.0 750.0 29.3 750.0 32.9

1 73.9 0 343.1 89.8 0 188.0 73.9 2.9 89.8 3.9

230.1 0 800.0 369.6 0 800.0 230.1 9.0 369.6  16.2

)2

1,053.9 750.0 1,893.1 1,209.4 750.0 1,738.0 1,053.9 41.2 1,209.4 53.0

STI 2022 1,750.0 0 2,450.0 0 1,071.0 47.0
STI 2023 1,304.9 0 1,826.9 1,502.0 58.8 0
LTI 2020 - 2022 3,500.0 0 9,333.3 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2023 2,461.5 0 6,564.1 0 0
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3,766.5 0 8,391.0 5,250.0 0 11,783.3 1,502.0 58.8 1,071.0 47.0

4,820.4 750.0 10,284.1 6,459.4 750.0 13,521.3 2,555.9 100.0 2,280.4 100.0

5.46

2023 STl 0.15 LTI 0.36 2022 STI 0.6
LTI 1.4 2021 STI 0.4 LTI 1.0
1.5 2023 2022

2023 2023 2023 2022 2022 2022

C ) C ) C ) C ) 20123 2022
5,892.6 5,892.6 5,892.6 5,716.7 5,716.7 5,716.7  5,892.6 21.0 5,716.7 30.3

1 274.9 0 1,298.4 245.4 0 945.0 274.9 1.0 245.4 1.3
( 342.8 0 1,900.0 572.4 0 1,900.0 342.8 1.2 572.4 3.0
)
1,600.0 1,600.0 1,600.0 0 0 0 1,600.0 5.7 0 0
8,110.3 7,492.6 10,690.9 6,534.4 5,716.7 8,561.7 8,110.3 28.9 6,534.4 34.7
STI 2022 0 0 0 09,839.7 0 13,775.5 0 0 6,021.9 32.0
STI 2023 10,010.2 0 14,014.3 0 0 0 11,521.8 41.1 0 0
LTI 2016 — 2018 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -358.6 -1.9
LTI 2016 — 2019 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,003.1 3.6 6,640.4 35.2
LTI 2020 — 2020 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,413.5 26.4 0 0
LTI 2020 — 2022 0 0 0 21,957.4 0 58,553.1 0 0 0 0
LTI 2020 — 2023 21,330.0 0 56,879.9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
31,340.2 0 70,894.3 31,797.1 0 72,328.7 19,938.4 71.1 12,303.7 65.3
39,450.5 7,492.6 81,585.2 38,331.5 5,716.7 80,890.4 28,048.7 100.0 18,838.1 100.0
1
2
LT12020
LT12016

(B-3)
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2023 1 1 2023 12 31

€)Y/
*y/ ®
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LTI 2020 2023 3 0 16,726 0 16,726 16,726 16,726
— 2023 24
FSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 16,726 0 16,726 16,726 16,726
— 2023 24
MSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 16,726 0 16,726 16,726 16,726
- 2023 24
RSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 17,197 0 0 17,197 17,197 17,197
— 2022 28
FSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 17,197 0 0 17,197 17,197 17,197
— 2022 28
MSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 17,197 0 0 17,197 17,197 17,197
— 2022 28
RSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 17,230 0 0 17,230 17,230 17,230
- 2021 22
FSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 17,230 0 0 17,230 17,230 17,230
- 2021 22
MSU
(CE0) LTI 2020 2021 3 17,230 0 0 17,230 17,230 17,230
- 2021 22
RSU
LTI 2020 2020 2 29 14,834 0 —6,178 A 8,656 0 8,656
— 2020
FSU
LTI 2020 2020 2 29 14,834 0 -14,834 A 0 0 0
- 2020
MSU
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LTI 2020 2020 2 14,834 0 0 14,834 0 14,834
- 2020 29
RSU
LTI 2016 2019 11 4,678 0 -4,678 AJE 0 0 0
- 2019 20
PSU
LTI 2016 2019 2 15,628 0 -15,628 AJE 0 0 0
- 2019 20
PSU
LTI 2016 2019 11 3,119 0 -3,119 E 0 0 0
- 2019 20
RSU
LTI 2016 — 2019 2 20 10,419 0 -10,419 E 0 0 0
2019
RSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 8,073 0 8,073 8,073 8,073
- 2023 24
FSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 8,073 0 8,073 8,073 8,073
- 2023 24
(2023 3 ~
7 MSU
)
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 8,073 0 8,073 8,073 8,073
- 2023 24
RSU
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LTI 2020 2023 3 0 6,612  -4,960 F 1,652 1,652 1,652
— 2023 24
FSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 6,612  -4,960 F 1,652 1,652 1,652
— 2023 24
MSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 6,612  -4,960 F 1,652 1,652 1,652
— 2023 24
RSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 8,612 0 —4,309 F 4,303 4,303 4,303
- 2022 28
FSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 8,612 0 —4,309 F 4,303 4,303 4,303
~ 2022 28
1
(2023 -
12 31 MSU
) LTI 2020 2022 3 8,612 0 -4,309 F 4,303 4,303 4,303
~ 2022 28
RSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 10,570 0 -2,648 F 7,922 7,922 7,922
- 2021 22
FSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 10,570 0 -2,648 F 7,922 7,922 7,922
- 2021 22
MSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 10,570 0 -2,648 F 7,922 7,922 7,922
- 2021 22
RSU
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LTI 2020 2023 3 0 8,819  -8,276 F 543 543 543
- 2023 24
FSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 8,819  -8,276 F 543 543 543
- 2023 24
MSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 8,819  -8,276 F 543 543 543
- 2023 24
RSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 9,068 0  -6,244 F 2,824 2,824 2,824
- 2022 28
Fsu
LTI 2020 2022 3 9,068 0 -6,244 F 2,824 2,824 2,824
- 2022 28
MSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 9,068 0 -6,244 F 2,824 2,824 2,824
- 2022 28
RSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 8,679 0  -3,808 F 4,871 4,871 4,871
- 2021 22
FsU
(2023 3
2 LTI 2020 2021 3 8,679 0  -3,808 F 4,871 4,871 4,871
N - 2021 22
MSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 8,679 0  -3,808 F 4,871 4,871 4,871
- 2021 22
RSU
LTI 2020 2020 2 6,403 0  -3,370 F/A 3,033 0 3,033
~ 2020 29
FSU
LTI 2020 2020 2 6,403 0  -6,403 F/A 0 0 0
- 2020 29
MSU
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LTI 2020 2020 2 6,403 0 -1,205 F 5,198 0 5,198
— 2020 29

RSU
LTI 2016 2019 2 15,628 0 -15,628 A/E 0 0 0
- 2019 20

PSU
LTI 2016 2019 2 10,419 0 -10,419 E 0 0 0
- 2019 20

RSU
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LTI 2020 2023 3 0 8,667 0 8,667 8,667 8,667
— 2023 24

FSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 8,667 0 8,667 8,667 8,667
— 2023 24

MSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 8,667 0 8,667 8,667 8,667
- 2023 24

RSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 8,911 0 0 8,911 8,911 8,911
— 2022 28

FSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 8,911 0 0 8,911 8,911 8,911
— 2022 28

MSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 8,911 0 0 8,911 8,911 8,911
— 2022 28

RSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 8,170 0 0 8,170 8,170 8,170
- 2021 22

FSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 8,170 0 0 8,170 8,170 8,170
- 2021 22

MSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 8,170 0 0 8,170 8,170 8,170
- 2021 22

RSU
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LTI 2020 2023 3 0 6,612 0 6,612 6,612 6,612
— 2023 24

FSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 6,612 0 6,612 6,612 6,612
— 2023 24

MSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 6,612 0 6,612 6,612 6,612
- 2023 24

RSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 6,798 0 0 6,798 6,798 6,798
— 2022 28

FSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 6,798 0 0 6,798 6,798 6,798
— 2022 28

MSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 6,798 0 0 6,798 6,798 6,798
— 2022 28

RSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 6,811 0 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
- 2021 22

FSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 6,811 0 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
- 2021 22

MSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 6,811 0 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
- 2021 22

RSU
LTI 2020 2020 2 5,864 0 —2,442 A 3,422 0 3,422
- 2020 29

FSU
LTI 2020 2020 2 5,864 0 5,864 A 0 0 0
— 2020 29

MSU
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LTI 2020 2020 2 5,864 0 5,864 0 5,864
— 2020 29

RSU
LTI 2016 2019 2 14,311 -14,311 A/E 0 0 0
- 2019 20

PSU
LTI 2016 2019 2 9,541 -9,541 E 0 0 0
- 2019 20

RSU
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LTI 2020 2023 3 0 8,515 0 8,515 8,515 8,515
— 2023 24

FSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 8,515 0 8,515 8,515 8,515
— 2023 24

MSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 8,515 0 8,515 8,515 8,515
- 2023 24

RSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 7,125 0 0 7,125 7,125 7,125
— 2022 28

FSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 7,125 0 0 7,125 7,125 7,125
— 2022 28

MSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 7,125 0 0 7,125 7,125 7,125
— 2022 28

RSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 6,811 0 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
- 2021 22

FSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 6,811 0 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
- 2021 22

MSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 6,811 0 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
- 2021 22

RSU
LTI 2020 2020 2 5,864 0 —2,442 A 3,422 0 3,422
- 2020 29

FSU
LTI 2020 2020 2 5,864 0 5,864 A 0 0 0
— 2020 29

MSU
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5,864 0 5,864

LTI 2016
- 2019

PSU

2019 11 2,392 0 -2,392
1

A/E 0 0 0

LTI 2016
- 2019

RSU

2019 11 1,594 0 -1,594
1
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LTI 2020 2023 3 0 7,486 0 7,486 7,486 7,486
— 2023 24
FSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 7,486 0 7,486 7,486 7,486
— 2023 24
MSU
LTI 2020 2023 3 0 7,486 0 7,486 7,486 7,486
- 2023 24
RSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 10,944 0 0 10,944 10,944 10,944
— 2022 28
FSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 10,944 0 0 10,944 10,944 10,944
— 2022 28
MSU
LTI 2020 2022 3 10,944 0 0 10,944 10,944 10,944
— 2022 28
RSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 8,674 0 0 8,674 8,674 8,674
- 2021 22
FSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 8,674 0 0 8,674 8,674 8,674
- 2021 22
MSU
LTI 2020 2021 3 8,674 0 0 8,674 8,674 8,674
- 2021 22
RSU
593,424 214,530 -227,066 580,888 530,595 580,888
2023 12 31 LTI
( )
( )
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LTI 2020 - 2023 - 2023 109.612 105.81 2025 12 2026 2027 5
FSU 3 24 12 31

LTI 2020 - 2023 - 2023 109.612 130.56 2026 2 2026 2027 5
MSU 3 24 12 31

LTI 2020 — 2023 - 2023 109.612 105.81 NA 2026 2027 5
RSU 3 24 12 31

LTI 2020 - 2022 - 2022 106.605 96.84 2024 12 2025 2026 5
FSU 3 28 12 31

LTI 2020 - 2022 - 2022 106.605 108.20 2025 2 2025 2026 5
MSU 3 28 12 31

LTI 2020 — 2022 - 2022 106.605 96.84 NA 2025 2026 5
RSU 3 28 12 31

LTI 2020 - 2021 - 2021 106.405 100.28 2023 12 2024 2025 5
FSU 3 22 12 31

LTI 2020 - 2021 - 2021 106.405 115.19 2024 2 2024 2025 5
MSU 3 22 12 31

LTI 2020 - 2021 - 2021 106.405 100.28 NA 2024 2025 5
RSU 3 22 12 31

LTI 2020 — 2020 - 2020 123.593 110.65 2022 12 2023 2024 5
FSU 2 29 12 31

LTI 2020 - 2020 - 2020 123.593 122.22 2023 2 2023 2024 5
MSU 2 29 12 31

LTI 2020 - 2020 - 2020 123.593 110.65 NA 2023 2024 5
RSU 2 29 12 31

LTI 2016 — 2019 - 2019 92.886 93.71 2023 2 2022 2023 5
PSU 2 20 12 31

LTI 2016 — 2019 - 2019 92.886 88.54 NA 2022 2023 5
RSU 2 20 12 31
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62
100
62
60 SAP SE
1 62
4 14
180
(0BO) (G
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2023 2022 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31
85.5 217.4 621.8 420.0 1,244.8 990.2 -623.0 -570.2
(cE0)!
1
0 0 57.7 0 0 0 57.7 0
(2023 3 7 )
1
o3 12 31 ) 73.1 125.6 237.1 145.6 487.4 324.8 -250.3 -179.2
1
023 3 31 ) 0 155.7 681.5 548.5 1,358.5 1,292.6 -677.0 —744.1
1 46.4 124.1 286.7 180.1 777.4 615.0 -490.7 —434.9
1 52.9 146.4 307.2 167.4 625.3 454.4 -318.1 —287.0
257.9 769.2 2,192.0 1,461.6 4,493.4 3,677.0  -2,301.4  -2,215.4
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(DBO) C )

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

2023 2022 12 3 12 31 12 3 12 31 12 31 12 31
o 6 , 110.3 102.1 2,145.4 1,766.0 2,022. 1,655.4 122. 110.6
0 0 107.8 91.8 187. 183.8 -79. —92.0

(2013 6 30 )
0 0 386.3 331.1 750. 734.2 -363. ~403.1
(2021 6 30 )
o 3 3 , 0 0 589.8 501.5 1,135. 1,117.6 -545. -616.1
Qo 12 3 , 377.6 342.3 6,944.0 5,931.9 6,617. 5,335.3 326. 596.6
o , 0 0 345.5 205.3 680. 665.8 -334. -370.5
12
50 3
GCGC
2023
)

(CE0) 2025 4 30 3.44 3,421.6

(023 3 7 ) 202 3 6 3.32 1,835.9

2024 12 31 3.57 1,763.5

2027 1 31 3.33 1,390.3

2025 10 31 3.36 1,699.5

2027 2 28 3.33 1,152.2

11,263.1

2023 12 31 2024 1
12 2,452,967
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SAP SE
GCGC  G.13 2
2
150
1 SAP SE
SAP SE 8
6
SAP SE
SAP SE
SAP SE
SAP SE
12
2023 3 31
2026 5 31 9,600,000
2023 3 31
ST12022 ST12023 ST12023
LT12016 LT12020
2023
GCGC G.13

2023
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LTI 2020 - LTI 2016
2020 - 2019
) ) ()
- , 0 1,494.6 276.7 1,771.3 100.0 1,771.3
(2020 4 30 ) 0 1,144.7 423.8 1,568.5 100.0 1,568.5
(2023 3 31 ) 9,600.0 100.0 0 0 9,600.0
(2020 5 31 ) 0 522.9 250.9 773.8 100.0 773.8
1 2023 2022 12 31
2023 LTI
2023 1 1 2023 12 31
€)Y/
»/
(@)
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 15,893 -15,893 AJE 0 0 0
~ PSU 2 20
(2019 45 LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 722 722 E 0 0 0
) — RSU 2 20
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 6,403 -2,667 A 3,736 0 3,736
~ FSU 2 29
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 6,403 -6,403 A 0 0 0
~ NsU 2 29
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 6,403 0 6,403 0 6,403
(2020 4 30 ~ RSU 2 29
) LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 20,375 -20,375 AJE 0 0 0
— PSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 5,213 -5,213 E 0 0 0
~ RSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 20,335 -20,335 AE 0 0 0
~ PSU 2 20
(2019 3 31 LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 6,594 -6,594 E 0 0 0
) ~ RSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 46,880 -46,880 AE 0 0 0
~ PSU 2 20
(2019 11 15 LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 7,348 7,348 E 0 0 0
) ~ RSU 2 20
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 4,904 -2,043 A 2,861 0 2,861
~ FSU 2 29
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 4,904 -4,904 A 0 0 0
~ NsU 2 29
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 4,904 0 4,904 0 4,904
~ RSU 2 29
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 3,826 -3,826 AJE 0 0 0
— PSU 11 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 2,781 2,781 AE 0 0 0
(2020 4 30 —~ PSU 7 25
) LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 15,628 -15,628 AE 0 0 0
~ PSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 2,552 -2,552 E 0 0 0
~ RSU 11 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 1,853 -1,853 E 0 0 0
~ RSU 7 25
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 10,419 -10,419 E 0 0 0
— RSU 2 20
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LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 2,240 -933 A 1,307 0 1,307
- FSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 2,240 -2,240 A 0 0 0
- MSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 2,240 0 2,240 0 2,240
(2020 5 31 - RSU 2 29
) LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 13,165 -13,165 A/E 0 0 0
- PSU 2 20
LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 8,776 -8,776 E 0 0 0
- RSU 2 20
223,001 -201,550 21,451 0 21,451
2023
SAP SE
D&O
D&O AKEG 93 (2) SAP SE
SAP
AKEG 162

AktG 162
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2018 2019 2020 2022 D 2021 2023 1 2022
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 D
(@) (G ) ) )
(CEO) 7 -40 425 4,674 -20 7,158 53
(018 1 1 )
NA NA NA NA 3,943 NA
(2023 3 7 )
NA NA NA 1,412 65 2,017 43
(2021 1 1 2023 12 31
)
NA -56 307 3,210 10 3,653 14
(019 1 1 )
NA NA NA 2,283 2 3,076 35
(021 2 1 )
NA 162 307 1,731 -41 3,611 109
(2019 11 1 )
NA NA NA 2,280 -45 2,556 12
(2021 3 1 )
0 2 2 102 0 110 8
(2014 6 30 )
57 38 -65 1,617 -4 1,495 -8
(2020 4 30 )
10 747 -92 2,610 97 1,145 -56
(2020 4 30 )
-36 -46 127 3,248 11,634 258
(2023 3 31 )
_82 -53 0 342 0 378 10
(2016 12 31 )
61 230 -80 1,497 -20 523 -65
(2020 5 31 )
SAP ( IFRS) 12 -1 2 29,520 11 31,207 6
SAP SE ( ) 7 -4 5 17,786 16 19,018 7
SAP 15 1 -1 7,989 -2 8,722 9
( IFRS)
SAP SE ( ) 31 87 8 1,912 -29 4,766 149
SAP 21 -12 13 139 4 156 12
1 2022 2023 SAP IFRS
16 2023 5 11
165,000
275,000 220,000
50,000
35,000 95,000
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50,000 43,500

72,500

50,000
12 1

2023

2023 2022

)
)
) )
275.0 64.0 155.0  36.0 430.0  275.0 62.6 164.2  37.4  439.2

(Prof. Dr. h.c. mult.
Hasso Plattner)( )

220.0 67.7 105.0 32.3 325.0 220.0 67.7 105.0  32.3 325.0
(Lars Lamadé)( )

165.0 57.9 120.0 42.1 285.0 165.0 64.5 90.8 35.5 255.8
(Manuela Asche-Holstein)

165.0 51.6 155.0 48.4 320.0 165.0 51.6 155.0  48.4 320.0
(Aicha Evans)

68.8 70.3 29.2 29.8 97.9 165.0 70.2 70.0 29.8 235.0
(Prof. Dr. Gesche Joost)
(2023 5 11 )

165.0 57.9 120.0 42.1 285.0 165.0 57.9 120.0 42.1 285.0
(Margret Klein-Magar)

165.0 61.1 105.0 38.9 270.0 165.0 61.1 105.0  38.9 270.0
(Monika Kovachka-
Dimitrova)

165.0 57.9 120.0 42.1 285.0 165.0 57.9 120.0 42.1 285.0
(Peter Lengler)

165.0 55.9 130.0 44.1  295.0 110.0 60.8 70.8  39.2 180.8
(Jennifer Xin-Zhe Li)
(2022 5 18 )

NA NA NA NA NA 68.8 70.3 29.2  29.8 97.9

(Bernard Liautaud)
(2022 5 18 )

165.0 61.1 105.0 38.9 270.0 165.0 61.1 105.0  38.9 270.0
(@r. Qi Lu)

165.0 51.4 156.3 48.6  321.3 165.0 59.7 111.2  40.3 276.2
(Gerhard Oswald)

165.0 59.2 113.5 40.8 278.5 165.0 59.2 113.5  40.8 278.5
(Christine Regitz)

146.7 64.5 80.9 35.6 227.5 NA NA NA NA NA

(Or. h. c. Punit Renjen)
(2023 5 11 )
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165.0 42.9 220.0 57.1 385.0 165.0 49.3 170.0  50.7 335.0
(Or. Friederike Rotsch)
165.0 56.3 128.3 43.7 293.3 165.0 61.1 105.0  38.9 270.0
(Heike Steck)
165.0 100.0 0 0 165.0 165.0 100.0 0 0 165.0
(Helmut Stengele)
165.0 53.4 143.8 46.6  308.8 165.0 51.0 158.3  49.0 323.3
(Dr. Rouven Westphal)
165.0 55.0 135.0 45.0 300.0 165.0 53.3 144.6  46.7 309.6
(Or. Gunnar Wiedenfels)
165.0 57.9 120.0 42.1 285.0 165.0 57.9 120.0 42.1 285.0
(James Wright)
3,185.4 2,241.9 5,427.3 3,148.8 2,057.7 5,206.4
2023 1,959,000 2022 1,855,000
2023
2003 5
D&O
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2018 2019 2020 2022 D 2021 2023 1 2022
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 iy
) ) ) ) )
~10 4 1 439 27 430 -2
C )
0 0 6 325 64 325 0
(022 1 1 )
NA NA NA 256 200 285 11
(2021 7 8 )
2 0 6 320 52 320 0
(017 7 1 )
2 0 4 285 10 285 0
(2021 12 31 )
NA 50 1 270 42 270 0
(2019 5 15 )
NA NA NA 285 255 285 0
(2021 8 10 )
NA NA NA 181 NA 295 63
(2022 5 18 )
NA NA 1,288 270 41 270 0
(2020 12 21 )
NA 6 =3 276 24 321 16
(019 1 1 )
4 1 5 279 34 279 0
NA NA NA 0 NA 219 NA
(Or. h. c. Punit Renjen)
(2023 5 11 )
62 3 8 335 44 385 15
(2018 5 17 )
NA 50 9 270 32 270 0
(2019 5 15 )
NA NA NA 165 300 165 0
(2021 10 29 )
NA NA NA 323 133 309 -4
(2021 5 12 )
NA 50 0 310 52 300 -3
(2019 5 15 )
NA 50 0 285 40 285 0
(2019 5 15 )
0 0 0 235 26 98 -58
(Prof. Dr. Gesche Joost)
(2023 5 11 )
SAP ( IFRS) 12 -1 2 29,520 11 31,207 6
SAP SE ( ) 7 —4 5 17,786 16 19,018 7
SAP 15 1 -1 7,989 -2 8,722 9
( IFRS)
SAP SE ( ) =31 87 8 1,912 -29 4,766 149
SAP 21 12 13 139 4 156 12
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@
11 () 5 3 (2)
SAP SE
CEO
CEO
SAP SE 4 3
15
2023 SAP SE
(W)
7 7 21 18 28 25 89%
(Prof. Dr. h.c. Hasso
Plattner)
7 6 19 18 26 24 92%
(Manuela Asche-Holstein)
7 6 20 18 27 24 89%

(Aicha Evans)
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3 3 5 4 8 7 88%
(Prof. Dr. Gesche Joost)
(2023 5 11 )
7 7 31 30 38 37 97%h
(Margret Klein-Magar)
7 7 16 16 23 23 100%
(Monika Kovachka-Dimitrova)
7 6 16 14 23 20 87%
(Lars Lamadé)
7 7 23 23 30 30 100%
(Peter Lengler)
7 7 24 22 31 29 94%
Jennifer Xin-zhe Li
7 7 14 12 21 19 90%
(Or. Qi Lu)
7 7 26 26 33 33 100%
(Gerhard Oswald)
4 4 7 7 11 11 100
(Or. h. c. Punit Renjen)
2023 5 11
7 7 21 21 28 28 100%
(Christine Regitz)
7 7 23 21 30 28 93%
(Dr. Friederike Rotsch)
7 7 22 21 29 28 97%
(Heike Steck)
7 4 0 0 7 4 57%
(Helmut Stengele)l
7 7 25 25 32 32 100%
(Dr. Rouven Westphal)
7 6 24 18 31 24 7%
(Gunnar Wiedenfels)
7 7 28 28 35 35 100%
(James Wright)
1 2023
2023 3 8
CEQ
Al
Al
Al
2023 2 22 Al
2023 4 13
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Al Al
2023 7
Al
2023 7
Al Al
Al 2023 7 Al
Al
10 Al
2023
4
10
2023 10 26
2
2023
2023 4 12 2023 7 26
6 10
2024 1
2023
ESG

ESG
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ooooooo
IT
4
10
2030
Al
2023
2 ( )
2023 2 22 2022 2023
ST1)2022 ST12023
LTI 2020 2023
2022
ST12022
2023 LTI12020 53 (@ @
2027 3
2023 5 11 SAP SE
2023
2022 5 18
2022
2023 2022 SAP SE
2022
2022

2022 2022

3
Qualtrics International Inc. Qualtrics

2023 5 12
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Qualtrics
4
2023 4 13 1
5
2023 5 11
2
SAP Sapphire 2025
2025 50
7
Al 7 2
SEC
ST12023 LTI12020 2021 2022 2023
KPI Qualtrics 2
10
2023 10 26 3
SEC NYSE

2023 12 31
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11

GCGC

2022

D

2023 5

1 LeanlX
3 2022

2024 1 1
LTI 2022

2023 12 10
U.S. DOJ

2022

DSO
HR

IFRS
2023

SEC

139/404

2024

GCGC

IFRS

2027 1
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12 ST12023 LT12020 2021 2022 2023 KPI1
LeanlX
2023
7 6 14 6 4 4 10 4
1 0 1 0 0 0 3 0
5 5 71,2 6l 0 0 42 4
/ 1 1 6 0 4 4 3 0
1 2
2 2
@
@D 1103
©))
2022 5 18 BDO AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft
BDO 2023 BDO 2023
2002 2022 KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft
2023 KPMG BDO SAP
BDO
KPMG
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2023 2022
8 0 7 0
(1,358 ) © ) (1,188 ) © )
6 0 17 0
(1,019 ) © ) (2,886 ) © )
14 0 24 0
(2,377 ) © ) (4,075 ) () )
BDO BDO 2023
KPMG
2023 2022 2021
BDO AG BDO KPMG AG KPMG KPMG AG KPMG
( ) ( )
8 5 13 4 10 14 3 8 12
(1,358 ) (849 ) (2,207 ) (679 ) (1,698 ) (2,377 ) (509 ) (1,358 ) (2,037 )
0 1 1 3 7 10 2 5 7
(© ) (0 ) Q@7 ) (509 ) (1,188 ) (1,698 ) (340 ) (849 ) (1,188 )
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
© ) © ) © ) ) © ) © ) (@ ) © ) © )
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
© ) © ) © ) (@ ) © ) © ) (@ ) (¢ ) © )
8 6 14 7 17 24 6 13 19
(1,358 ) (1,019 ) (2,377 ) (1,188 (2,886 ) (4,075 ) (1,019 (2,207 ) (3,226 )
) )
SAP SE BDO
BDO AG
BDO Germany BDO
BDO
BDO
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32

KPMG AG
40 321
12 1 2
1 169.78
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.l SAP
12 31
2023 2022 2021

13,664 2,319,874 11,426 1,939,906 8,701 1,477,256
1,764 299,492 2,056 349,068 3,248 551,445
11,496 1,951,791 11,909 2,021,910 11,412 1,937,529
13,261 2,251,453 13,965 2,370,978 14,660 2,488,975
26,924 4,571,157 25,391 4,310,884 23,361 3,966,231
4,238 727,168 4,128 700,852 3,502 609,850

A.1)
.2 31,207 5,298,324 29,520 5,011,906 26,953 4,576,080
-3,884 -659,426 -3,499 ~594,060 -2,881 -489,136
-1,383 -234,806 -1,384 -234,976 -1,598 -271,308
-5,267 -894,231 ~4,883 -829,036 -4,479 ~760,445
-3,407 -578,440 -3,155 -535,656 -2,740 -465,197
8,674  -1,472,672 8,038 -1,364,602 7,219 -1,225,642
22,534 3,825,823 21,482 3,647,214 19,734 3,350,439
-6,324 -1,073,689 -6,080 -1,032,262 -5,270 -894,741
-8,828 -1,498,818 -7,946 -1,349,072 -6,856 -1,164,012
-1,364 -231,580 -1,289 -218,846 -1,187 -201,529
(8.6) 215 -36,503 -138 -23,430 -157 ~26,655

/
-16 -2,716 60 10,187 44 7,470
25,420 _ -4,315,808 23,420 _ -3,977,776 __ -20,645 __ -3,505,108
5,787 982,517 6,090 1,033,960 6,308 1,070,972
/
©.3) 9 1,528 -187 -31,749 19 3,226
857 145,501 811 137,692 3,123 530,223
-1,313 -222,921 -2,200 -373,516 -945 -160,442
) _456 77,420 ~1,389 235,824 2,178 369, 781
.2) 5,341 906,795 4,513 766,217 8,505 1,443,979
(.5) -1,741 -295,587 -1,446 -245,502 -1,682 -285,570
3,600 611,208 3,068 520,885 6,824 1,158,579
3,634 616,981 3,277 556,369 6,429 1,091,516
-33 -5,603 -210 -35,654 395 67,063
2,363 401,190 -1,359 -230,731 -1,447 -245,672
o 5,064 1,012,568 1,708 289,984 5,376 912,737
6,139 1,042,279 2,284 387,778 5,256 892,364
-175 -29,712 -576 -97,793 121 20,543
©.6) 3.11 528.00 2.80 475.00 5.45 925.00
1
( O .6 5.26 893.00 1.95 331.00 4.46 757.00
3.08 523.00 2.79 474.00 5.45 925.00
(C.6)
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(€.6)

5.20

883.00

1.94

329.00

4.46 757.00

o
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SAP
12 31
2023 2022 2021
al @ 5,964 1,012,568 1,708 289,984 5,376 912,737
) -45 -7,640 71 12,054 43 7,301
10 1,698 -15 -2,547 -9 -1,528
( -36 -6,112 56 9,508 34 5,773
-36 -6,112 56 9,508 34 5,773
1,631 -276,911 2,190 371,818 2,825 479,629
12 2,037 6 1,019 30 5,093
( ) -1,618 -274,704 2,195 372,667 2,855 484,722
21 3,565 -10 -1,698 -9 -1,528
( ) (E.2) -1,597 -271,139 2,186 371,139 2,846 483,194
-11 -1,868 53 8,998 -39 -6,621
0 0 0 0 4 679
(F.1) -11 -1,868 53 8,998 -35 -5,942
3 509 -14 -2,377 9 1,528
( ) (E.2) -8 -1,358 39 6,621 -26 -4,414
-1,605 -272,497 2,224 377,591 2,819 478,610
-1,641 -278,609 2,280 387,098 2,853 484,382
4,323 733,959 3,988 677,083 8,230 1,397,289
4,670 792,873 4,385 744,485 8,058 1,368,087
-3,476 -58,914 -396 -67,233 172 29,202
(€}
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Fsap
12 31
2023 2022
(E.3) 8,124 1,379,293 9,008 1,529,378
(0.6),(E.3) 3,344 567,744 853 144,822
(A.2) 6,322 1,073,349 6,236 1,058,748
(A.3),(6.1) 2,374 403,058 2,139 363,159
407 69,100 287 48,727
20,571 3,492,544 18,522 3,144,665
®.2) 29,088 4,938,561 33,106 5,620,737
®.3) 2,505 425,299 3,835 651,106
(0.4),(0.8) 4,276 725,979 4,934 837,695
(0.6),(E.3) 5,543 941,091 5,626 955,182
(A.2) 203 34,465 169 28,693
(A.3),(.1) 3,573 606,624 3,580 607,812
382 64,856 323 54,839
(.5) 2,193 372,328 2,065 350,596
47,764 8,109,372 53,638 9,106,660
68,335 11,601,916 72,159 12,251,155
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12 31
2023 2022

1,783 302,718 2,146 364,348

266 45,161 283 48,048

(E.3),(0.5) 1,735 294,568 4,808 816,302

(8.3), (8.5), (6.2) 5,648 958,917 4,818 818,000
A9, (8.4,

(B.5), (B.6) 235 39,898 9 15,280

A.1) 4,975 844,656 5,309 901,362

14,642 2,485,919 17,453 2,963,170

39 6,621 79 13,413

877 148,897 893 151,614

(E.3),(0.5) 7,941 1,348,223 9,547 1,620,890

(8.3), (B.5), (6.2) 698 118,506 705 119,695
A, (.9,

(B.5), (B.6) 433 73,515 359 60,951
(.5 265 44,992 241 40,917
A.1) 33 5,603 33 5,603

10,287 1,746,527 11,858 2,013,251

24,928 4,232,276 29,311 4,976,422

1,229 208,660 1,229 208,660

1,845 313,244 3,081 523,002

42,457 7,208,349 36,418 6,183,048

2,368 402,039 3,801 645,334

-4,741 -804,927 -4,341 -737,015

43,157 7,327,195 40,186 6,822,779

(E.2) 249 42,275 2,662 451,954
(E.2) 43,406 7,369,471 42,848 7,274,733
68,335 11,601,916 72,159 12,251,155
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SAP
12 31
(E-2) (E.2) (E-2) (E-2)
2021/1/1 1,229 545 32,026 -1,012 -3,072 29,716 211 29,927
al (¢)) 5,256 5,256 121 5,376
34 2,768 2,802 51 2,853
5,290 2,768 8,058 172 8,230
1,373 1,373 311 1,684
-2,182 -2,182 -88 -2,271
1,933 1,933 2,050 3,983
_44 -44 14 -30
2021/12/31 1,229 1,918 37,022 1,757 -3,072 38,853 2,670 41,523
.l (€Y 2,284 2,284 -576 1,708
56 2,044 2,100 180 2,280
2,340 2,044 4,385 -396 3,988
1,163 1,163 325 1,488
-2,865 -2,865 -29 -2,895
-1,500 -1,500 -1,500
230 230 230
-92 -92 90 -3
13 13 2 15
2022/12/31 1,229 3,081 36,418 3,801 -4,341 40,186 2,662 42,848
aul (€)) 6,139 6,139 -175 5,964
-36 -1,433 -1,469 -172 -1,641
6,103 -1,433 4,670 -347 4,323
1,032 1,032 121 1,153
-2,395 -2,395 -21 -2,417
-968 -968 -968
568 568 568
-2,268 2,197 -71 -2,164 -2,235
135 135 -1 134
2023/12/31 1,229 1,845 42 457 2,368 -4,741 43,157 249 43,406
(€))
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SAP C )
12 31
(E.2) (E.2) (E.2) (E.2)

2021/1/1 208,660 92,530 5,437,374  -171,817 -521,564 5,045,182 35,824 5,081,006
al

o 892,364 892,364 20,543 912,737

5,773 469,951 475,724 8,659 484,382

898,136 469,951 1,368,087 29,202 1,397,289

233,108 233,108 52,802 285,910

-370,460 -370,460  -14,941 -385,570

328,185 328,185 348,049 676,234

-7,470 -7,470 2,377 -5,093

2021/12/31 208,660 325,638 6,285,595 298,303  -521,564 6,596,462 453,313 7,049,775

al @ 387,778 387,778  -97,793 289,984

9,508 347,030 356,538 30,560 387,098

397,285 347,030 744,485  -67,233 677,083

197,454 197,454 55,179 252,633

-486,420 -486,420 -4,924 -491,513

-254,670 -254,670 -254,670

39,049 39,049 39,049

-15,620 -15,620 15,280 -509

2,207 2,207 340 2,547

2022/12/31 208,660 523,092 6,183,048 645,334  -737,015 6,822,779 451,954 7,274,733

al @ 1,042,279 1,042,279  -29,712 1,012,568

-6,112  -243,295 -249,407  -29,202 -278,609

1,036,167  -243,295 792,873  -58,914 733,959

175,213 175,213 20,543 195,756

-406,623 -406,623 -3,565 -410,358

-164,347 -164,347 -164,347

96,435 96,435 96,435

-385,061 373,007 -12,054 -367,404 -379,458

22,920 22,920 -170 22,751

2023/12/31 208,660 313,244 7,208,349 402,039  -804,927 7,327,195 42,275 7,369,471
@
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SAP
12 31
2023 2022 2021
al o 5,964 1,012,568 1,708 289,984 5,376 912,737
al
2,363 401,190 1,359 230,731 1,447 245,672
0.2)-(D.4) 1,373 233,108 1,569 266,385 1,537 260,952
(B.3) 2,220 376,912 1,431 242,955 1,335 226,656
al c.5) 1,741 295,587 1,446 245,502 1,682 285,570
al «.49 456 77,420 1,389 235,824 -2,178 -369,781
-10 -1,698 77 13,073 -9 -1,528
23 3,905 -175 -29,712 15 2,547
-393 -66,724 196 33,277 497 84,381
-700 -118,846 -1,213 -205,943 -645 -109,508
633 107,471 154 26,146 429 72,836
443 75,213 643 109,169 -59 -10,017
6.3 -1,091 -185,230 -1,180 -200,340 -1,056 -179,288
-393 -66,724 -244 -41,426 -198 -33,616
469 79,627 156 26,486 56 9,508
( )@ -2,161 -366,895 -1,642 -278,779 -2,047 -347,540
6,210 1,054,334 5,675 963,502 6,182 1,049,580
- 122 20,713 -29 -4,924 41 6,961
(€)) 6,332 1,075,047 5,647 958,748 6,223 1,056,541
-1,168 -198,303 -679 -115,281 -1,032 -175,213
0 0 289 49,066 =72 -12,224
-91 -15,450 0 0 0 0
-785 -133,277 -877 -148,897 -701 -119,016
99 16,808 95 16,129 89 15,110
-3,566 -605,435 -2,320 -393,890 -4,368 -741,599
907 153,990 4,190 711,378 3,229 548,220
-4,603 -781,497 699 118,676 -2,856 -484,892
- 5,510 935,488 -32 -5,433 -208 -35,314
(€)) 906 153,821 667 113,243 -3,063 -520,036
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2023 2022 2021
(E.2) -2,395 -406,623 -2,865 -486,420 -2,182 -370,460
-13 -2,207 -12 -2,037 -54 -9,168
(E.2) -949 -161,121 -1,500 -254,670 0 0
13 2,207 158 26,825 1,680 285,230
-4,081 -692,872 -1,445 -245,332 -1,952 -331,411
-332 -56,367 -410 -69,610 -375 -63,668
(E.2) 0 0 0 0 -2 -340
-7,758 -1,317,153 -6,074 -1,031,244 -2,885 -489,815
24 4,075 -263 -44,,652 2,828 480,138
@ -7.734 -1,313,079 -6,337 -1,075,896 -3,997 -678,611
-388 -65,875 134 22,751 -214 -36,333
-883 -149,916 109 18,506 -4 -679
(E.3) 9,008 1,529,378 8,898 1,510,702 5,314 902,211
I
(E.3) 8,124 1,379,293 9,008 1,529,378 5,311 901,702
@
) 2023 ( ) 2,973
815
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SAP SE
(IN.D)
SAP SE HRB 719915  SAP SE
SAP 2023
( IFRS) (HGB) 315e(1)
2023 12 31 EU IFRS
2023 12 31 EU 2023 2022 2021 12 31
1ASB
EU IFRS
2024 2 21
sl T a T
( )
@ IFRS
IFRS
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(IN.1)
(A-1)
(A.-2)
(A-3)
A9
(B-3)
B-9
(8-5)
(8-6)
€.1)
(€.5)
®-1)
®-2)
®-3)
®-9
0-5)
0-6)
®-9
(E.-2)
(E-3)
(F.-1)
(F.-2)
6-3)
(6.5)
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(9]
1
2023 2022 2023 2022 2021
AUD 1.6263 1.5603 1.6285 1.5174 1.5747
CAD 1.4642 1.4440 1.4596 1.3703 1.4835
CHF 0.9260 0.9847 0.9717 1.0052 1.0814
GBP 0.8691 0.8869 0.8699 0.8526 0.8600
JPY 156.33 140.66 151.94 138.01 129.86
UsD 1.1050 1.0666 1.0816 1.0539 1.1835
A.3
2023 1 1
2023
95 (2022 :88 2021
275 (2022 :310
(R&D) 370 (2022 :398 -388 )
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A.3

#-1)
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(A-4)
(8-3)
(€.5)
®-1
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( ) IFRS 7 ( ) IFRS 16 (

156/404



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

A.1)

(Saas

SaaS

PaaS

(1aas)
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EMEA
APJ
2023 2022 2021
4,921 4,469 4,324
EMEA 9,083 8,440 8,135
EMEA 14,004 12,909 12,458
10,204 9,799 8,235
2,558 2,427 2,056
12,762 12,227 10,292
1,243 1,218 1,286
APJ 3,199 3,166 2,917
APJ 4,441 4,384 4,204
M SAP 31,207 29,520 26,953
2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021
EMEA 5,241 4,137 3,196 12,028 11,081 10,820
6,642 5,810 4,354 10,959 10,456 8,808
APJ 1,781 1,478 1,151 3,037 3,855 3,732
MSAP 13,664 11,426 8,701 26,924 25,391 23,361
€1
2023 12 31 580 2022 12 31 : 469
( )
2023 12 31 443 2022 12 31 :324
1
12
(

162/404



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

7,800 (2022 12 31 :8,100 )

2023 12 31
2023
T2023 1 1 53
11.4
-11.0
@ -0.7
T2023 12 31 5.0
@
45 2022 12 31 :41
@A.2)
@

(oc)

F-D
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2023 2022
5,892 5 5,897 5,782 0 5,782
429 198 627 454 169 623
4 6,321 203 6,524 6,236 169 6,405

2023 12 31 307
2022 12 31 : 343

(F-D

(A.3)
®

164/404



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

oOoOooodn
18 7
2023 12 31
2023 121 2024 80
IFRS 15
5 8
2023 2022
1,046 2,918 3,964 871 2,812 3,684
199 236 436 164 206 370
1,246 3,154 4,400 1,036 3,019 4,054
2,374 3,573 5,947 2,139 3,580 5,719
T

52 88 74 48 84 71

2023 2022

1,000 725

327 243
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@A.9

IFRS 15

SAP
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(6.5
(®-D
EMEA APJ
2023 12 31 2022 12 31 2021 12 31
EMEA APJ EMEA APJ EMEA APJ

@ 4,389 4,266 4,426 13,080 4,178 4,025 4,538 12,740 4,551 4,191 4,406 13,148
8,178 5,013 5,481 18,672 8,129 5,106 5,769 19,005 8,095 5,053 5,864 19,012
@ 18,086 5,884 12,474 36,444 17,764 5,752 11,764 35,280 16,487 5,641 11,248 33,377

12,086 10,300 5,342 27,728 11,671 10,633 5,463 27,766 10,721 10,186 5,183 26,090

3,619 1,777 1,307 6,704 3,387 1,804 1,240 6,431 3,278 1,866 1,164 6,308
2,834 1,274 867 4,975 2,795 1,382 912 5,089 2,602 1,299 821 4,722
SAP
@ 3
49,191 28,515 29,897 107,602 47,924 28,702 29,686 106,312 45,734 28,236 28,687 102,658
41 138 0 558 188 189 8 385 317 44 44 465
SAP

48,222 28,239 29,582 106,043 47,359 28,785 29,438 105,582 44,622 27,822 28,009 100,453
(@) (IN.1)

(8.2)

2023 2022 2021
12,128 11,369 10,120
1,919 1,779 1,516
2,220 1,431 1,334
438 447 390
222 85 25

64 44 101
16,992 15,157 13,487

167/404



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

2020 (LTI 2020)

LTI 2020

OWN SAP

NASDAQ-100

NASDAQ-100

SAP

PSU

NASDAQ-100
TRS TSR

TSR

SAP

TSR

LTI 2020
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2023 2022 2021
94 53 51
38 48 49
375 250 233
703 440 402
834 503 513
175 137 87
2,220 1,431 1,334
806 356 1,136
1,414 1,075 199
Qualtrics 0.1)
a)
Move SAP Move
2022 Move Move
(B.3) b)
- RSU
- 6 3
- KP1 PSU
-1
- 12 3
PSU 2 KPI
( IFRS ) IFRS
PSU 0 200 KP1 2023 112.4% 2022
84.3 )
(E-2)
2023
Move (2022-20232 )
111.23
()
114.25
1.79
1.7
2023 12 31 () 1.1
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)
2022
Move (2022 )
93.80
(€}
97.61
2.43
1.6
2022 12 31 () 1.2
)
Move (2022-2023 )
2021 12 31 NA
@ 15,371
KP1 -139
-3,258
-470
2022 12 31 11,504
@ 13,760
KPI 115
-7,675
-403
-471
2023 12 31 16,830
&) Move
2023 130.59 2022 92
Own SAP Own
Own SAP
40%
20 50 2022 1 3
40 80 2022
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RN
2023 2022 2021
Own 6.5 9.2 5.7
Own SAP
2023 2022 2021
Own 239 307 200
Move (2022-2023 ) 1,175 768 NA
1,414 1,075 200
b)
Grow SAP Move SAP Move
Move 2022
Move SAP B.3 a
2022
2020 2023 Grow SAP
Move SAP SAP
- RSU
- 3
- 6 3
- KP1 PSU
- 3
- 12 3
PSU 2 KPI
( IFRS ) IFRS
PSuU 0 200 KPI 2023 112.4% 2022
84.3 2021 :130.9 )

PSU
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SAP 2020 LTI 2020
LTI 2020
SAP
LTI 2020 SAP

LTI 2020

LTI 2020 4

4 20 SAP
MSU 3 RSU 3
RSU FSU  MSU
FSU SAP
3 IFRS KP1
3 KP1 FSU
KPI

3

MSU 3
100 TSR SAP TSR SAP TSR
SAP TSR
100%

200%

—

[3] i
3§35 ¢

2Esi=—dri Al ] 75—t

(T4
SAP SAP
3 SAP
4 20 SAP
200%
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3
RSU PSU
2016 LTI 2016
LTI 2016 ( IFRS )
SAP LTI
4 2016-2019
SAP 4 20 SAP XETRA
300 PSU
) LTI
2019 2023
2023
LTI 2020 Move
(2020-2023 (2020-2023
) )
2023 12 31 154.24 137.98
@
139.48 139.48
) 15 23 NA
(D) NA 1.52
2023 12 31 () 1.9 0.7
@
2022
LTI 2020 Move
(2020-2022 (2019-2022
) )
2022 12 31 94.83 94.78
@
96.39 96.39
) 24 31 NA
) NA 2.03
2022 12 31 () 2.3 0.8
@
LTI 2020 2023 12 31  NASDAQ-100 20,158.42 2022
12,994 .57 NASDAQ-100 34 36 2022 36 41 SAP  NASDAQ-100
24 27 2022 26 32 SAP  NASDAQ-100 TSR
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LT12020 Move
2020-2023 2019-2023
2021 12 31 340 18,783
(O] 206 2,997
KPI NA -36
0 -8,869
0 -1,016
2022 12 31 546 11,859
(O] 215 1,900
KPI -64 -57
0 -7,234
-91 -266
NA 470
2023 12 31 605 6,672
2022 12 31 23 752
2023 12 31 59 644
2022 12 31 3 0
2023 12 31 15 0
2022 NA 97.35
2023 NA 117.86
2021 9 1,139
2022 8 346
2023 36 764
(O] Move
2023 2022
555 152 707 524 279 803
T 5,648 698 6,346 4,818 705 5,523
T
10 22 11 11 40 15
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(B-4)
&
&
C )
2023 2022 2021
381 425 328
57 22 62
438 447 390
DBO
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
1,060 949 686 577 256 211 2,002 1,737
1,063 953 672 579 98 91 1,833 1,623
() 0 0 64 57 158 120 222 177
0 -17 -16 -63 0 -79 -16
0 0 80 73 221 120 301 193
T
0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0
I
0 0 19 20 51 33 69 54
@
DBO 1,006 2022 899
DBO 535 2022 448
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2022 2021 2023 2022 2022 2021
4.2 1.2 2.0 2.6 5.5 3.1
2022 2021 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021
50
1,015 908 1,134 649 505 626 247 1,616 1,964
50
1,108 993 1,260 727 562 714 266 1,774 2,196
2023
714 1,120 1,012
190 0 0
233 0 0
59 1,120 1,012
2024
2023 12 31 2022 12 31 10
2023 12 31 1 2,404
76 (2022 76 ) 5
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@
2023 2022
4,205 546 4,751 3,632 426 4,058
3 5,648 698 6,346 4,818 705 5,523
T
% 74 78 75 75 60 73
(8.6)
@
2023 2022 2021
=222 -85 -25
8 -52 -132
aul -215 -138 -157
2023 SAP

2022
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2023 2022 2021
7 20 -127
-8 -9 -6
-31 -70 -13
-42 -16 -12
-121 -58 3
-19 -4 -2
-215 -138 -157
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€.

2023 5 CODM
(ATS)
2023 1 SAP Signavio
2023 2 Qualtrics Qualtrics
(0-1)
Emarsys
Taulia
ESG
2023
@
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CODM

IFRS IFRS

IFRS

€2

®-2)
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2023 2022 2021
( )
() @
12,538 12,903 10,428 9,754 7,941
1,764 1,801 2,056 1,972 3,248
11,495 11,781 11,908 11,363 11,411
13,259 13,582 13,964 13,335 14,659
25,797 26,485 24,392 23,089 22,600
4,260 4,369 4,104 3,872 3,570
30,057 30,853 28,496 26,961 26,170
-3,693 -3,779 -3,355 -3,073 -2,696
-1,277 -1,299 -1,331 -1,248 -1,431
-4,971 -5,078 -4,686 -4,322 -4,127
-2,981 -3,044 -2,856 -2,708 -2,453
-7,951 -8,122 -7,542 -7,030 -6,580
22,015 22,731 20,954 19,931 19,590
-12,294 -12,602 -12,130 -11,459 -10,282
9,811 10,129 8,824 8,472 9,308
1 2023 2022 2022 2021
2022 639 491
23 22%
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EMEA APJ

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
13,645 13,736 12,610 12,091 12,493 11,606 4,320 4,624 4,280 30,057 30,853 28,496
13,645 13,736 12,610 12,091 12,493 11,606 4,320 4,624 4,280 30,057 30,853 28,496

EMEA APJ

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
12,610 12,382 12,267 11,606 10,386 9,826 4,280 4,193 4,077 28,496 26,961 26,170
12,610 12,382 12,267 11,606 10,386 9,826 4,280 4,193 4,077 28,496 26,961 26,170

SAP

A-D
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(€.2)
2023 2022 2021
( ) o €Y
30,057 30,853 28,496 26,961 26,170
1,150 1,180 1,024 938 783
0 -826 0 1,620 0
al 31,207 31,207 29,520 29,520 26,953
9,811 10,129 8,824 8,472 9,308
1,150 1,180 1,024 938 783
-2,239 -2,265 -1,858 -1,741 -1,887
0 -322 0 320 0
-345 -345 -329 -329 -405
-2,220 -2,220 -1,431 -1,431 -1,334
al -215 -215 -138 -138 -157
-155 -155 0 0 0
al 5,787 5,787 6,090 6,090 6,308
al 9 9 -187 -187 19
al -456 -456 -1,389 -1,389 2,178
al 5,341 5,341 4,513 4,513 8,505
1 2023 2022 2022 2021
(€.3) /  C )
2023 2022 2021
C ) 46 -144 51
571 515 316
56 218 111
-514 -766 -382
-30 -88 -68
/ C ) -36 -44 -32
al / C ) 9 -187 19
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C.9 )
2023 2022 2021
857 811 3,123
376 100 29
380 608 3,067
-1,313 -2,200 -945
-525 -1,802 -654
-400 -203 -156
-239 -69 -50
aul -456 -1,389 2,178
2023 2022 934
1,049
-197
276 (E.3)
Qualtrics -170
(F.D
(C.5)
@

IFRS

SAP
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2023 2022 2021

596 539 603
1,356 1,165 1,366
1,952 1,704 1,969

74 86 108
-285 -344 ~395
-211 -258 -287
1,741 1,446 1,682
2023 2022 2021
1,935 1,717 1,702

17 -13 267
1,952 1,704 1,969
222 -216 -311

11 42 24
-211 -258 -287
1,741 1,446 1,682
2023 2022 2021
1,201 1,814 2,057
4,140 2,699 6,448
5,341 4,513 8,505
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2021 :5.5%)

26.5% (2022 :26.4% 2021 : 26.4%)

15.0% (2022
10.7% (2022 : 10.6%

:15.0% 2021 : 15.0%)
2021 :10.6%)
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5.5% (2022 :5.5%

2023 2022 2021

a 5,341 4,513 8,505
26.5% 2022 26.4% 2021

26.4% 1,413 1,193 2,245

-210 -134 -143

241 138 141

=77 297 -630

297 176 199

-89 -84 -73

-8 4 18

138 -124 -36

31 -20 -39

aul 1,741 1,446 1,682

% 32.6 32.0 19.8
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2023 2022
1,074 1,069
37 27
379 503
7 23
81 81
211 203
267 226
692 753
818 994
147 180
44 110
370 134
4,197 4,303
-2,004 -2,208
E 3 2,193 2,095
581 835
89 108
341 437
185 170
761 269
33 35
245 269
34 326
2,269 2,449
-2,004 -2,208
E 265 241
Qualtrics
236 2022 169
492 2022 288 292 2022 140

2022
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2023 2022 2021
151 315 430
28 14 26
216 344 309
395 378 765
325 378 602
59 9 28
5 20 20
64 29 48
181 2022 276 2021 183 us
221.5 2022 1 289.1
1,815
2022 1,607 1,003 2022
881
2021 10 135
2021 12 OECD 750 15%
2022 12 EU EU
2023 EU
2023 12 31 SAP
SAP
SAP SAP
(C.6) 1
2023 2022 2021
3,634 3,277 6,429
1 6,139 2,284 5,256
2 1,229 1,229 1,229
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-61 -58 -49

1,167 1,170 1,180

12 5 0

)2 1,180 1,175 1,180
SAP

3.11 2.80 5.45

SAP 5.26 1.95 4.46
SAP

3.08 2.79 5.45

SAP 5.20 1.94 4.46
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(0.1)
=
2023
LeanIX
2023 9 7 SAP SAP EAM LeanIX GmbH
LeanlX 100 2023 11 7
SAP Al
1,231
LeanlX
LeanlIX
476
102
578
214
214
364
867
1,231
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LeanlX

LeanlIX

SAP SAP

LeanlIX SAP

LeanIX SAP Signavio SAP
LeanlIX LeanlIX
D.2

2023 2023 LeanlX

LeanlX :SAP

2023

- 31,207 10
- 5,964 -8

LeanlX 2023 1 1 2023

2023

Qualtrics

1 26 SAP Qualtrics International Inc. Qualtrics 423

2023 3 13 Silver Lake
Qualtrics 2023 6 28
1 18.15 SAP 77 77
71
F.1 Qualtrics
( )
SAP Qualtrics go-to-market

SAP IFRS 5

(IFRS 5 )

Qualtrics Qualtrics
Qualtrics

3,562 (7,003 )

SAP
1,294

SAP Qualtrics

Qualtrics

5,800
2,337
SAP 799
7,068

4,007
22

SAP 713

Qualtrics

Qualtrics SAP

191/404
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2023 2022
621 1,129
745 1,351
-88 -265
-196 -499
( ) -1,155 -2,771
3,562 0
3,152 -1,420
« ) 3,162 -1,423
(€Y} -799 64
« ) 2,363 -1,359
2,505 -993
1 ( ) @ 2.15 -0.85
1 ( )@ 2.12 -0.85
1) 2023 799
(2 2023 2022 1,167 1,180 1,170
11,175 ) (
Qualtrics 403 (2022 1,182 )
2023 2022
122 -29
5,510 -32
24 -263
2022
2022 Taulia Inc. Taulia INNAAS
srl
Taulia
2022 1 27 SAP Taulia
6.9 SAP
2022 3 9
705
Taulia
Taulia
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ooooodo
157
87
244
88
88
156
549
705
2022 12 31 Taulia (SCF)
SCF
IFRS 10 SCF
SCF
2023 1 Taulia 28
Taulia
SAP SAP
SAP CFO SAP
Taulia SAP
Taulia
Taulia Taulia
2022 2022 Taulia
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Taulia :SAP
2022 o
al 30,871 59
al 1,708 -38
@
2022 1 1 2022
2022
2022 8 17 SAP Francisco Partners FP FP SAP America, Inc. FP SAP SAP Litmos
2022 12 1
175 /
2021
2021 Signavio GmbH Signavio Clarabridge,
Inc. Clarabridge
Signavio
2021 1 SAP
Signavio
949 2021 3 5
Signavio
Signavio
Signavio
255
73
328
108
108
220
729
949
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Signavio
SAP SAP
Signavio SAP Signavio SAP
SAP S/4HANA  RISE with SAP
Signavio
Signavio Signavio
Clarabridge
2021 10 1 Qualtrics
Clarabridge Clarabridge
Agreement and Plan of
Reorganization and Merger Qualtrics A 1,125
Qualtrics 37.33
1,298 1,116
910 115 91
Qualtrics (1 Clarabridge (2 Clarabridge
Qualtrics Qualtrics Qualtrics Clarabridge
Clarabridge
Clarabridge
218
84
302
107
107
195
921
1,116
Clarabridge Qualtrics SAP
2021 2021 Signavio Clarabridge
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2021 SAP Signavio Clarabridge
2021 o 2021
a 27,842 70
al 5,376 -89
@
2021 1 1 2021
2021
2021 4 13 SAP Dediq GmbH Dediq
2021 9
SAP Dediq SAP Fioneer SAP
SAP  SAP Fioneer
1P / 77
(0.2)
@
4
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2022 1 1 31,190
1,526
560
-95
2022 12 31 33,181
-849
867
-4,008
2023 12 31 29,191
2022 1 1 102
2
2022 12 31 104
-1
2023 12 31 103
2022 12 31 33,077
2023 12 31 29,088
2023 .1
2023
Qualtrics(1) Emarsys Taulia(®
( )
2022 12 31 27,221 4,083 395 294 1,052 32 33,077
2023 12 31 27,392 0 395 296 976 29 29,088
O Qualtrics SAP Qualtrics International In
@ Taulia 2023 28
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2023 Signavio C.1 Signavio 410
2022
LeanIX 867
LeanlIX D.1
10 1
12
LeanlIX
SAP
WACC)
Emarsys Taulia Business
Network
@
2023 2022(3) 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
12.8 11.4 13.3 13.9 22.3 24.8 12.7 14.0 31.5 34.6
11.9 11.1 12.3 11.7 11.0 11.3 12.5 11.9 11.7 10.9
3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
5 5 12 12 13 13 10 10 12 12
) 2022 Signavio
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2023 10 1
2023 C.1
3
34.5 2022 27.8
Emarsys
3
33.2 2022 29.4
Emarsys
618 2022 513
Emarsys
2023 2022
-2.5 -2.0
-21 -16
Taulia
26.5 2022 24.9
Taulia
567 2022 366
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Taulia

2023 2022

-1.6 -1.1

-15 -11

5.8 3.4

25.2 2022 24.2
2,719 2022 2,821

2023 2022
-3.0 -2.8
-19 -19

26.9 2022 26.2

246 2022 112
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2023 2022
-2.1 -1.4
-19 -13
8.3 3.9
(0.3)
@
1AS
38 5
IFRS
@
2 20
IFRS
@
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2022 1 1 833 2,996 6,734 10,563
8 170 337 515

0 65 98 163

244 0 65 309

-115 -703 -92 -910

87 -1 -85 1

2022 12 31 1,057 2,527 7,057 10,641
-1 -65 -185 -251

0 121 355 476

22 3 59 84

-92 -767 -2,307 -3,166

87 0 -87 0

2023 12 31 1,073 1,819 4,892 7,784
2022 1 1 547 2,398 3,653 6,598
7 137 171 315

99 209 458 766

-109 -703 -61 -873

2022 12 31 544 2,041 4,221 6,806
-1 -57 -118 -176

146 77 305 528

-95 -477 -1,307 -1,879

2023 12 31 594 1,584 3,101 5,279
2022 12 31 513 486 2,836 3,835
2023 12 31 479 235 1,791 2,505
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2023 2022
Concur - 588 704 7-11
LeanlX - 345 0 13
Callidus - 147 181 9
Signavio - 178 183 13
1,258 1,068
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®-49)
@
25 - 50
2-6
4-20
4-5
2022 12 31 1,585 1,758 1,406 43 142 4,934
2023 12 31 1,430 1,320 1,309 55 162 4,276
2022 46 399 567 30 87 1,129
2023 58 102 470 82 98 810
17
(0.5)
&
IFRS 16
2023 2022
12 31 12 31
- 1,320 1,758
_ 55 43
1,375 1,801
I 4,276 4,934
I ) 32 37
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294 349
T 1,735 4,808
I %) 17 7
1,327 1,791
T 7,941 9,547
3 ) 17 19

SAP 2023 12 31 37 2022 49
2023 2022
325 397

(0.4) (F.1)

(-3

205/404



EDINETOOOO

DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

oOoOooodn
(0.-6)
@
AC
Fv Cl FVTPL
FVTPL Fv CI
FVTPL
FvOCI
2023 2022
0 4,967 4,967 0 5,138 5,138
0 135 135 0 151 151
0 5,102 5,102 0 5,289 5,289
3,344 5,543 8,887 853 5,626 6,479
0 92 57 0 94 82
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OooooOodd
SAP 20
20
2023 2022
135 151
-16 -4
SAP Fioneer GmbH
G.9
2023 2022
269 303
SAP
2023 12 31 977 2022 957
708 2022 654
2023 12 31
2024 269
269
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©.7
2023 2022
7,125 5,897
EMEA 5,902 5,897
EMEA 13,027 11,794
25,236 32,385
526 510
25,762 32,894
361 333
APJ 809 877
APJ 1,170 1,210
SAP 39,959 45,899
D.1
B.1 A.1
(0.8)
2023 2022
164 144
10,377 7,491
10,541 7,635
2023 12 31
2024 2,286
2025 2028 7,752
503

10,541
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2023
2026

329
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(E.D)
A2 ( ) S&P A+
( )
2023 12 31 2022 12 31 %
% %

: 43,406 64 42,848 59 1
£ 14,642 21 17,453 24 -16
E 10,287 15 11,858 16 -13

: 24,928 36 29,311 41 -15

7,755 11 11,764 16 -34
1,621 2 2,140 3 -25
E 68,335 100 72,159 100 -5
1,600 1,450
930 5
IFRS 5 Qualtrics
(E.2)
@
SAP
SAP NCI
1
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2021 1 1 1,228.5 -48.9
2021 12 31 1,228.5 —48.9
0 -15.7
0 3.3
2022 12 31 1,288.5 -61.4
0 -7.6
0 7.7
2023 12 31 1,228.5 -61.3
2023 8 14
1,250 2024 2 19
2023 12 31 949 2023 Move SAP Plan
7.7
- 2025 5 19 250
- 2025 5 19 250
I
2023 12 31 100
100 2022 100
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oooooog
/
2021 1 1 -1,016 4 -1,012
2,846 -26 2,819
2021 12 31 1,830 -22 1,808
2,186 39 2,224
2022 12 31 4,015 16 4,031
-1,597 -8 -1,605
2023 12 31 2,418 9 2,426
2018 5 17 2023 5 11
SAP SE 2028 5 10
120
SAP SE SAP
SE SAP SE 10%
2023 5 2025 12 31 50
1 2023 8 14 2023 12 31 949
)
40
2023 2022 2,395 2.05 2022 2021
2,865 2.45 50 0.50 2021
2020 2,182 1.85
Handelsgesetzbuch
2023 12 31
2.20 2,568
2023 6 Qualtrics Qualtrics Omnibus
Qualtrics 69%(2022 :71%) 2023 141 (2022
366 ) Qualtrics Qualtrics (.1
2023 33 (2022 210 ) SAP
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(E-3)
@
( 3
)
(AC) (FvoCI)
(FVTPL) FVTPL
(AO)
Fvocl

FVTPL

AC

CP
3
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FVTPL AC
AC
1
2023 2022

T 8,124 9,008 -883
3,151 686 2,464

11,275 9,694 1,581

-1,143 -3,986 2,843

6,612 7,778 1,166

—7,755 -11,764 4,009

3,521 —2,070 5,590
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2023 2022
3,396 0 3,396 3,176 0 3,176
2,130 0 2,130 2,932 0 2,932
2,478 0 2,478 2,855 0 2,855
150 0 150 47 0 47
-3 0 -3 -3 0 -3
k3 8,124 0 8,124 9,008 0 9,008
2023 2022
3,028 0 3,028 657 0 657
129 0 129 32 0 32
0 244 244 0 203 203
108 192 300 104 129 233
-7 0 -7 -3 0 -3
3,259 436 3,695 790 332 1,122
+ 3,344 5,543 8,887 853 5,626 6,479
+ 97 8 42 93 6 17
(%)
3 3
2023
Qualtrics
(F-1)
2023 2022
850 6,521 849 5,932 6,780 1,600 7,381 1,600 6,556 8,155
292 90 294 95 388 0 397 0 405 405
0 0 0 0 0 930 0 928 0 928
0 0 0 0 0 1,456 0 1,456 0 1,456
1,143 6,612 1,143 6,026 7,169 3,986 7,778 3,983 6,960 10,943
T @ 1,735 7,941 9,676 4,808 9,547 14,354
3 66 76 74 83 73 76
()
) 2023 2023
186 (2022 286 ) 2022

2023 3.49 2022 1.23 2021 0.83
(F.-1) (F-2)
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2023 2022
1.125%
8-2014 2023 99.478% 1.24% 1,000 0 1,000
1.750%
9-2014 2027 99.284% 1.87% 1,000 914 869
1.000%
1922015 2025 99.264% 1.13% 600 599 598
1.000%
15-2018 2026 99.576% 1.06% 500 499 499
1.375%
16-2018 2030 98.687% 1.50% 500 428 401
0.750%
19-2018 2024 99.227% 0.89% 850 849 848
1.250%
20-2018 2028 98.871% 1.38% 1,000 891 843
1.625%
21-2018 2031 98.382% 1.78% 1,250 1,045 976
0.000%
292020 2023 99.794% 0.07% 600 0 600
0.125%
23-2020 2026 99.200% 0.26% 600 598 597
0.375%
242020 2029 98.787% 0.51% 800 636 643
6,509 7,874
us 4.69%
2018 2025 100.000% 4.74% 300 271 281
6,780 8,155
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2023 2022

( )

8-2012 2024 3.33% ( 3.37% 323 294 306
9-2012 2027 3.53% ( 3.57% 100 95 99

388 405

2023 12 31 (2022 12 31
6 928 2022 12 31
1.96% )
2021 3 950 500 2023 9 30
2023
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2023 2023
11 12 31
3,986 -3,986 0 0 0 1,142 1,143
7,778 0 0 -24 0 -1,142 6,612
11,764 -3,986 0 -24 0 0 7,755
-773 0 0 2 221 0 -550
-47 0 0 0 0 12 -35
10,943 -3,986 0 -22 221 12 7,169
203 -83 0 0 0 =27 94
753 0 0 -1 -215 0 537
(€)) 2,140 -332 0 55 0 -241 1,621
14,039 -4,400 0 32 7 -256 9,421
)
2022 2022
11 12 31
3,755 -1,406 0 36 0 1,600 3,986
9,338 0 0 40 0 -1,600 7,778
13,094 -1,406 0 76 0 0 11,764
-34 0 0 2 -741 0 -773
-55 0 0 0 0 8 -47
13,005 -1,406 0 77 -741 8 10,943
60 119 0 0 0 24 203
42 0 0 -1 711 0 753
(€] 2,143 -424 0 55 0 366 2,140
15,250 -1,711 0 131 -29 398 14,039
@
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FVTPL

D.1
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SAP IP

1:1
12

12

2023 12 31

2023 2022

19 -15 32 0
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19 0 32 0
-7 0 -9 0
0 -15 0 0
2023 12 31
( ) ( )
( ) )
2023 2022
2,390 0 1,371 0
33 0 -9 0
-20 -9 0
oCl
19 15 32 0
0 -106 0 0
ocCl
-7 0 -9 0
ocCl
62 0 -7 0
ocCl
-9 0 =7 0
2023 12 31
2023 2022
6 7 12 6 12
1,364 1,025 822 550
EUR GBP 0.88 0.88 0.86 0.88
EUR JPY 148.12 152.10 136.83 138.23
EUR CHF 0.96 0.94 1.00 0.97
EUR AUD 1.64 1.67 1.53 1.54
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EUR USD 1.10 1.09 1.05 1.03

SAP
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12 31
2023 2022
4.2 1.7
3.3 1.6
4.2 1.7
2.5 1.3
2021 2022 2023 12 31
2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021
-10%
2022: -10% 2021: 238 135 106
-10%
+10%
2022: +10% 2021: -238 -135 -106
+10%
-10%  2022:-
131 29 36
10% 2021 -10%
+10%
-131 -29 -36
2022:+10% 2021 +10%
B -63 -38 -49
10%
64 31 40
+10%
) -48 -20 -32
10%  2022:-10% 2021 -10%
48 20 32
+10%  2022:+10% 2021 +10%
B -112 -63 -15
10%
112 63 15
+10%
) -46 -44 -2
10%  2022:-10% 2021 -10%
46 44 2

+10%  2022:+10% 2021 +10%
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/ (2023 53 2022 64 )
2023 100 2021 87

1:1
2023 12 31 43% 2022 52%
2023 12 31

2023 2022

4,550 90 4,550 94

3,964 89 3,732 95

556 -6 782 -9

226 1 -723 -11

0 -7 0 -11
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2023 12 31
2023 2022
4,550 90 4,550 94
0 0 0 0
-535 -1 -749 -3
-214 -2 700 10
2023 12 31
2023
2024 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031
EUR
1,000 1,000 800 500 1,250
5.941% 5.365% 4._705% 5.340% 5.503%
usD
90
6.150%
2022
2024 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031
EUR
1,000 1,000 800 500 1,250
3.949% 3.373% 2.713% 3.348% 3.511%
usD
94
5.150%
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12 31
2023 2022
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.03 0.04 0.04 0.03
( ) 3.26 4.70 7.45 3.26 6.19 5.83 7.21 4.87
0 1.10 1.73 0 1.45 1.71 1.76 1.45
4.64 4.64 4.64 4.64 4.64 4.84 4.88 4.64
IFRS 7
2021 2022 2023 12 31
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2023 2022 2021
+100 bps / +100 bps
2022 +75 bps / +125 bps -46 -58 -11
2021 +75 bps / +20 bps
-100 bps / -100 bps
2022 -25bps / -10 bps 46 5 10
2021 -25 bps / -20 bps
+100 bps / +100 bps
2022 +75 bps / +125 bps 0 -14 —4
2021 +75 bps / +20 bps
-100 bps / -100 bps
2022 -25 bps / -10 bps 0 1 3
2021 -25 bps / -20 bps
+100 bps / +100 bps
2022 +75 bps / +125 bps 32 26 24
2021 +75 bps / +20 bps
-100 bps / -100 bps
2022 -25bps / -10 bps -32 -5 -9
2021 -25 bps / -20 bps
2023 12 31 4,967 2022 5,137
2021 5,799
2023 2022(1) 2021(1)
1,093 503 515
22 -
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ooooooo
-1,093 -503 -515
22 -
12021 2022 + 10%
NASDAQ S&P500 12
2023 + 22
BBB
2023 2022
A
1
Tier 1
3
1 12
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90
A.2

2023 12 31
2023
1- AAA BBB- -0.1% 8,664 0 -7
2— BB+ D 0.0% 66 0 0
3 - NA -3.9% 7 0 -3
-0.1% 8,807 0 -10
2022
1- AAA BBB- -0.0% 6,554 0 -3
2— BB D 0.0% 33 0 0
3 - NA -6.5% 46 0 -3
-0.1% 6.633 0 -6

2023 12 31
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Deutscher Rahmenvertrag fir Finanztermingeschafte

2023 2022
90 55 35 68 33 35
-623 -55 -568 -849 -33 -816
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2023 12 31
2023
-0.3% 4,036 2 -13
30 -0.6% 770 51 -5
30 90 ~1.5% 564 32 -9
90
~27.3% 432 213 -176
-3.3% 5,802 298 -203
2022
-1.0% 3,146 10 -31
30 -1.0% 1,420 80 -15
30 90 ~2.3% 582 64 -15
90
—27.2% 499 236 ~200
—4.3% 5,647 390 -261
( ) 2023 2022
11 -261 175
-32 -187
90 101
12 31 -203 -261
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2023 2028 1 2 30
2017 25
EURIBOR
7
2019 9 CP 2023 12 31
0 2022 930 6
2022 2023 12 31 555 555
2023 12 31
2023 12 31
Qualtrics
Qualtrics
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12/31/2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
-1,022 -1,022 0 0 0 0 0
-6,780 -941 -952 -1,161 -1,045 -1,033 -2,604

-388 -305 -3 -3 -94 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

-1,621 -350 -260 —204 —-159 —127 -804

@ -263 —34 -30 0 0 0 0
-10,075 -2,652 -1,245 -1,368 -1,298 -1,160 -3,408

0 -19 -19 -19 -19 -19 -309

12/31/2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
-1,496 -1,496 0 0 0 0 0
-8,155  -1,690 -941 -962 -1,162 -1,045 -3,636

-405 -14 -316 -3 -3 -97 0
-1,456  -1,479 0 0 0 0 0
-928 -932 0 0 0 0 0
-2,140 -398 =317 —257 —228 -188 -1,071
—422 -307 -31 0 0 0 0
-15,002 6,316 -1,605 -1,222 -1,393 -1,330 -4,707
0 0 0 0 0 0 0

)
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12/31/2023 2024 2025 12/31/2022 2023 2024
—66 -88
-2,048 -3,185 -13
2,017 3,113 0
-20 -9
-958 -309
948 302
-537 -753
—242 -848 -102 -1,201
63 301 63 364
-623 -220 547 -849 -118 -850
52 30
-2,992 -1,713
3,042 1,740
33 33
-1,418 -1,039
1,441 1,069
85 73 0 63 57 0
-538 -147 547 —787 61 -850
F.2
@
(AC)
G/ (FVTPL)
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2023 12 31
8,124
) AC 3,369 3,369
) AC 2,277 2,277
FVTPL 2,478 2,478 2,478 2,478
6,525
) AC 5,775 5,775
) FVOCI 122 122 122
@ - 628
8,887
AC 129 129 129 129
FVTPL 4,967 4,967 156 0 4,811 4,967
[©) - 135
AC 3,021 3,021 3,021 3,021
@ - 244
AC 300 300 300 300
FX - 33 33 33 33
- 0 0 0 0
FX FVTPL 52 52 52 52
FVTPL 0 0
FVTPL 5 5
-1,822
(€] AC  -1,022 -1,022
@ - -800
-9,676
AC 0 0 0 0
AC -6,780 6,780 ~7,005 0 —7,005
AC -388 -388 -374 -374
® -1,621  -1,621
AC -263 -263 -263 -263
FX - -20 -20 -20 -20
- -537 -537 -537 -537
FX FVTPL -66 -66 -66 -66
12,038 4,798 7,034 -4,242 2,268 4,816 2,720
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2022 12 31
9,008
[©) AC 3,176 3,176
[@) AC 2,976 2,976
FVTPL 2,855 2,855 2,855 2,855
6,405
€3] AC 5,776 5,776
€)) FVOCI
[©) - 629
6,479
AC 32 32 32 32
FVTPL 5,138 5,138 258 0 4,880 5,138
[@) - 151
AC 654 654 654 654
@ - 203
AC 233 233 233 233
FX - 33 33 33 33
- 0 0 0 0
FX FVTPL 30 30 30 30
FVTPL 0 0 0 0
FVTPL 5 5 5 5
-2,226
@ AC  -1,496 -1,496
[©) - —730
-14,355
AC  -1,456 -1,456 -1,456 -1,456
AC  -9,083 -9,083 -8,301 -928 -9,229
AC —405 -405 -383 -383
®) -2,140 -2,140
[©) AC —422 —422 —422 —422
FX - -9 -9 -9 -9
- -753 -753 -753 -753
FX FVTPL -88 -88 -88 -88
5,311 -2,154 7,212 -5,156 -3,087 4,886 -3,357
@D
@
(€))
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2023 12 31
FVTPL 7,502 7,502
FVOCI 122 122
AC 14,873 14,873
FVTPL —66 -66
AC -8,454 -8,454
2022 12 31
FVTPL 8,028 8,028
FVOCI 0 0
AC 12,847 12,847
FVTPL —-88 —88
AC -12,862 -12,862
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1.0-
17.5)

10%-30%
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2 1 2023
(2022 : 93 ) 1 2
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3
2023 2022
11 4,883 0 4,881 0
9 0 0
-8 -25 0
417 522 0
-101 —43 0
91

-219 -106 -789 0

-164 15 337
12 31 4,817 0 4,883 0
532 0 -788 0

FVTPL
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(G.1)
2023 2022
844 386 1,230 828 512 1,340
241 33 274 244 49 293
1,085 419 1,504 1,072 561 1,633
I 2,374 3,573 5,947 2,139 3,580 5,719
T 46 12 25 50 16 29
%)
VAT
6.2)
) 2023 2022
871 0 871 662 0 662
T 5,648 698 6,346 4,818 705 5,523
1 15 0 14 14 0 12

Q)
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(6.3)
Cc.5

@

A.4)

2023 12 31
SAP
2023 12 31
2018 6 Teradata Corporation Teradata US, Inc Teradata Operations, Inc Teradata
SAP SE SAP America, Inc SAP Labs, LLC Teradata
SAP Teradata Teradata
Teradata
2019 SAP Teradata
2020 Teradata SAP 2
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2021 2
Teradata
Teradata
Cc.5
FCPA
U.S.SEC
2024 1
2023 12 31
170
2022

SAP

Teradata

OEC
U.S.D0J

155

2024
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2024
416 (2022 344
207
2022 12 31 0 2023
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G.9

2023 12 31 SAP
Christian Klein
CEO adidas AG, Herzogenaurach
Al
Dominik Asam (2023 3 7 )
(CFO) Bertelsmann Management SE Bertelsmann SE & Co.
IR KGaA Guetersloh
Sabine Bendiek 2023 12 31

Schaeffler AG, Herzogenaurach

Juergen Mueller

SAP

Scott Russell

Thomas Saueressig

SAP Nokia Corporation, Espoo
SAP
SAP
Emarsys
Gina Vargiu-Breuer = 2024 2 1
Julia White
2023
Luka Mucic 2023 3 31
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2023 12 31 SAP

Prof. Dr. h.c. mult. Hasso Plattner

Lars Lamadé

Manuela Asche-Holstein
SAP Germany SE & Co. KG

Aicha Evans
Zoox, Inc.

Margret Klein-Magar

SAP 0B 0G
SAP SE

Monika Kovachka-Dimitrova
SAP SE
Peter Lengler

SAP Germany SE & Co. KG

@.4.06).)

@0..4».®

Rhein-Neckar Loewen GmbH

®).(™M.®)

@.®.6).(D
Joby Aviation LLC

®,@,3,®

@D.,®.(M

OHONQHO)

Jennifer Xin-Zhe Li ®.
Changcheng Investment Partners ABB Ltd.
Kone Oy
2 28

Full Truck Alliance Co. Ltd.

247/404

2023



Dr. Qi Lu
CEO, MiraclePlus Ltd.

Gerhard Oswald
Osward Consulting GmbH

Christine Regitz
SAP Women in Tech

Dr. h. c. Punit Renjen (2023 5 11

Dr. Friederike Rotsch

Heike Steck

SAP SE

Helmut Stengele

SAP Germany SE & Co. KG

Dr. Rouven Westphal
Hasso Plattner Foundation

HPC Germany GmbH & Co. KG

Dr. Gunnar Wiedenfels

Warner Bros. Discovery, Inc.

James Wright
SAP SE

..M

Pinduoduo Inc.
Pine Field Holding Limited
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(8)Go-To-Market and Operations
G.5)
@
2021 2022 2023 LT12020
B.3
IFRS 2
2021 2022 2023
2023 2022 2021
19,632 12,556 25,015
24,469 20,726 25,095
44,101 33,282 50,110
1,033 -1,429 464
673 -1,433 461
360 4 3
NA 9,600 NA
45,134 41,453 50,574
2023 2022 2021
214,530 205,965 238,428
36,127 9,986 6,356
DBO
( ) 2022 2022 2021
DBO 12 31 2,192 1,462 3,435
137 114 108
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( ) 2023 2022 2021
5,427 5,206 3,856
3,185 3,149 3,176
2,242 2,058 680
/DBO
( ) 2023 2022 2021
2,329 2,217 2,159
DBO 12 31 33,251 31,217 42,313
2021 2022 2023
©.6)
SAP
SAP SE SAP
SAP SAP SAP
SAP SE SAP
SAP
( 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
NA NA 0 0 0 1 13 11
NA NA 2(D) 2(1) 3 4 110 133
NA NA NA NA 7 5 NA NA
) NA NA 0 0 0 0 -6 -18
) NA NA 0 0 0 0 0 4
NA NA 0 0 422 51 NA NA
(DSAP
@ 5
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6.7
2022 5 18 2023 BDO AG
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesel Ischaft (BDO) BDO 2023 Jens Freiberg 2023
SAP SE
2002 KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft Bodo Rackwitz
2018 2022 SAP SE
BDO BDO 2023
KPMG
2023 2022 2021
BDO BDO KPMG KPMG
( ) ( KPMG ( ) KPMG
8 13 10 14 3 8 12
0 1 7 10 2 5 7
0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8 14 17 24 6 13 19
BDO SAP SE BDO AG
BDO
BDO
BDO
(G.8)
2024 1 9 Muhammad Alam 2024 4 1 Thomas
Saueressig &
2024 1
(6.3)
2024:
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2024 Al Al
2024 8,000
2024
20 2024 IFRS
2024
2024 2025 IFRS
SAP SE Pekka Ala-Pietild
2024 2 11 SAP SE Pekka Ala-Pietila
Pekka Ala-Pietila 2
Punit Renjen 2024 5 15
1
2024 2 14 2023 1 1,011 2023
12 31 (E.2)
6.9
2021 12 31 290
26
-28
2022 12 31 288
12
-65

2023 12 31 235
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2023 2023 2023
2023 12 31 12 31
@) / @
2023 12 31 @ ®
%

Ariba Technologies India 100 107,665 14,181 41,767 1,360
Private Limited,
Ariba Inc., , 100 1,426,356 689,432 6,618,961 1,589
Concur Technologies, 100 2,169,139 408,667 8,828,126 3,217
Inc., ,
SAP (China) Co., Ltd., 100 1,313,574 21,903 -75,918 6,528 (17)
SAP (Schweiz) AG, , 100 1,392,865 124,568 310,761 873
SAP(UK) Limited, 100 1,431,680 66,373 204,673 1,658 (17)
SAP America, Inc., 100 8,476,670 -112,108 11,879,728 9,225
SAP Argentina S.A., 100 237,309 -19,467 —7,742 1,134  (17)
SAP Asia Pte. Limited., 100 713,377 8,864 11,302 1,085 an
SAP Australia Pty Ltd, 100 808,936 -17,934 96,836 1,302
SAP Brasil Ltda, 100 810,113 37,881 112,716 2,839 (17)
SAP Canada, Inc., 100 1,187,938 103,844 768,751 3,104
SAP Deutschland SE & Co. 100 5,724,456 819,333 1,796,440 5,048 (©))
KG, ,
SAP Espafia — Sistemas, 100 640,969 29,122 120,151 959
Aplicaciones y Productos
en la Informatica,
S.A., ,
SAP France, 100 1,217,078 146,869 1,924,300 1,575
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@ / @
2023 12 31 @ &)
%
SAP Hungary Rendszerek, 100 169,259 6,545 35,395 1,452
Alkalmazasok és Termékek
az Adatfeldolgozasban
Informatikai Kft.,
SAP India Private 100 792,589 94,539 310,957 2,379
Limited, ,
SAP Industries, Inc., 100 603,743 158,746 1,427,522 239
SAP Italia Sistemi 100 743,718 20,902 92,681 826
Applicazioni Prodotti in
Data Processing S.p.A.,
SAP Japan Co., Ltd., 100 1,164,259 77,354 303,285 1,416
SAP Labs Bulgaria EQOD, 100 121,838 5,945 32,905 1,330
SAP Labs India Private 100 890,380 99,539 281,808 10,672
Limited, ,
SAP Labs, LLC, 100 668,207 118,097 864,453 1,733
SAP México S.A. de C.V., 100 531,654 -6,246 131,233 1,118 (A7)
SAP National Security 100 1,152,270 215,069 567,360 638
Services, Inc.,
SAP Nederland B.V., 100 828,363 281,244 967,086 687 (14)
SAP Philippines, Inc., 100 117,602 285 8,975 997 (17)
SAP Service and Support 100 336,355 85,456 125,741 1,757
Centre (Ireland) Limited,
SAP Services s.r.o., 100 122,548 4,705 23,055 1,436
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SAP Kazakhstan LLP, , 100
110405, Inc., , s 100
Abakus Ukraine Limited Liability Company, , 100
Ambin Properties Proprietary Limited, Johannesburg, ,

100 an
Apex Expert Solutions LLC, , , 100
AppGyver Inc., , , 100
AppGyver Qy., , 100
Ariba Czech s.r.o., , 100
Ariba India Private Limited, , 100
Ariba International Holdings, Inc., , ,

100
Ariba International Singapore Pte. Ltd., s 100
Ariba International, Inc., , , 100
Ariba Slovak Republic, s.r.o. 100
Ariba Software Technology Services (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., , 100
Ariba Technologies Netherlands B.V., 100 (1%
Baiza Capital Designated Activity Company, , 0 (5), (18)
Baiza Capital Italia s.r.l., , 0 %), (18)
Baiza Capital LLC, , , 0 ®
Baiza Capital S.A., , 0 ®)
Business Objects Holding B.V., 100 (1%
Business Objects Option LLC, , , 100

Business Objects Software Limited, (Trading as SAP Solutions),

s 100
Callidus Software Inc., , , 100
CallidusCloud (India) Pvt. Ltd., , 100
Christie Partners Holding C.V., , 100
Cleanshelf, Inc., , , 100 ®)
CNQR Operations Mexico S. de. R.L. de. C.V., , 100
Concur (Canada), Inc., , 100
Concur (Czech) s.r.o., , 100
Concur (France) S.A.S., , 100
Concur (Germany) GmbH, , 100 (10), (11)
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Concur (Japan) Ltd., , 97
Concur (Philippines) Inc., , 100
Concur (Switzerland) GmbH, , 100 (15)
Concur Holdings (France) S.A.S., , 100
Concur Holdings (Netherlands) B.V., , 100 (14
Concur Technologies (Australia) Pty. Limited, ,
100
Concur Technologies (Hong Kong) Limited, , 100
Concur Technologies (India) Private Limited, , 100
Concur Technologies (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., , 100 an
Concur Technologies (UK) Limited, s 100 an
ConTgo Consulting Limited, , 100 13), (A7)
ConTgo Limited, , 100 (13)
Crystal Decisions (UK) Limited, , 100 (13)
Delos Cloud GmbH, , 100
Emarsys eMarketing Systems GmbH, , 100
Emarsys iletisim Sistemleri Tic. Ltd Sti., , 100
Emarsys Interactive Services GmbH, , 100
Emarsys Limited, , 100
Emarsys North America, Inc., , ,
100
Emarsys Pte. Ltd., , 100
Emarsys Pty Ltd, , 100
Emarsys S.A.S., , 100
Emarsys Schweiz GmbH, , 100
Emarsys UK Ltd, , 100

EMARSYS-Technologies Informatikai Szolgaltaté Kft.,

100
Ess Cubed Procurement Proprietary Limited, , 100
FreeMarkets Ltda., , 100
hybris GmbH, , 100 (10), (11)
INNAAS s.r.l., , 100
LeadFormix, Inc., s s 100 )
LeanIX France S.A.R.L., , 100 )
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LeanIX GmbH, , 100 5)
LeanIX SI d.o.o., , 100 )
LeanIX UK Limited, , 100 )
LeanIX US Holdings, Inc., , , 100 %)
LeanlX, B.V., , 100 )
LeanlX, Inc., , , 100 )
LLC ““Emarsys’”, , 100
LLC ““SAP Labs~”, , 100
LLC ““SAP Ukraine’”, , 100 an
Loyalsys Technologies Israel Ltd., , 100
LXTECH India Private Limited, s 100 )
Nihon Ariba K.K., , 100
Outerjoin, Inc., , , 100
OutlookSoft Deutschland GmbH, , 100 (10), (11)
PT SAP Indonesia, , 99
Quadrem Africa Pty. Ltd., , 100
Quadrem Brazil Ltda., , 100
Quadrem Chile Ltda., , 100
Quadrem International Ltd., , 100
Quadrem Netherlands B.V., , 100 (14
Quadrem Overseas Cooperatief U.A., , 100
Quadrem Peru S.A.C., , 100
SAP (Beijing) Software System Co., Ltd., , 100
SAP (China) Holding Co., Ltd., , 100
SAP Andina y del.Caribe C.A_, , 100 an
SAP AZ LLC, , 100
SAP Belgium — Systems, Applications and Products S.A_, ,

100
SAP Beteiligungs GmbH, , 100
SAP Bulgaria EOOD, , 100
SAP Business Services Center Nederland B.V., )

100 (14)
SAP Chile Limitada, , 100 an
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SAP CIS, LLC, , 100
SAP Colombia S.A.S., , 100 an
SAP Costa Rica, S.A., , 100 an
SAP CR, spol. s r.o., , 100
SAP Cyprus Limited, , 100
SAP Danmark A/S, , 100
SAP Dritte Beteiligungs- und Vermégensverwaltungs,GmbH, )
100

SAP druStvo s ogranicenom odgovornod¢u za digitalnu ekonomiju novog

tisuéljeca, , 100
SAP East Africa Limited, , 100 an
SAP Egypt LLC, , 100 )
SAP EMEA Inside Sales S.L., , 100
SAP Erste Beteiligungs- und Vermdgensverwaltungs, ,
100 (10), (11)
SAP Estonia 0U, , 100
SAP Financial, Inc., . 100
SAP Finland 0Oy, , 100
SAP Foreign Holdings GmbH, , 100
SAP France Holding, S.A., , 100
SAP Global Marketing, Inc., , , 100
SAP Hellas Single Member S.A_, , 100
SAP Hong Kong Co., Ltd., , 100 an
SAP Hosting Beteiligungs GmbH, , 100 (10), (11)
SAP India (Holding) Pte. Ltd., , 100
SAP International Panama, S.A., , 100
SAP International, Inc., , , 100
SAP Investments, Inc., , , 100
SAP Ireland Limited, , 100 an

SAP Ireland US - Financial Services Designated Activity Company,

, 100
SAP Israel Ltd., , 100 an
SAP Korea Ltd., , 100
SAP Labs France SAS, , 100
SAP Labs Israel Ltd., , 100
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SAP Labs Korea, Inc., , 100

SAP Latvia SIA, , 100

SAP Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., , 100

SAP Middle East and North Africa L.L.C., , 49 ®), (17
SAP Middle East FZ L.L.C., , 100 an
SAP Nederland Holding B.V., , 100 (14
SAP New Zealand Limited, . 100

SAP Norge AS, , 100

SAP North West Africa Ltd, , 100

SAP Osterreich GmbH, , 100

SAP Perl S.A.C., , 100 )
SAP Polska Sp. z o.0., , 100

SAP Portals Holding Beteiligungs GmbH, s 100

SAP Portals Israel Ltd., , 100

SAP Portugal - Sistemas, AplicacBes e Produtos Informaticos,

Sociedade Unipessoal, Lda., , 100
SAP Projektverwaltungs- und Beteiligungs GmbH, , 100
SAP Public Services, Inc., DC, 100
SAP Puerto Rico GmbH, , 100 (10), (1D, @17

SAP Retail Solutions Beteiligungsgesellschaft GmbH, ,

100
SAP Saudi Arabia Software Services Ltd, , 100
SAP Saudi Arabia Software Trading Ltd, , 75 an
SAP Sechste Beteiligungs- und Vermdgensverwaltungs GmbH,
s 100 (10), (11)
SAP Siebte Beteiligungs- und Vermogensverwaltungs GmbH, ,
100 (10), (11)
SAP sistemi, aplikacije in produkti za obdelavo podatkov d.o.o.,
; 100
SAP Slovensko s.r.o., , 100
SAP Software and Services WLL, , 49 ®), (17
SAP Svenska Aktiebolag, , 100
SAP System Application and Products Asia Myanmar Limited, ,
100
SAP Systems, Applications and Products in Data Processing (Thailand)
Ltd., . 100
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SAP Taiwan Co., Ltd., , 100

SAP Technologies Inc., , , 100

SAP Training and Development Institute FZCO, , 100 an
SAP Tiirkiye Yazilim Uretim ve Ticaret A.S., , 100

SAP UAB, , 100

SAP Ventures Investment GmbH, , 100 (10), (11)

SAP Vierte Beteiligungs- und Vermdgensverwaltungs GmbH,

, 100
SAP Vietnam Company Limited, , 100
SAP West Balkans d.o.o., , 100
SAP Zweite Beteiligungs- und Vermdgensverwaltungs GmbH, ,

100 (10), (11)

SAP.io Fund, L.P., , , 0 @
Sapphire Fund Investments Il Holdings LLC., s )

100 a
Sapphire Fund Investments 11, L.P., , , 0 @
Sapphire Fund Investments 111, Holdings LLC., , ,

100 a
Sapphire Fund Investments 111, L.P., , , 0 ©)
Sapphire SAP HANA Fund of Funds, L.P., ) ,

0 Q)

Sapphire Ventures Fund I, L.P., , , 0 @)
Sapphire Ventures Fund 11, L.P_, , , 0 ©)
Sapphire Ventures Fund II1, L.P_, , , 0 @)
Sapphire Ventures Fund IV, L.P., , , 0 @)
Sapphire Ventures Fund V, L.P., , , 0 @)
Sapphire Ventures Fund VI, L.P_, , , 0 ©)
Sapphire Ventures Fund VII-A, L.P., , , 0 @)
SAPV (Mauritius), , 100 @)
SC SAP Romania SRL, , 100
Shanghai SAP Cloud Technology Company, Ltd., , 70
Signavio UK Ltd, , 100 (13)
Signavio, Inc., , s 100
SuccessFactors (Philippines), Inc., , 100 an

SuccessFactors, Inc., , ’
100

Sybase Angola, LDA, , 100 (16)
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Sybase lIberia S.L., , 100
Sybase International Holdings Corporation, LLC, ,

, 100
Sybase, Inc., , , 100

Systems Applications Products (Africa Region) Proprietary Limited,

, 100
Systems Applications Products (Africa) Proprietary Limited,
s 100
Systems Applications Products (South Africa) Proprietary Limited,
, 81 an
Systems Applications Products Nigeria Limited, ,
100 aan
Taulia (Shanghai) Smart Technology Co. Ltd., , 100
Taulia Arabia LLC, , 100 )
Taulia Australia Pty. Ltd., , 100
Taulia Bulgaria EQOD, , 100
Taulia GmbH, , 100 (12)
Taulia LLC, , , 100
Taulia Singapore Pte. Ltd., , 100
Taulia Trade Technology GmbH, , 100 12)
Taulia UK Ltd., , 96
Technology Management Associates Inc., , ,
100
TRX Europe Limited, , 100 13), (17
TRX Technologies India Private Limited, s 100
TRX UK Limited, , 100 (13)
TRX, Inc., , , 100
Volume Integration, Inc., s s 100

261/404



Qa
Q@

G

4

G

(6

@

¢

©

(10

(11

(12

@13

(14

(15

(16

a7

2023 12 31

HGB

FTE

, 285

313

HGB, 313(2) 3

2023
SAP

IFRS 10

)
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China DataCom Corporation Limited, ,

28

Procurement Negoécios Eletronicos S/A,

17

SAP Fioneer GmbH, )

20

® )

47th Street Partners 1, L.P., )

83North 1V, L.P., ,

Adverity GmbH, ,

Alation, Inc., , ,

Alchemist Accelerator Fund I LLC, ,

Aleph-Bigg SPV, L.P., ,

All Tax Platform - Solucoes Tributarias S.A.,

Amplify Partners 11 L.P., ,

Amplify Partners 111, L.P., ,

Amplify Partners 1V, L.P., ,

Amplify Partners, L.P., ,

BGS Holdings, Inc., , ,

BioCatch Ltd., s

Bitonic Technology Labs, Inc., s

Blue Yard Capital 1 Alternative GmbH & Co. KG,

Blue Yard Capital 1 GmbH & Co. KG, )

Blue Yard Crytpo 1, L.P_, ,

Boldstart Ventures V, L.P., , ,

Boldstart Ventures VI, L.P., , ,

Brightfield Holdings. Inc., ,

Bryj Technologies, Inc. (fka Follow Analytics, Inc.),

By Capital 2 GmbH & Co. KG, ,

Catchpoint Systems, Inc., ,

CDQ AG, ,

Chalfen Ventures Fund I L.P., )

Chalfen Ventures Fund Il L.P., )
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G )
Chalfen Ventures Fund 111 L.P., s )
CircleCl, Inc., , ;
Clari.Inc., Inc. , ,
Cofinity-X GmbH, ,

Collectly, Inc., Pasadena, ,

ComponentLab, Inc., , ,

Contentful Global, Inc., ,

Costanoa Venture capital Il L.P_, ,

Costanoa Venture capital QZ, LLC, s

Costanoa Venture capital 111 L.P., ,

Creandum SPV TR (D) AB, ,

Cultivate Rollco LLc (fka Cultivate Technology, Inc.),

Culture Amp, Inc.,

Cypress.io, Inc., s ,

Data Collective Il L.P.,

Data Collective Il L.P., , ,

Data Collective IV, L.P., , ,

Digital Hub Rhein-Neckar GmbH,

Dremio Corporation, , s

Essence VC 111, L.P., , ,

FeedZai S.A., )
Felix Capital Fund 111, ,
Felix Ventures 11, L.P., ,

Filament 2024, L.P., , ,

Finco Services, Inc. (dba Current), s

F oQast, Inc., s »

GitGuardian SAS, ,

Gorgias Inc.,

Haystack Ventures V. L.P.,

Haystack Ventures VI. L.P.,

Haystack Ventures VIIl, L_P., San Francisco, CA, United States

Huntress Labs Incorporated, Ellicott City, MD, United States

IDG Ventures USA 111, L.P., , s
IEX Group, Inc., , s
InfluxData, Inc., , ,
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€ )

Initialized CBH SPV LLC,

InnovationLab GmbH, ,

innoWerft Technologie- und Grinderzentrum Walldorf Stiftung GmbH,

Involve.ai, Inc., ,

JetLenses Inc. (dba Verse Medical), ,

JupiterOne, Inc., ,

Kaltura, Inc., ,

LeanData, Inc., ,

LGVP F I LLC, s ,

Local Globe Opportunity Fund, L.P.,

Local Globe VII, L.P.,

Local Globe VIII, L.P.,

Local Globe X, L.P.,

Local Globe XI, L.P.,

Mango Capital 2018, L.P.,

Mango Capital 2020, L.P_,

Mango Capital 2022, L.P_,

Matillion Ltd., )

Medable Inc., )

Mosaic Ventures Investors Fund I, L.P.

Notation Capital Il CIRC, LLC,

Notation Capital, L.P.,

Notation Capital II, L.P_,

Notation Capital, III, L.P.,

OpenX Software Limited, ,

Paper Education Company, Inc.,

Pendo.io, Inc., ,

PivotNorth Early Fund 1. L.P.,

Point Nine Annex GmbH & Co. KG,

Point Nine Capital Fund Il GmbH & Co. KG,

Point Nine Capital Fund 111 GmbH & Co. KG,

Point Nine Capital Fund IV GmbH & Co. KG,

Point Nine Capital Fund V GmbH & Co.

Project 44, Inc., , ,

PubNub, Inc., ,
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€ )

Qualified.com, Inc., , s

Reltio, Inc., s ,

Restream, Inc., , ,

Ridge Ventures 1V, L.P_, , ,

Ridge Ventures V, L.P., , ,

SafeGraph, Inc., , ,

Sapphire Sport, Parallel Fund, L.P., , ,

Sapphire Sport, Parallel Fund 11, L.P., , ,

Sapphire Sport, L.P_, , s

Side, Inc., , ’

Simpplr Inc., , ,

Smart City Planning, Inc., )

Splashtop, Inc., , ,

Spring Mobile Solutions, Inc., , ,

StackHawk, Inc., , ,

Storm Ventures V, L.P., , ,

SV Angel 1V, L.P., , ,

Tetrate.io, Inc., , ,

The SaaStr Fund, L.P., , ,

The SaaStr Fund I, L.P., , ,

Third Kind Venture Capital Il, L.P., ,

Third Kind Venture Capital 11, L.P., , ,

Tribe Capital LLC Series 3, ,

Tribe Capital LLC Series 8, , ,

UJET. Inc., , ,

Unmind Ltd., s

Upfront V, L.P., , s

Uptycs, Inc., , ,

VerblT, Inc., , s

Vistex, Inc., , s

Walkabout Ventures Fund Il L.P., , ,

Yapily Ltd., s

Zesty Tech Ltd., ,
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2002 2
161
2023 2022 2023
2023 10 Web (www.sap.com/investors/en/governance.html.)
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SAP SAP integrated Report 2023

TaOnn Comibiresd Mansgament Consolidated Finandial Furthar Infonmaticn absot Adkitianal
Stakeholders Fepot Statemenis IFRS Sustainability Irelprmraition

il Consolidated Income Statements of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31

£ PHION, PSS DU ke Mo 0z3 Farrr) i ri
e
ks 13664 11426 8701
Sofvewe Losnses 1764 2056 1248
Sdl'naﬂe‘:q.pﬂ-m'! 11496 11509 11412
Saltware loerees and suppart 1341 13845 14660
Cload snd sofwang 26924 25301 231
Serices d. 283 4,136 A5z
TmH.. T A TN (] Jl.t.{lil'. 050 hEa
Coast of ot u!ﬂﬂ.ﬂi =3499 = 2881
Cost of solftwanes loenses and support =1383 -1384 -1588
Comt ol eloud aned soltware =5.257 -4 BB3 =4 473
Crat of services =3407 -1185 -2340
Tothl coft of fovenoes —&M R =k} =120
Giroas prodit 22534 21482 T34
Pasarch g GEspbanimeant [ =5324 Tk H =527
Sabes and marketing =B.528 =1.946 =0 855
Casrvral 3] achminesinaton =1 354 1288 = 1187
Restructunng B4 =I5 =138 =157
by operating Income e e, et -16 B ai
Tiotal e ating exgperdss -254H0 -23420 -2 LS
Dparating profit 8707 B.000 .30
Otiser non-operating InComofexponse, ot {C3) L] =187 19
FEnassoe iIncimas L7 Ell 1123
Frnasrce Cosls =1.313 =2 200 =545
Finarcial Income, met o | =456 =1,289 2478
Prafit befons tax from continuing operations e 8341 4513 B505
I L Expnie (5] 1741 —1.446 -16HZ
Drnﬂtdrﬁ;n.hmvl::\mnlnﬁu opeTacion 3.5-0'1 1068 6524
Anr-hEJ!!MIBO-WfLHNIM. 3,53-1 i) B4
AfribUREDEE 10 NoN-Coniroiling interests =33 =210 355
Prafit {loss) after tax from discorminued operations {8 363 =138 =1447
Prafit sfpes Lo’ G964 Lro0 BTG
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31
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T consolidated Statements of Financial Position of SAP Group as at December 31
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31
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consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31
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Notes

{IN.1) Basis for Preparation

General Information

Thie registered domicile of SAP SE |s In Walidort, Germany (Cormmercial Register of the Lower Court of
hanmnheim HRB 719915} The Consalicated Financial Statements tor 2023 of SAP SE and its
subsidiaries (collectively, Swe” "us” "our” “SAF" *“Group” and “Company™) have been prepared in
accondance with Intermational Financial Repoding Standards (IFRS) and the additional requirements
sat forth in section 315%e (1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

W have applied all IFRS standards and inlerpeetations that were effective on and endarsed by the
Eurcpean Union (EU) as at Decemiber 31, 2023 There were no standards or interpretations as at
Decembxer 31, 2023, impacting car Consolidated Financial Staternents for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, that were effective bat not yet endorsed. Therelone, our
Consolidated Financial Statements comply with oth, IFRS &5 issued Dy the Inemnational Accounting
Standards Board (LASE) and IFRS as endorsed by the ELL

Cur Executive Boand appeoved the Consalidated Financial Satements on February 21, 2024, lor
submission to cur Supenisory Board which approved the Consolidated Financlal Statements on the
Same dant

All emounts included In the Consolidated Finande! Staternents are reported in milllons of eurcs

(€ millions) extept where otherwise stated. As figures are rounded, numibsers presented throughaut this
document may not add up precisely toe the totais we provide and percentages may not precisely
refiect the atsalute figunes.

Amounts disclosed in the Notes that are taken directly from our ai Conselidated Income Statements
ar aur T Cansalidated Statements of Financlal Position are marked with the symbods Ji and T,
respectively,

Furthermaorne, all financial numbers in the Consolidated Financlal Statements are based on continuing
aperalions (unless olhenwise nated),

Accounting Policies, Management Judgments, and Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty

How We Present Our Accounting Policies, Judgments, and Estimates

Toease the understanding of our financial stalermems, we present the accounting policies,
management judgments, and sources of estimation uncertainly (hereafter: accounting policies,
jucigments, and estimates) on a given subject 1ogether with other disclosunes retated 1o the same
subject in the hote that dieals with this subledt. Accounting policies, judgments, and estimates that dao
nod relate 1o 8 specific sulbiect ane presented in the fctlowing section,

Far easler identification of cur accounting policles, [udgments, and estimates, the respective
discioswres are marked with the symbol 8} and highlighted with a light gray boe They facus on the
Beoeanting choloes made within the framewar of the prevalling IFRS and refrain Irom repeating the
underlying peamulgated IFRS guidance, unbess we consider it particularly important to the
ungerstancing of a Note's content.
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The tollcwing table provides an ovendew of where our accounting policies, management judgmenis,

and estimates are disclosed:
L Z mccourting Pollches. Judgments, and Estimates
[T Euaiid Foet Prguatian

Al Rrruss

&2 Trache anc CRbet Bocernvalaies
Cipaplipedd Coft from Contradts with Cudfomerng

il ,.'. Eu.ﬂnma-'-ﬂ;il.mad Pranwn
e Share BassdPrymares

B4 Porm'.PtamandSoemar Diblgations
{E5) Ceher Emplopee-Helsted Obligations
(85 Restructuring

fi=s4} Ressults of Segments

{1} Income Tames

1) Bursress Combinatons. and Devestitunes
Geaschwel |
03 irtangibie Assats
(64 Progtrty, Plaes. 4 Eqqrpimeant
L] Lﬁﬂﬁ
(1] Eity s sirmres
TS Hﬁmmmw&m:
Toul Ecpaty
Liquecly
Financial Fisk Factors and Risk Management
L= Far Yol Disdosures on Financis Insruments
) Crhat Litigaton, Clama, snd Leagal Contingancies
G5 Edscugivs ared Supaniicany Boand Comgeniation

() General Accounting Policies

Bases of Measurement

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis excepd lor the

following:

= Derivative financial instruments, labilities lor cash-seflbed share-based payments, and linancial
assetswith cash flows that are not salely peyments of principal or interest ane measured at falr
valkee,

= Post-employment benefits are measured at the present value of the defined benefit coligations
less the ki value of the plan sssets.

= Maonetary assets and Habilities denominated in foreign curencies are transiated at period-end
achange rates.

= Provisions are recognized 8t the best estimate of their fulfillment amount when they ocour,

Forelgn Currencles

Income and expenses dnvd operating cash lows of our loreign subsidiaries that use a lunctional
curmency other than the Euro are iransiated at average rates of forelgn exchange (F¥) computed an a
meanthly basis. Exchange differences resulting from foreign currency iransactions ane recognized in
other non-operating Income/expense, net.
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The exchange rates of key currencies affecting the Company were as follows:

Exchange Rates

TR ":":*i;'; Annust Average Exchangs Raos
2023 HaZ B3 17} xnn

) —_—

Aymtratian diolls A LESEY 19653 Lis 18174 15347

Canactan dellps cap Le50 L4440 L4504 13703 14815

Davins frane OHF [al=Fi] eaa7 TGTL? 10052 10414

Pounsd steding e ke e nEeS Q36 00

[ ——— e 15633 L4065 15104 1380 12086

LS, clalla (¥} L10EG LiOEGE LEELE 10638 11835

Cost Classification

Cost of Cloud and Software

Cost of clodd and software includes the costs incurred In providing the senvices and producing the
goodcs (hal generabe clowd and soltwane revenue, Consequently, this line item primady includes
employes axpenses relating to these services, amortization of acguired intangibles. lees for thind-party
licenses, depreciation of our property, plam, and equipment (for example, of our dala centers in which
we host our cloud solutions), and costs for third-party hosting services. For mone information about the
capitalization of costs from contracts with customers, see Note (A 3)

Uipclated Cost Allocation Policy

Starting January 1. 2023, all activities related 1o changes in the code of SAPS cloud and on-premise
sciutions are treated as development-related activities, Some of those activities, specifically code
comections, were previously considened as support-related activities, SAP believes that this update
aligns SAFs acoounting policy with market standards and increases comparability to its peers.

For the full year 2023, the update of our cost sllocation policy led to an increase in the cloud gross
profit of approdmately €95 million (2022 €88 milllon, 2021; €61 mdllon), an Increase in the software
license and support gross prolit of approdmately €275 million (2022 €310 million, 2021: €326 million),
and an increase In our research & development (RED) expenses of approximately €370 million

{2022 €398 million, 2021: €348 mitlion).

Prior periods have been adjusted o reflect the updated cost allocation policy,

Cost of Services

Cost ol services includes the costs incurred in providing the services thal generate sendce revene
Conseguently, this line item primarily includes employee expenses and related training, system and
system administration costs, and costs kor thind-panty resources,

Research and Development.

Research and development includes the costs incurred by activitles related to the development of
cloud and software solutions including resource and hardwane costs for the development systems.
The same applies for all aclivities related 1o changes In the code of 5AFs cloud and softwane
seiutions. For more information about the recognition of internatly penersted Imanglble assets from
development, see Mote (DL

Please also nate the Uipdated Cost ANGCaton Policy above,
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Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing includes the costs incurmed for the selling activities (such as sales commissions
and amortization of capitalized sales commissions) and marketing activities related to our scitware
and cloud solutions and our senvice portholio. For more information aboul the capitalization of costs
froann contracts with customers, see Note (A3),

General and Administration

General and administration Includes the costs related to finance and acmindstrative functions, human
resources, and general management as long as they are not directly attributabie to one of the other
operaling expense line lems.

) Management Judgments and Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires our management to make
jucigments, estimates, and assumptions that alfect the application of accounting policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses, a5 well as disclosure of contingent
liatyilities.

We base our judgments, estimates, and assumplions on historical and forecast informiation, and on
regional and ndustry economic conditions in which we or our cuslomers operate, Changes o these
conditions could adversely affect our estimates. Although we believe we have made reasonable
estimates about the ullimate resolution of the uncerying uncenainties, nd assurance can be given that
the final outcome of these matters witl be consistent with what is reflected in our recoginfzed assets,
liabilities, revenues, and expenses and disclosed contingent liabiities. Actual resulls cowid ditfer
significantly fram original estimates,

The accounting policies that most requently or significantly requine us to meke judgments, estimates,
and assumptions, and therefore are critical to understanding our resulls of operations, include the
following

Hode F aterial Accounting Policies

(A1) Rl recopition

] Valuation of rade receimabies

Pl (e d] Aoooumnting Tor legsl contingssncies
8. Acoounting for share-biasad payments
Ch) Acoounting Tor income taes

(k] Acoounting for Duskness comienatons
(2 Accounting for goodeil

Acoounting for irtang bl asuets {incluckng recognition of internally generated sntanginle assets from
B |

e Actaurting o Spaty wreilireat]

Our management periodically descusses these materal accounting policies with the Audit and
Coempliance Committee of our Supenvdsory Board.

(Z) New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

The IASE has issued varlcus amendments io the IFRS standards (such as 1AS 1 {Presentation of
Financial Statements), IAS 7 (Statement of Cash Flows), IFRS 7 (Financia Instruments Disclosune), and
IFRS 16 (Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback Transaction]) that are relevand for SAP but not yet
effective, We are currently assessing the impact on SAR Bul to not expect material effects on aur
fimancial position or profit after tas.
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Section A - Customers

This sedlion discusses disclosures related to contracts with our cusiomers. These include but are not
lirmited to explanations of Ronw e recognize revenes, revenue disaggregation, and infomation about
our lrade receivables and custamer-related obligations.

(A.1) Revenue

(Z Accounting for Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Classes of Revenue

‘We derive gur revenue from lees changed to our customers for the use of our cloud oiferings, for
licenses to our on-premise software products, and hor standardized and premium support services,
conswting customer-specific soltware developments, lraining, and other services.

Cloud and software revenue, a5 presented in our Consalidated Income Statements, is the sum of aur
cloud revenue, cur software license revenue, and cur software support revenue

Cloud revenue represents fees eamed from providing customers with any of the fodlowing:

Software as a senice (Saas), that is, a right to use software functionality (including standand
functicnalities and cusiom cloud appédications and extensions) in a cloud-based infrastructure hosted
by SAP or third parties engiaged by SAR, where the customer does not have the right to terminate the
hosting contract and take possessian of the software to either run it on its own IT infrastrectue o 1o
engape a third-party provider unrelated to SAP to host and manage the software; SaaS alsa includes
Transaction and agent fees for ransactions thal customes execule on our cloud-based transaction
platforms,

Platform as a service (Paas), that is, access 1o a cloud-based platform to develep, deplay, integrate,
and manage applicathons,

Infrasiruciure as a senice (laas), that is, hosting and related application management services lor
software hosted by SAP or third parties engaged by SAF

Premvum cloud suppart, that is, supparnt beyond the regular suppont embedded in the underlying
choud subscription services,

Software lcense revenue represents lees eamed from the sale or license of software 1o customers
for use on the premises owned or fully controlled by the customes, in other words, where the cusiomer
has the right 1o teke possession of the software kor instailation on the customen's premises or an
hardware of third-party hosling providers unrelated to SAF (on-premise saltware). Softwane license
revenue Includes revenue from both the sale of our standand softwane products and customer-specific
on-premise-soltware development agreements.

Software support revenue represems fees eamed from providing customers with standardized
support services thal comprise unspecified future software updates, upgrades, and enhancements as
well as technical prodiuct support services for on-premise software products.

Services revenue primarily represents fees earned from professional consulting services, premmium
Ssupport senvices, and training senvces,

Identification of Contract

We freguentiy enter into multiple contracts with the same customer, For accounting pumposes, we treat
these contracts as a single contract if they are entered into al or near the same time and are
econcmically interrelated, We do not combine contracts with closing days more than three momhs
apart becauss we do nol consider them being entered into near the same time, Judgment is requined
iIn evaluating whether vanious contracts are Interredated, which includes considerations as to whether
hey were negatiated as a packege with a single commercial objective, whether the amount of
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cansiceration on cne conltract is dependent on the performance of the other contract, or i same or all
goods inthe contracts ane a single performance abligation.

New armangements with exdsting customers can be either a new contract or the medification of prior
contracts with the customer. Our judgment in making this determination considers whether there is @
cannection between the new arrangement and the pre-edsting contracts, whether the goods and
senvices under the new arrangement are highly interrelated with the goods and sendces sobd under
prior contracts, and how the goods and services under the new arangement are priced, In cetermining
whether a change in iransaction price represents a contract modification o a change In variable
consideration, we examing whether the change in price results Irom changing the contract or from
applying unchanged existing contract provisions.

Identification of Perfarmance Obligations

Our customer contracts often Include varlous products and services. Typically, the products and
services outlined in the Classes of Revenye section qualify as separate performance obligations and
1he portion of the contractual fee allocated to them s necognized separatety. Judgment s neguined,
however, in determining whether a pood or service s considered a separate performance obiigation,
For our probessional sendces and implementation activities, judgment is reguired to evaluate whether
such senvices significantly Integrate, customize, or modify the an-premise software o cdiowd senvice to
which they relate. In this context, we consider the natune of the services and thelr volume relative to
the valume of the an-premise software or cloud service Lo which they relate. In general, the
implementation services for our cloud senvices go beyond pure setup activities and qualiy s
separsie perlormance obiigations, Similarly, our on-premise implementation services and cur custom
development services (ypically quality as separate perfarmance obxligations. Non-distinet poods and
services are comizined Into one distingt bundle of goods and services (combined perfomance
obligation).

‘When selling goods or services, we frequently grant customers options to acqulre additional goods or
services (for examgple, renewals of cloud or suppon: arsangements, or additional volumes of purchased
cloud solutions or software). We apply judgment in determining whether such options provide a
mpenial right Lo the customer that the cusiomer would nat recenve without entering into that contrscl
In this judgmend, we consider, Tor example, whether the cptions entitle the customer to a discount that
exceeds the discount pranted for the respective goods of services sald together with the opticn

Determination of Transaction Price

‘We apply [udgment in determining the amount to which we expect to be entitled In exchange for
translerming promised goods or Senvices 10 a customer. Generally, varabie consideration is estimated
bazed on the most likely amount and s induded in the transaclion price to the extent that the
constraint coes not apply. This incluces estimales as to whether and 1o what exdent subseguent
concessions may be granted to customers and whether the customer [s expecied to pay the
contractual fees inthis fedgment, we consider our istony with the respective cLstomer of on &
partiolio basis.

The recognition constraint is applied to on-premse saftware transactions that include ushge-based or
sales-based continpent lees. In confrast, our typlcal cloud senvices do not provide the customer with a
softwane license because the customer does nol hive the right o lerminate the hosting contract and
lake possession of the solbeare. Consequently, variable cloud fees are considered in the transaction
price based on estimates, rather than being sccounted for as usage-based or sales-based license
rerraities. IT SAP pays consideration to a customer in exchange Tor a distinct good or senvice, and such
purchase is lnked to a customer contract, an estimate of falr value of such poods and services s
frecuined 1o conclude whether or nol toacoount for a reduction in the lransaction price of the linked
customer contract.

Oinly very rarely do our contracts include significant fimandcing components. We do nol acoount for
tinancing components il the period between when SAP translers the promised poods or services to
the customer and when the customer pays for those goods or senvioas is one year or bess.

Allocation of Transaction Price

W have estabilished a hieraschy to identify the standatone selling prices [SSPs) that we use (o allocate
the transaction price of a customer canfract 1o the performance obligations In the contract.
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= Where standalone selling prices for an offering are chservable and reasonabaly consistent across
customers (that is, not highly variable), cur S5P estimates are derived from car respective pricing
histoey. Typically, our standandized support offerings and our professional service offerings follow
this approsch,

= Where sales prices for an oifering are not directly cbsenvable or highly variable across customers,
we use estimation technigues. For renewatile offerings with highly variable pricing across
customers, these techniques consider the Individual contract’s expected renewal price as far as this
price is substantive, Typicatly, our cloud ofterings. Ioliow this approach, For non-renewabile offerings,
1hese estimations foflow a cost-plus-mangin aporoach

- For ofterings that [ack renesals, have highly varable pricing and lack substantial direet costs o
estimate based on a cost-plus-mangin approach, we allocate the transaction price by applying a
residual approach, We use this technigue in particular Tor our standand on-premise soltwane
afferings.

Jucigment is required when estimating 558 To judge whether the histarical pricing of our goods and

services s highly variabie, we have established thresholds of pricing variability, For judging whether

incividually negetiated contractual renewal prices are substantive, we have established fioor prices
based on internal calculation which include a minimum margin thal we use as 55Ps whenever the

contractual renewal prices ane below these lloor prices. In judging whether contracts ane expected 1o

renew at their contractual renewal prices, we rely on cur respective renewal history. The S5Ps of

material right options depend on the probabiliy of opthon exercise, In estimating these probabilifies,
we apply judgment considering historical ewercise paftems

W renvien Lhe S55Fs periodically o whenewer facts and circumstances change 1o ensure the mosl
objedive input paramelers avallable are used.

Recognition of Revenue

Clold revenwe is recognized over lime as the sendces are perfarmed. For cloud business models
whiere we grant rights to continuousty access and use cne o more clowd offerings for a certain term,
revenue is recoprized based on lime elapsed and thus ratably over this term. For cloud business
models provisioned on a consumption basls where a customer commits to a fxed value of spend on
choud sendoes throughout the contract term, bul with the discretion to call aoll cloud services during
the contract term, we recognize revenue besed on consumption as it best reflects our measure
iowards satislaction of thet perormance obligation. In limfed scenarios where ihe transaction price is
entirely variable and determined by the customer's consumplion, we recognize revenue based on
usage In the period Inwhich it was earmed.

Software fioense revenue is recopnized at a point in time or over time depending on whether we

deliver standand saltware, customer-specific saltware, or soffware subscription contracts that combine

the delivery of software and the obligation to detiver, in the future, unspecified software peoducts:

= Licenses for our standard on-premise soltware products are ty pically delivered by providing the
customer with access to downtoad the soltware. We recognize revenue for these on-premise
licenses al the point in time when we grant the License rdghts o the customer and the customer has
access 1o and thus control over the software, In judging whether our on-premise software offerings
grant customers a right 1o use, ralher than a right 1o sccess, our Intelieciual propeny, we have
considered the usefilness of our software withowt subsequent epdates to It

= Typically, our customer-specific on-premise software development agreements:
*  Represent soitwane developed for specilic needs of individual customers and therefore do not
henve any use for us
=  Provide us with an enlorceable right to payment for perfarmance completed to date

For such development Sgieements, We NECOmize revenue over Hime s the soltware development
progresses. Judgment is required in identifying an appropriste method to measure the progress
tewend compiete satisfaction of such performance obligations. We typscally measure progress of
our development agreements based on the direct costs Incurred to date in developing the software
&5 a percentage of the tolal reasonably estimated direct costs to fully complete the development
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work (input-based percentage-of-completion method). This method of measuring progress faithlully
depicts the transfer of the development services to the customer, as substantially il of these costs

ane cast of the stall or third parties performing the development work. In estimating the total cost to

Tully complete the develooment work, we consider aur history with similar projects.

= For agreements that combine the delivery of softwane and the obligation to deliver, in the future,
unspeciic softwane products, we recopnize revenue al a point in time for loenses that are made
immediately accessible to the customer. We recognize revenue ratably over the term of the
soitware subscription contract for the unspecified software products, as our performance oblipation
Is b staned reacly 1o delbver such products on a when-and-il-available basis,

Software stopor! revenue is typically recognized based on time elapsed and s rataly over the
term of the suppon arrangement. Under cur standardized suppon services, ow performance
obligation is to stand ready o provice technical product support and unspecified updates, upgrades.
and enhancements on a when-and-if-available basis, Our customers simultaneously recehe and
ConsuEne the beneBls of these SUpDon SEnsoes as we pedonm.

Senvice revenue s typically recognized over lime. Where we stand ready to provide the service (such
85 socess to learning content), we recognize revenue based on Ume elapsed and thus ratably over the
sefvice pericd. Consumplion-based services (such as separately identifiable consulling sendces and
premiET Suppont senices and classroom raining sendces) are recopnized over lirme 85 the senices
ane utilized, typically following the percentage-of-completion method or mtably, When using the
percentage-of-completion method, we typically measure the progress towasd complete satistaciion of
the performance cbligation in the same way and with the same reasoning and judgment as we do for
customer-specific on-premise software development agreements. We apply judgment in determining
whether a sendce quatifies as a stand-ready sendce of a5 a consumption:based sendce.

Revenue for combined pedormance obligations s recognized over the longest period of all promises
in the combined perfaormance cbligation

Judgment is alse required in determining whether revenue is 1o be recagnized ata point in tlime or
ower time. For performance obligations satisfied over fime, we need o measure progress using the
meihod that best reflects SAPs pedarmance. When using cost incurred as a measune of progress for
recognizing revenue over lime, we apply judgment inestimating the total oost o satishy the
performance obligation.

Al of the judgments and estimates mentioned above can significantly impact the timing and amaount of
revenue to be recognized.

Contract Balances

We recognize tragle receivables for perfarmance coligations satisfied over time graciually as the
performance obligation is satisfied and in ol once the imoics s dee. Judement is required in
determining whether a right o consiceration Is unconditional and thiss qualifies s a recenabile,

Contract liabilities primarily reflect involces due or payments received in advance of revenue
fecognition.

Typically, we invoice lees for on-premise standard software on contract closure and software delivery.
Periodic lixed fees for cloud subseription sendoes, soltware support sensces, and other multi-period
agreements are typically invalced yearly or quarterly in advance, Such lee prepayments account for
the majority of our contract labdity balance. Fees based on actual transaction volumes for cloud
subscrptions and fees charged for non-periodical sendoes ane invoiced as the services are delverad.
While payment terms and conditions vary by contract type and region, our terms typically require
paymient within 30 to B0 days.

Geographic Information

The amounts for revenue by region in the following lables are based on the location of customers. The
regians in the faliowing table are EMEA (Ewope, Middle East, and Africa), Americas {North America and
Latin America), and AR (Asia Pacific Jagan).
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Total Revenue by Region

€ s 0 Furel Furil
Gemrany = =u 4408 43
IRz of EMEA 2083 Bd4l 3135
EMER 14004 12509 12458
wnte States ' 10204 e 82
l.?q-,qumwm:. .1553 2.-!1:"-‘ 2.&56
Americas 12762 12227 10292
tapan ' 1243 1218 Lz
st of AP 3.1.'99 1166 2917
Arl 4441 4,384 4204
alsap Geoup ' 07 29520 26953

Major Revenue Classes by Region

o R Clovd s Softwane Reeroes
2023 sl Frl] 2023 2032 ¥l

e e .
[EMEA, 5241 4137 2196 12038 11,081 10870
AmeTicas EE42 5810 4354 10559 13458 -Fo ]
APl s L1ava 1151 537 i85S Tz
&l SAP Group 1064 11426 B 20,824 25,591 T3

For Infoemation about the breakdown of revenue by segment and segment revenue by reglon, see
e (1)

Remaining Performance Obligations

Amounts of a customer contract’s iransaction price that are allocated (o the remaining perormance
abligations represent contracted revenue that has nol yel been recognized. They include amounts
remgnizad a5 contract liakilities and amounts that are contracted but mat yel due,

The transaction price allocated 1o performance obligations that were unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied as at December 31, 2023, was €580 bitlon (December 31, 2022 €462 billion), The
transaction price thereod allocated 1o clowd performance obligations that were unsatisfied or partially
unsafistied (total clowd backiog) as at December 31, 2023, was €443 billion

{December 31, 2022 €32.4 billion). The remaining amcunt mastly comprises obligations o provide
software support sendces. The vast majoeity of software support contracts are contracts In the renewal
phase that typically have a one-year contract tesm, while cloud subscription contracts typically are
mltipie-year contracts, The partion of remaining perormance obdigations related 1o senvices consists
al non-cancelable revenes from contracts for projects with a predetined oupa,

Overall, almost hedl of the total remaining perlormance obligations is expected (o be recognized over
The nest 12 manths Tollowing the respective balance sheal date. This estimate is based on several
Tactars, For exampie, for ceain cloud business models with a contractually agreed spend volume
{consumption-based models) judgrment is applied on customers” deployment of the purchased
sojutions. The amount of the tRnsaction price allocated to the remalning performance cbligations, and
changes in this amount over timie, ane impacted by, among olhers.

Currency fluctuations

The contract pericd of our cloud and softwane support conlracts remaining at the balance sheet
date, and thus the timing ol contract renewals
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Performance Obligations Satisfied in Previous Years

Resvenue recagnized in the reponing period far performance obligations satisfied in earlier periods
was €78 million (December 31, 20022 €81 millkon), mainty resulting from changes In estimates of
varialyle considerations and changes in estimates related to percentage.al-completion-based
contracts

Contract Balances

The following table presents the activities impacting contract labilithes balances during the year ended
December 31, 2023

Contract Liabilities

£ bslligns. Flark ]
E 1712023 53
Wriredaks fesdiing from bling and Invoroes becomang tae 114
Dﬂrﬂmlew.‘.'r.n-"-urn satisfaction of parformance obligsion [ -110
k! =07
F12i30/2023 ' 50

CMha inchude, tor earmple, The et of Toieign pumency tranglation pna Duiing SomEinations and chaiitun.

The amount of revenue recognized in the repoting period thal was included in the confract liakility
balance at the beginning of the reporting peried was €4.5 blllon (Deceminer 31, 2022 €4.1 billion)

(A.2) Trade and Other Receivables

(#) Accounting for Trade and Other Recelvables

Depending on the business model, we measune rade recehvabiles and contract assets from conlracts
with customers either st amontized cost, o at e valee through other comprehensive income (OC1)
less expected credit losses, We acoount bor expected credit lesses by recording an allowance on a
portfollo basls. We apply the simplified Impairment approach, On indlial measurement of the
recesvalbies, we consicler all crecht losses that are expected to occur during the litetime of the
recevables, We use a provision matrix to estimate these losses,

Additionally, we recognize altowances lor individual recehables i there is objective evidence of credit
inpalrment,

Account Balances are written off either partially or in full if we judge that the likelihood of recovery is
remote.

For information about how the defaull risk for trade receivebles ks analyzed and managed, how the
loess, rates for the provision matrix are determined, how credit impairment ks determined and what our
criterla for write-ofis are, see the section on credit risk in Nate (E1})

In our Consciidated Income Statements, net gains/losses from expected credit loss allowances ane
included in Other operating income/expense, net. Gains/losses from fofeign cumency exchange rele
Tuctuations are included in Other non-operating incomeexpense, net.

Determining our expected credil loss allowance involves significant [udgment. In this judgment. we
primarily consider our historical experience with credit losses in the respective provision matx risk
«class and current data on overtlue receivables, Wie expect that our histoncal defaull rales represent a
feasonable approdmation for fulure expected customer defaults. Besides histarical data, our
judgment used In developing the provision matrix considens reasonable and suppartabde forwand-
|eking information (lor example, changes in country fisk ratings, and fluctuations in credit default
swens of the countries In which our customers are located),

The assessment of whether a receivable is collectible Involees the use af judgment and requires us o
maxe assumpdicns about customer cefaults that could change significantiy.
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By appéying this judgment, we record an allowance for a spediic customer when it is probable that a
credit loss has occumed and the amount of the loss is reasonabiy estimebie. Basing the expected
credit loss allowanoe for the remaining recehables primarily on our historical loss experience Likewise
reguines judgment, as history may not be indicative of future development. Also, including reasonable
and supportatle forwand-locking information in the 1oss rates of the expected credil oss allowance
reqruines [udpment, as they may nod provide a reliable prediction for future development.

Trade and Other Receivables
HF3 .1 )
of o M= Mk
L=T100 21 Cursent Tl . FII'IEtl- f-ﬂ'-rﬁ"f :rﬂhl
Tende recetiubies, st ! Ss2. 5 San 5782 . SR
Dby reCavvabiles A 153 BT 454 168 BF3
F Total 6321 203 6524 6236 159 £AD5

Contract a55e15 ane included in Other receivables inour Statement of Financial Position. Contradct
assels as al Decemiber 31, 2023, were €307 million (December 31, 2023 €343 millkan).

Far mane infarmation ataout financial risk, how vwe manage credit sk, and details of our tracke
recelvabies and contract assets allowances, see Note (1}

(A.3) Capitalized Cost from Contracts with Customers

{7 Costs of Obtaining Customer Contracts

Capitalized costs rom customes contracts are classified as Other non-financial assels in our Statement
ol Financial Positicn.

The capitalized assets for the Incremental costs of obtaining a customer contract consist of sales
COMMEssions earmed by our sates lorce and partners as well as amounts paid 1o employees with non-
sales roles when the payments meet the defintlion of belng an Incremental cost to obdaln a contract
with a customer. Judgment i reguired in determining the ameunts to be capitalized, particularly where
the commissions are based on cumulative Langets and where commissions relate to multiple
performance obligations in one customer contract. We capitalize such cumulathe larget commissions
for all customer condracts that count towards the cumulative tanget but only if nothing other than
obtaining customer contracts can contribute to achleving the cumulative target, Commissions for
cantracts with multiple performance ciligations ar for probabale rensmaals thereof e allocated to
these perdormance obligations and probatée renswals relative to the respediive standalone seiling
[,

Our sates commission payments for customer contract renewals are typically not commensurate with
the commilssions paid for new contracts. Thus, the commissions paid for renewable new contracts also
relate to expected renewals of these contracts. Consequently, we amontize seles commissions paid for
i customer contracts on a straight-dine basis ower the expected contract e including probable
contract renewals. Judgment ks required In estimating these condract lives. In exercising this judgment,
we consider our expectation aboul Tulwe contract renewals which we evaluste periodically 1o confirm
that the resutting amortization period properly reflects the expected contract life or if there are
patential indicators of impairment. Commensurate payments ane amortized over the contract term io
which they relabe.

The amanization periods range Tram 18 months to seven years depending on the type of offering.
Amortization of the capitalized costs of chtaining customer contracts s classified mainly as sales and
marketing expense. We expense the incremental costs of obtaining a customer conlract as incurred il
we expect an amontization period of one year or less,

Thie regular review of the amaortization pericds nesulted in a shorber contract [ife for on-premise
support contracts and consequently in an acceleraled amortization of costs related to these comracts.
This results, for capitalized cost of oblaining customer confracts a5 of December 31, 2023, in higher
amortization expenses amounting 1o €121 million for 2023 and approximatety €80 million for 2024,
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(Z) Costs to Fulfill Customer Contracts

Capatalized costs incurmed to fulfill customes contracts mainty consist of direct costs for set-up and
Implementation of cloud products and custom cloud development contracts as far as these cosls are
ncd in scope of other accounting standards than IFRS 15, These costs ane amonized alter completion
of the setup and implementation or the develcpment, respectivety, on a siraight-line basis over the
expected life of the cloud subscription contract including expected renewals. For the life of the
contract, we consider our expedation about future contract renewals which we evaluate perodically
o confirm that the resulting amorization period propedy reflects the expected contract (de. The
amartization periods range from five 1o elght years depending an the type of olfering. In addition, the
capitalized cosis Include third-party license fees which are amortized over the term of the third-party
license contract. Judgment is sequined in evaluating whether costs are directly related o customer
contracts and n estimating contract lves.

Amortization of capitalized costs to fulfill contracts for custom cloud applications and extensions is
inclucled in the cost of cloud.

Capitalized Cost from Contracts with Customers

23 a2
£ 4
Currerd  Mon-Cusrent Totad Current  Mon-Cuarent Towtal
Laptalized cost of obtainng
et LM 2588 1964 a7l 2EL2 84
Capitalized cost ko fulfil
& Eoniness ) ol 436 164 24 ]
wﬂuuﬂmﬂm 1,245 3,154 8800 1035 3019 A58
2B Dot resnfirancal assets 234 1573 5047 217 3580 514
Capitalized sontrac cou B '
2% ol I Oaper non-francal 53 68 T4 & 54 7L
msats
Amaortization Expense
£ iy 2023 037
WHQMMMWMMW TR | l.':':l:'_ e
A 2 Cad Do R Carstoened COMITECIS =7 23

{A.4) Customer-Related Provisions
() Expected Contract Losses

Customer-related provisions mainly include expected contract losses. We adjust these provisions as
further information becomes avallable and as circumstances change, Mon-curment provisions ane
measured at the presend value of thelr expedied setilement amounts as at the repoding date.

The unit of acoount Tor the identification of potential onenous customer contracts is based on the
contract definition of IFRS 15 including the contract combination guidance. The ecanomic benefits
considered in the assessment comprise the future benefils we are directly entitled 1o under the
contract as well as the anticipated future banefits that are the economic consequence of the contract
if these benefits can be rellably determined.

(%) Customer-Related Litigation and Claims

Customer-nelated provisions also include obligations resulting from customer-related litigation and
clalms. We are currently confronted with various claims and legal proceedings. including claims that
relate to cuslomers demanding indemnification for proceedings infiated against them based on their
use ol SAP software, and cocasionally daims that relate to customers being dissatisfied with the
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products and sendoes thal we have delivered (o them, The oiligations arising from customer-related
litigation and claims comprise cases inwhich we indemnify our customers against llabaities arsing
from a claim that our products infringe a third pany’s patent, copyright, trade secret, or clher
propeetary fights.

Due to uncertainties relating 1o these matters, provisions ane based on the best information avallable,
Significant judgment is requined in the determination of whether and when a provision is 1o be
reconded and what the appropriate amount for such provision should be. Notably, judgment is
requined in the following areas:

— Determining whether an obiigation exists

= Determining the probability of outflow of economic Denelits

— Defermining whether the amount of an obligation is reliably estimable

= Estimating the amount of the expendilure required to seftle the present obiigation

Al the end of each reporting period, we reassess the polential coligations related to our pending
«ciaims and litigation and adjust our respective provisions o reflect the current best estimate. In
addition, we monilor and evaluate new information that e receise after the end of the respective
reporting period, but before the Consciidated Financlal Statemenis are authorized for Issue, to
determine whether this provides additional information regarding conditions that exdsted al e end of
the reponing period, Changes to the estimates and assumgtions underlying our accounting for legal
contingencies, and outcomes thal difer Irom these estimates and assumptions, coutd reguing maternal
adjustments to the carrying amounts of the respeciive provisions reconded and acditlonal provisions,
The expected timeng of amounts of any cutflows of econamic benedits resulting friom these lawsuils
and claimes are uncertain and not estimable, as they generally depend an the duration of the legal
proceedings and sefilement negotistions required to resolve the litigation and claims and the
unpredictabdity of the culcomes of legal disputes in several jurisdictions.

Contingent labiities exist in respect of customer-nelated litigation and claims for which no provision
has been recognized. it is not practicable to estimate the financial impact of these contingent labilities
due 1o the uncerainties around these lawsuits and claims as outlined above,
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Section B - Employees

This sedlion provides finandal Insights into our employee benefit arrangements. i should be read in
conjunction with the compensatlon disclosures for key management personne] in hote (G5),
(B.1) Employee Headcount

The follcwing tabie provides an overnview ol employes headoount, Broken down by lunction and by
the regions EMEA (Europe, Middie East, and Africa), Americas (North America and Latin America), and

AR (Asla Pacitic Japan).
Employee Headcount by Region and Function
142023 LA 2022 A3

(RTIR B R Tl 1]

EMEL Americas ARJ Total EMEA  Amevicaz AP Total EMEL  Smencas AR Total
Chowd and softvems’ Fe ] A3G6 AT L3 0a 4178 Cnre ] 4538 12720 4551 4191 4408 131148
Seraions BITE 5013 S4Bl 1BETZ 8128 5,905 S760 10005 BG5S 5053 S84 19012
Pesemch and " T
ek 18086 S04 1T4T4 J6dAd 17764 5TSF  1L764  ISIE0 1Gag7 SEal  SL34B 33377
ﬂ:::; e 10300 53 2178 11671 10833 S4E3 0T I TZL 101585 5153 R0
Convsnrad ancd - -
TR Ao 61T b e 1,307 (At 3387 LEd 1240 HA31 3378 1866 LiE4 6308
Infrasirictu e 53 1374 BET 4575 riey =3 3 SOES 1503 1309 =L L]
SAP Group
e a0y 49180 2RSS FART 107803 47924 3BP0Z  20EB6 106302 45734 FRIM 18687 102458
Thexacl
Boquiston A2 138 a 5ER 158 13 B 3 7 i 4d 865
SAP Group
(e’ eevd iRy 3AZ3  XHSA2 106043 47388 JAVES D4R 0S3EF A4 ITAER I6009 100453
merage)

Cluse 105 e LERELBNRE S1aal Adle At iy chiris ribapc Wh Bl [ ], Pendeiidount fuomed oo 1P Cor=gad . e 0 BRI Saprle Mgy

(B.2) Employee Benefits Expenses

[ 03 v g 2
Salsres 1212 i 191
Foinl s By Snpanied i i 1_‘711:'9. I..J"j'} ].51.6-
et - QBT 22X LA3L 1A
PSRN Sapanses a3\ a7 300
Employoerelaced resiIuCing enpenses Frrd B% '}
Tesmination benefis cuiside of restructuning plers 64 a4 10
Emiployen berwlitt axpenses 16532 15,857 13447
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(B.3) Share-Based Payments

(#) Accounting for Share-Based Payments
Classification In the Income Statement

Share-based paymenls cover equity-setibed and cash-seflled swards issued to our employees The
respective expenses are recopnized as employee benefits and classified in cur Consolidated Income:
Statements acconding to the activities that the receiving employees pedorm

Valuation, Judgment, and Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

We use certain assmptions in estimating the fair values for our share-based payments, inclucding
expected share price volatility and expected dividend yields. In addition, the final number of
Perlormance Share Units {P3Us) vesting also depencds on the achievement of performance indicators.
Furthermere, the payout for cash-settied share unils depends on our share price on the respective
vesting dates. Changes to these assumptions and outcomes that differ from these assumptions could
reguine material adustments te the carrying amount of the Labilities we have recognized for these
share-baced payments. The faér value of the share units granted under the SAP Long-Term Incentive
Prograrn 2020 (LT) 2020) is dependent on our performance against the total shareholoder return (TSR)
for NASDAG-100 companies, the volatility, and the expected correlation between the TSR of the
MASDAO-100 companies and our TSR,

Regarding future payout under our cash-settled plans, the SAP share price is the most relevant factor:
With respect to our LTI 2020, we betieve that iufure payout will be signilicantly impacted net only by
our share price but also by the relative TSR performance against the MASDAG-100 companies. Future
payouts under our LTI 2020 will alse be dependent on meeting non-market-based peromance
conditions based on S5AFs long-lerm strategy. The latter, however, is not incorporated into our fair
value calculation but [eads 1o agjustments of the quantity of awands granted, Changes in these facions
could significantly alfect the estimated falr values as calculated by the valuation model, and L futune

payaut.

Urncler the OWN SAF share purchase plan, we grant our employees discounts on share purchases. As
thosa dscounts are nal dependent on luture serioes 1o be provided by our employees, the discount
i& recognized as an expense when the discounts are grantecl

Presentation in the Statements of Cash Flows

‘W presen the payments of our cash-settted share-based payment plans separately in our
Statements of Cash Flows under Cash ows from operating activities. As a resull, the changes in offwer
assets and inother labilities presented in the reconciliation of operating cash llow do not consider
share-based payment-related assets or labilities.

The operating expense Lling items in our ncome statement include the lollowing share-based payment
NN

Share-Based Payment Expenses by Functional Area

o =i izl xnn i
Lot of cloud o4 53 51
Corst of softaane lionnces anol suppot 38 48 &8
Costof ervices k] Fit £33
iy ancl chiewslpment fyi i) 440 a3
EET—— N 503 513
[P ———— ' O 137 8
EIMl.-hnsndp:m'rm'rtuupnms 2.21.1- 1431 1334

Thareod cashesattled Shs- Do L mens 806 156 LI36

Thereod equity-settled share-bamed payments 1414 10T 159

Share-based payment expenses related to the Qualtrics plan ane included fn the results from
discontinued operations (for more information, see Note (DY)

17224
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Our major share-based payment plans ae described below
a) Equity-Settled Share-Based Payments

Equity-Settled Move SAP Plan (Move)

Starting in 2022, we decided o grant share unils under Move thal we intend to predominantly seftle in
shares instead of cash, For more information about the terms and conditions of the cash-seftbed Mave,
see section b) Cash-Settled Share-Based Paymemts in this Nole (B3

Ditferent vesting schedules apply to specilic share units. Granted share units will west in different
ranches manly as follows:

Restricted Stock Units (RSUS) with sendce condition onty
Crwer a hall-year period,
Owver a threeyear period on a quarterly basis alter a waiting period of six moenths, or

Perfarmance Shane Linils (PSUS) with service candilian and upoen achieving ceran key
perdormance indicators (KFis)

Cwver a ane-year peiod,
Over a thiee-year period on a quarterly basis after a waiting period of 12 manths,

The numizer of PSUs that will vest under the different tranches is mainly continpent upen achievement
af b equally weighted KPS in the year of grant: Operating profit (nen-FRS at constant curmenses)
and Clowd revenue {at constant currencies). Depending on the weighted average performance, the
numser of PSLS vesting ranges between 056 and 2009 of the nummber inftially granted Performance
against the KP target was 112.4% in 2023 (2022 84.3%)

W intend to setthe the share units classiled as equity-settied by reissuing treasury Shanes upon
vesting {lor more infarmation, see Note (E 211

The valuation was based on the loliowing parametens and assumplions:

Fair Value and Parameters Used at Grant Date in 2023

L i cinenaien tekon {1‘0?2‘-202‘3?":::‘1
Weighbed meerage bar vadue o5 of grart date 11123
Inbarmation how fair value was measurod af grant date
‘aiLation okl used Ot
Weaghied wvage shane prics 11425
Wisghtesd verags spected diveiend yid {in %) 170
Wesghted averge intiat e 3t grart. date (i years} 17
Welgrted average remakning e of swards curstanding as at 1273872003 (in years) 11

! For thesse swancs, ths Te walue & calodstes by subtiscting espacton Tubune ohésends. it any, unill mastuiny of the respectve seand from s
evaiing share price as o fhe messurement cain
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Fair Value and Parameters Used at Grant Date in 2022

£ e e aled 11022"“!":."1;“;
Weighbed reerage Lair vadie o5 ot grart date ) . -QESD
Infarmation how fair value was measured af grand date
W aluytion Mmookl used O
Weged serage Shane pnce 9TEL
';'{'-.-ghew weerage expecied vm;mén-'a&;- e
Ve weraps intial 15 8¢ prant date [in yeac) 16
VEPOE I ramiaieing Bo of awarehs cLESIANCEng 83 8t L/3L/2023 (i yoart) 12

! i thirie peaics, this [a wilue B caltuiates by alsiacting eapencind hiuhe chacena, il any, untll maturty of th ielpectie semrnd fnom e
PG Shaie BHCH il 31 1T M driurement Catn

Changes in Outstanding Awards

ThOLASNTN. UGess dn-wwibe stated I;Z"\I.ZZ-Z‘JE'J ﬂrﬂh::\:l

13302021 Mk
Grarced? 15371
Acfpestmant beeesd upon KM barped schisement =133
Enssrrinad =150
Forfeted -4

12/H/2022 11504
rorred 13760
’ﬂj.-;!:l'm'.l" el Ly K0P L e pshidparment 11'5
el = ==
[e— 403
Changs in seathemant’ -4'_!1_

12/3/2023 [ 16530

i T CRANSS §h CLacliCBno, of S SO TS [N AG LNl Chal I PLIA WIET T Bl WBMEIN 00 S0TTHe I Shanes Lo eguly-
SHTRC 10 CaeRHTIED DECEs & Cash CUCHOW DT probable: Shal o LR with SCheo Classiication ane Consiened inThe rumbee of
grartes shace units

The welghted average share price for awands exercised In 2003 was €130.59 (2022 €920

Own SAP Plan [Own)

Linder the share purchase plan Own, employees have the oppoiuniy 1o purchase, on a monthly basis,
SAP shares without any required holding perod. The imvestment per each eligiole employee is Imited
1o a percentage of the respective employes’s monthly base salary, SAP matches the employee
irmestment by 40% and adds a subsidy of €20 per manth for non-executives. As part of SAFs

50th anniversary celebration, SAFs contribution was temporarly doubled from 0% to 50% from
January o March 2022, conlributing to the peak in 2022 This plan is not apen to memisens of the

Executive Board.

Numbers of Shares Purchased

Mo 2023 F.orr] 021
own &5 [ ¥ 57

AS & resull of Owm, v hineg commitments 1o grant SAP shanes 1o employees, We have Tullilled and
intend to continue to meet these commitments through an agent who administers the eguity-settled
programs and purchases shares on the open market

1747324
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Recognized Expense

o i Fatrk] Py Fitri
O ——————

hem 21 iy 200

Move (20372003 Tranches) 1175 768 KA,

Total 1414 1075 00

h) Cash-Settled Share-Based Payments

Cash-Settled Move SAP Plan (Move) Including Grow SAP Plan

To retain and engage execulives and certasn empioyees, we grant share unis under Move representing
acantingent right to receive a cash payment determined by the SAP shane price and the number of
share units that ultimately vest, Since 2022 we intend o setile share wunits granted from then on
predeminanly in shares. For mone information about the terms and conditions of the equity-settled
Mave, see section a) Equity-Settied Share-Based Payments in this Mote (B3} Obligations from
outstanding share units granted belare 2022 will continue 1o be setthed in cash,

From 2020 1o 2023 we granted share units under the Grow SAP Plan thal we intend to setile in cash,
This fixed term plan has broadly the same terms and conditions as Mowve and recognizes all
emplayees’ commitment 1o SAFS success, and deepens their participation in our future compamy
performance,

Ditferent vesting schedutes aoply 1o specilic share units, Granted share units uder the respective
plans will vest in different tranches, mainly as follows:

Restricted Stock Units (RSUS) with sendce condition onty

= Owerahall-year period,

v Cwer athnee-yiear period on annus! basls,

= Ower athreeyear period on a quarterly basis after a waiting pesiod of six months, aor

Pertormance: Shane Lnils (PSUS) with service conaiion and upaen achieving cerain key
performance indicators (KPis)

= Ower alfvee-year period, o
= Ower alhveasyear period an a quarterly basis alter a wailing period of 12 months,

The number of PSUs that will vest under ihe different tranches i mainly contingent upen achlevement
of bwo equally weighted KPIs in the year of grant: operating poofil (non-IFRS a1 constant curmencies) and
cloud revenue (at constant currencies) Depending on the weighted average perlcrmance, the number
ol PSUS vesting ranges between 0% and 2000 ol e numbser indially granted Performance against ihe
KIP farget wes 1124% in 2023 (2022 84.3%, 2021 1309%),

The shame units classitied as cash-seftled are paid out in cash upan westing,

SAP Long-Term Incentive Program 2020 (LTI 2020)

The LTI 2020 is 8 long-term, nndtiyear peromance- based element of our Executive Board
compensation that is granted in annual ranches. The LTI 2020 reflects 58P long-term strategy and
thus sets unitorm incentives to achieve key tarpets from the long-term strategic plans. The LTI 2020 also
serves 10 rvand [he Execulive Board memiers for long-term SAP sharge price perammance as
compared to the market, thus ensuring that shareholders' Interests are also honored. In acklition, the
LTI 2020 includes & companent ta ensure long-term retention of our Executive Boand members.

The LTI 2020 is & virtual share program under which annual ranches with a term of approsmatety four
years each are granted. When the individual tranches are granted, a cerlain grant amwunt specifiedin
the Executive Board member's service comtract |s coewerted into virtual shates (share units) For this
purpase, the grant amaund i divided by the price of the SAP share which corresponds to the
arithmetic mean of the SAF share grice on the 20 trading days after scheduled putalication of the
prefiminary resulls for the fourth quaner and the year as a whole (grant price). The shase units

175324

290/404



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

Tarihs Commbaric] Managament Cormolidared Financis, Frmhar Infonmaton Alemn Adcitions)
Stakethotders Report Slatemenis IFRS Sustainabdity Indarmation

allocated are composed of 153 Finandal Pedommance Share Units (FSUs), 173 Market Performance
Share Units (MSLis), and 1/3 Retention Share Units. All three types of shane units have & vesting period
of approximately lour years, In conftrast to Retention Share Units, FSUS and MSUS are subject 1o
changes In quantity. In this context, the following apolies:

The numier of FSLS Initially swarded is multiplied by a performance factor. The perfarmance factar
consists of three equally weighted individual performance indicatons relating 1o the three non-IFRS
KPis a1 constant currencies, derived from SAP'S long-term strategy: total revenoe, cloud revenue, and
operating income, The perfarmance period througnout which the tarpet achievement for these hvee
KPS is rmeasured starts at ine beginning of the financial year in which the FSUS are awarded and
conciudes upon the end of the second year following the year inwhich the share units werne swarded
Anumerical tangel value squaling 1009 larpet achievement i 5ot lor each KPLL This constitutes, in each
case, a cumulative value for the three years of the performance period.

20004

5
B ; Cloud revenue 4
.:ﬁ 150% Total revenue
o
5 100%%
E
*-E 0% Operating iIncome
o
a5 < ]
0 B0% Q0% 100R%s 110746 12006 130%

Target achievement

The ramizer ol WSUS initially awanded is likewise multiplied by & perlormance [acton The perdarmance
factar depends on the amount of the TSR on the SAP share, measured for an enlire pedormance
period of appraximatety thiee years, compared ta the TSR for NASDAG-100 companies. If the TSR on
the SAP share equals the median, the performance factor will be 10056 If the TSR on the SAP shane
over the perfarmance pericd is negative, the maximum pertormance factor will, however, in devistion
from the summary above, be 100%.

B o0
= 150%
)
8
-
':! .L-_-';u__
y
o

.J?:

WMo in I ot

Ranking

The perfarmance of the shane unis is linked tothe pedomance of the AP share price, Including
divithend payments. Accordingly, an amount is paid ot for each share unil which equals the SAP shane
price plus these dividends disbursed in respect of an SAP share in the period fram te beginning of
the year inwhich the share units were avarded unlil the end of the thind year lollowing the year in
which the share units were swarded The arithmetlc mean of the SAP share peice an the 20 trading
days aler scheduled pullication of the preliminary reswlts for the Iounh guaner and the year as a

176/324
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wiiole will be used as the SAP share price. The payout amound per share unil, including the dividend
amounts due on the share units, s capped at 200% of the grant price. The tranche ks cash-settled and
paic] in euras alter the Annwal General Meeting of Shareholders of the correspanding year.

It &n Executive Board member's service confract is terminated before e end of tive third year
Tollowing the year inwhich the share units were granted, the Retention Share Units and PSUs are
Toreited inwhole or in part, depending on the circumstances of the relevan resignation from office or
termination of the service contract

Long-Term Incentive 2016 Plan (LTI 2016 Plan)

The purpose of the LTI 2016 Plan was 1o rewsnd our Executive Board members far the annmual
achieverment of SAPs Operating prolit (non-IFRS at constant currencies) tlarpets, 1o ensure long-lerm
retention af our Executive Boand members, and to reward them for the long-term SAP share price
performance as compared to 1S main peer group (Peer Group) An LT) tranche was granted anruaily
and had a term of four years (2016-2019 tranches).

All share units granted in this way, comprising 609 PSUs and 40% Retention Share Units, had a vesting
period of appreedrmately four years. At the end of the vesting perice, the corespanding share unils
were non-lodeitable. The payout price used for the setiternent was the arithmetic mean of the XETRA
closing prices of the SAF share on the 0 trading days following the publication of SAFs fourth-guarter
fesulls subsequent o the end of the vesting pericd. The payout price was capped atl 300% of the
grant price. The number of FSUs ultimatety paid out was dependent an the pedormance of the S4F
share = absclute and relative 1o the Peer Group Inckse The LTI Tranche was cash-seltled and paid in
eyrcs after ine Annual General Sharefwlders' Meeting of the comesponding year, The Last LTI tranche
2019 was paid out in 2022

The vaiuation was based on the loliowing parameters and assumptions:

Fair Value and Parameters Used at Year End 2023

LTI 2020 Phzvom

i ST e sk (020033 (R00-2023
e : Trarches) Trarsches)
Weiged mvorego tair valisp a4 8 1275/2023 15424 13798
Anformation how falr waluie was msasurad Bt moaturamend dMe - - o
Valmn:nrt:-udﬂma;d ) Monie Carlo ot
Serepie T iman 148
Expectid wolatility (in %) 15 a2 KA
Exprected deidend yied (in %) P, 152
mdwm!mlﬁndmnmhmuﬂnﬂulluﬂlﬂm[h 18 o7

*For thews awatos, the la wiue b caloulates by wittracting sxpectec Tutune cidcenas. § amy, until masturty of the respective seand from S
irvisiling Shate giice il 5 Th Seruremert cate

Fair Value and Parameters Used at Year End 2022

LT 3 W

L eSS ol s e [A020-3022 (2019-7022

T Fais} Trarszhes)

Weighted average fsir valise 3s ot 12/30/2022 94.83 © gaTa
Infarmation how fair walue was maoatured ot mediunemend dste

Walistion Mo e Wanis Canlo et

Srare peica 9639 %

 Expocted wolatiy (in %) P ™

[— d’vﬂeﬂci',.:ﬂd-ir; =) T 203

mﬂ-ﬂ mEraps remaening e of awards outstanding as at 1273172022 (in 23 o8

* o Hsbe swarcs, he e valus i caloulated by subfiacting epecton Nutune chaoends, § any, untl matunty of the nespective deand from e

g shahe G an ol T MeriuneTers cile
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For the LTI 2020 valuation, the NASDAG-100 Total Return Index on Decemnber 31, 2023, was
US520,15842 (202 USH12.934.57), The expected volatility of the NASDAQ-100 companies of 34% 1o
6% (M2E 36% to 419, and the expected cormelation of SAP and the NASDAD-100 companies of
249 1o 27% (202 36% to 329%) are based on historical TSR data for SAP and the NASDACQ-100
COMPanies,

The risk-Iree intenest rate s derved from Genman govermment Donds with & similar duration, The SaF
dividend yield is based on expeded luture dividends.

Changes in Outstanding Awards
LT 2020 Pl
Thouaaans. uniess. of emwose sizied 1 X20=2023 |2019=3023
Trarchas) Trarszhasa]
123321 34\3 1843
Granted' 208 2647
Adiramant b upan K Larpe pchisament L= - 36
Exnt il @ it
Feartiatand 0 -6
12/3/2022 st 1185
Cranced s 1500
Acipriment baesesd upon KIP1 tarpet schiesement 5 =57
Bt s [ -1
Forfetsd =41 -0
Chamge in settlament® A A4
I.l;"ﬂ.fi.t'lﬂ m ;MI'H
Total carrying ameunt (in € millions) of latslxios s a1
L2303 23 w2
1230 s [
Total intringic value of veited sward {in € milliang) & m
Li;;j:ui;n B el S TR Ol 3 2
LXELM0EE 15 a
‘Wilghted averaps share price {in €) for swards oxercsed in
i L] 9735
03 WA 11786
Tﬂllupﬂrl-; {in € enilliors) pecogrizad in
e} - 1.I.3'.1
w2 8 26
s 36 764

* e T Changsn the classlieanion O 200 Shale oS B0 ndel th kcve DL wiER thi ivsial Menton Do Seths in shanes o souly:
SO 10 AT D aaE & S DUDPLOW DBCaTE [eonainie. Shal s unis Wi salched classficoation ane consicened i the numbes of
Franti shavs unis.

Share-Based Payment Balances
03 a2

Ly B

Current Hon-Current Total Canrere HoarECLament Tostal
Share-Baesd payrrent Eabilitey 855 152 Jar s2a Fal-) B3
R et rion-lingencial liskilites S48 E08 [T 4818 TS L5313
Share-Dased payment leoltes o % ™
M*ﬁw nan nancisl likiiies L] 23 11 11 &0 15
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(B.4) Pension Plans and Similar Obligations

(#) Defined Contribution Plans

Amounts for demestic and forefgn defined contribution plans are based on a percentage of the
employees salaries or on the amount of contributions made by employees. In Germany and some
other countries, we make contributions 1o public pension schemes that are operated by natianal or
{ocal government or similar institutions. Expenses lor such local state pension plans are recognized as
shor-term emploves benelis, thal is, social securily expenses.

() Defined Benefit Pension Plans

The discount fates used in measuring our post-employment benefit assets and labdities are derived
fram rates availabie on high-guality conporate bonds and govemment Bonds for which the timing and
amounts of paymenis malch the Uming and the amounts of our projected pension payments Nel
interest expense and other expenses related o defined benelil plans are recognized as employee
benefits expenses and classified in our Consolidated Income Statements according to the activities
that the empioyees owning the awards perform. Since gur domestic defined benefit pension plans
primarity consist of an employvee-financed past-ratirement plan thiat is fully financed with qualifying
insurance policles, current service cost may become a credit as a resull of adjusting the defined
benefit labdin's canrying amount to the fair value of the qualifying plan assets. Such adjustments ane
recorded in servioe cost. Total expenses on defined benefit pensian plans compyise related current
and past senics costs as well as interest income and expense.

Total Expense of Pension Plans

Crisom 023 022 091

Dafirmd coniution plan I_3131. [ ¥ 128

Dt .henﬁn pension plans 5-1 Fr) 62

Pension expenses 438 447 ¥90
Defined Benefit Plans

Present Value of the Defined Benefit Obligations (DEO) and the Fair Value of the Plan Assets

Emien Cemargtic Plars Foregn Prare. 'é'”;;:mg‘;‘; Testal
03 007 23 x22 2023 02 033 022

Present value of the DBO I_!I..Dﬂll w686 577 %6 21 2,002 1737
Falr walue of the plan assets 1063 453 672 578 58 91 1833 1673
et dhetlined baenefit Banility (asset]” a a [ 7] 5t 158 10 Firr 1
Theereo! Mt defined Beneft ai5 ¢ a -17 —if-. —£3 -} -7 -1
M-..-'l charlricd MHI' EabdLy ”{I a Bﬁl 3 ?2! ”:":' 3.'-ll. 1‘13.
zﬂhﬁd?r;m:’mx%of; Man-curent 0 = 0 = 1 = ; 5
Niet deefired beneft lability 5 % of T Noorcurment P o 18 " i1 13 P .

[
* dehioe A OCES F T dset Coling

Of the present vaiue of the DBO of owr domestic plans, €1,006 million (202% €899 million} relate o
pians that provide for lump-sum peyments not based onfingl salany; of the present value of the CEO
of cur foreign plans, €535 mililon (2022 €448 milbon) relate 1o plans that provide for annuity payments
ncd based on final salany,
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The tollcwing significant weighted average assumptions were used for the actuarial valuation of our
domestic and foretgn pension llakilities as well as other post-emaloyment benefit obligations as at the
respective measurement date:

Significant Actuarial Assumptions
Onthsr Foresgn Povst-
Dermestic Plans Foreign Flana
Ferrey i Employrmen iPlars
2033 riErr] 021 0z3 oL rr el 023 prokrd 2001
' " —
Didcoort rate EL] a3 ] 20 28 as 53 a5 A

The sensithity analysis table below shows how the present value of ail defined benefit coligations
wauldd have been influenced by reasonably possitle changes Lo signilicant actuarial assumptions. The
sensitivily analysis considers change in discount rate assumptions, holding all other actuarial

assumptions constant,
Other Foreign Poss-

Dpmeits: Plar Fareign Flana Empl Plans Tortal
023 202 gL 2023 2003 M1 2023 a3 031 023 02 209
1Ms ] 1134 L] e ] 247 203 208 1811 LELE 1864
1108 3 1360 T 562 714 w6 219 m 2101 LTM 1106
Investments in Plan Assets
Owr imestmient strategy on domestic benefit plans s to ivest all contriutions in stable Insurance
policies,

Our inesirmient strategies for loredgn benelll plans vary according 1o the conditions in the country in
which the respective benefit plans are sitiuated, We have adopled a long-term imvestment harizan for
&l major foreign benefit plans. Althowgh our policy is to imest in a risk-gdiversilied partfolio consisting of
a mix of assets, bath the defined benelit obdigation and plan assets can lluctuate over time, which
exposes the Group to actuarizl and market (nvestment) risks. Depending on the statulory
necuuinemients in each country, it might be necessary to reduce any underfunding by acdition of lguid

assefs
Plan Asset Allocation
2023 22
eyl Guotedinan NotQuotedinsn  Cuotedinan Mol Dusted in an
Acthee Market Acthon Marked  Acte Markst Athe Matkat
Total plan Fisms T 110 611 1012
Treeraol: Asees calagony
Ecquity imvesimants 150 o 170 a
Corporats bordy bt L He ] o
LR policir ] 1130 dl 1o
180v3z4
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Our expected cantributicn in 2024 to our domestic and foreign defined benefil pension plansis
inmaterial. The weighted duration of our defined benefit pians amounted to 10 years as at
Decemiber 31, 2023 and 2022

Total tuture benetit payments trom our defined benefit plans as at December 31, 2023, are expeded
1o be €2, 707 million (2022 €2 404 million). Of this amount, 76% (H02X2: 75%) hawve maturities of over five
years, and 55% (2022 61%) relate to domestic plans.

(B.5) Other Employee-Related Obligations

() Accounting Policy

As far as the obligation for long-term employvee benefits Is secured by pledped reinsurance coverage, it
is. oftset with the relating plan asset.

Other Employee-Related Liabilities

2023 o e
e Curment Won=Cunngmi Total Cunmaprt  Boni=Cuimsng Testad
Other employeo-related Babilies 4205 545 4751 3632 436 e
{ mwn-r.-‘.m_mal'..alrcm 10 =28 6245 4318 ra aha3
(K S s el Bl o T4 by 75 T 6 7

% of I Ceher non-financial Babdites

Other employee-refated liabilities mainly relate o obligations from bonuses and sales commissions,
oukstanding vacation, time credits accumulated in the working time account, employee-related social
seCuUrty expenses, severance paymenis oulsice restructising peograms, and jubilee expenses.

(B.6) Restructuring
(#) Recognition of Restructuring Provisions
Wi iy recognize provisions for restructuring if and when the lollowing occurs:

- SAP has cesigned a program thal materially changes the scope of ane of our BUSinesses of the
manner in which the business is conducted, and

- Adetailed and documented restreciuring plan has been approved by our Executive Board, 8
member thereol or a direct report of an Executive Boerd member, and

= The program established is planned to start shortly after the program plan s approved and s
expected o be compileted in a limeframe thal makes significant changes ta the plan unlikely, and

- The program has been anounced to the partles affected or has commenced.

‘We consider whether a change in business is material based on the business alfected rather than lor
SAP a5 & whole. In judging whether a uni gualilies as a business for restructuring purposes, we
consider il the unit has s own management team, has access 1o all inputs and processes necessary o
provice outputs, and generates or could generate revenues. The materfality of a change to a business
Is assessed based on bath the size and the nature of the change and therefone does nol necessarily
Invalbve 2 material guantitative impact on our tinancial statements.

Restructuring Expenses
Lmssm 2023 2022 Faral
[Employee-related restiLCTUNg Sogenses S F Iy =55 =

Do contract-related restruciuning experses and

EEA LT - el e e loaes a i =132
&l Restructuning sxpoenses =i -1 187
181324
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hiast of the restructuring expenses recognized in 2023 relate to the targeted restructuring program in
selected areas of the company that 4P announces and launched in the first quarter of 2023 to further
festurs on s strategic growth areas and accelerated cloud transformation. Restructuring expenses
primarily include employee-related benefits such as severance paymenis. The restruciuring costs
presented in 2022 mainly include expenses related o the wind-down of Business in Russia and
Belaris.

I net presented separately in our income statement, restruciuning expensas would have been
ciassified in the different expense items in our Inceme statement as follows:

Restructuring Expenses by Functional Area

o =i Hiza Fairk] =
Lot of cloud " 20 =137
Corst of woltaand ioansed, ared Suppot =A -4 -
Costof raied -1 -1 -13
iy Ancl chirewl et —-!.2 -.li- =12
St e Firkebing =111 -58 k|
Gl sl achTrrisayation ] -.Lé =4 -;'.
ol Restruciuring expensos =215 =138 =157
182324
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Section C - Financial Results

This sedlion provides insight into the financial resulis of SAFs repartable segmenis and of SAP overall
a5 far &s not already covered by previcus sedtions, This includes but s not imited to segment results,
incame taxes, and earnings per share,

(€.1) Results of Segments

General Information

At year end 203, SAP had five operating segments that are regulary reviewed by the Executive Board,
which is responsibie kor assessing the performance of the Company and for making resource
allocation decislons as cur chief operating decision-maker (CODM). The operating segments are
larpely crganized and managed separately according to thelr produd and senice offerings. The
Applications, Technology & Sendces (ATS) segment is S4Fs only reportable segmenl

In the first quarber of 2023, the non-repartabile SAP Signavio segment was dissobved and integrated
Into the Applications, Technology & Senvices segment

Al the end of the second quarter of 2023, we sobd our stake in Qualtrics, a formerly repanable
segment. Far more Information about the sale of Qualirics, see Mote (DU}

Due to thelr size, the lollowing segments are non-repartable:

The Emarsys segment derives ils revenues mainky fram the sale of doud-based customer
experience offerings and from the sale of related services.

The Taulia segment derbees its revenues mainly from the sale of warking capital solutions.

The Business Network segment combines SAP's network offerings, covering procurement. logistics,
asset management, and industry-specific sclutions spanning end-to-end value chalns. The segment
generates revenues from cloud application subscriptions, transactional fees, and services.

The Sustainability segment bundles a portfolio of sustainability-related solutions that enables SAFs
custamers o recond and repon financial and non-financial metrics and act on improwing theeir
sustainability footpeint across all ESG (Environmental, Social and Govemnance) dimensions.

The segment information for 2023 and the comparative prior periods were restated 1o confarm with
the new segment composition.

() segment Reporting Policles

Our management reporting system, and henoe our segment repoing System, reports our
intersegment services as cost reductions and does not track them as internal revenye. intersegment
serices mainly represent wilization of human resources of one segment by another segment on a
project basis. Intersegment senices are charged based on internal cost rates including certain indinect
overhead costs but excluding a profit mangn,

Mast of our depreciation and amortization expense affecting segment prolfits is allocated to lhe
segrnents as part of broader infrastrocture allocations and is thus not racked separately on the
aperating segment level. Other depreciation and amortization expense & directly allocated to the
operating segments,

Our management reporting system produces a varety of reports that differ by the currency exchange
rates used in the accounting for foreign-curmency transactions and operations, where both actual and
constant currency numbers ane reported 1o and used by our CODM, Reports based on atiual
Curenches use Lhe SBme clfmendy rales as ane used In our financial statements. Reports based on
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canstant currencies repor revenues and expenses using the average exchange rates from the previous
year's cormesponding perod,

‘We use an operating profit indicator lo measure the performance of our opeating segments. The
accounting policies applied in the measuremnent of operating segment expenses and prafil giffer as
Tollows from the IFRS accounting principles used o determine the operating profit measure in cur
income statement:

The expense measunes exclude;

- Acquisition-related charges such as amosization expense and impalrment charges for intangibles
acquired in business combinations, including goochwill impaimeent changes, and certain stand-alone
acquisitions of imetlectual property (Including purchased in-process msearch and development) as
well a5 sale/disposal gang and losses for these Intanpibles, settlements of pre-existing business
relationships in consvection with a business combination, and acquisition-related thirg-party
EYDENSES

Share-based payment expenses
- Restructuring expenses
Regsatary compliance matter expenses
SAP headquarter functions which are exclusively manaped on corporate level, such as finance,

accoanling, legral, human resources, global business cperations, and corporate marketing, are not
Inciuded in the results of our repartable segments.

Revenues and expenses of our operating but non-reportable segments, and the cerain acthilies
managed on corporate level, as outlined above, ane presented under the Other revenue and Other
expenses items inlhe reconciliation in kote (C21

Inbarmatian abodl assets and liabdities and addflions 10 non-current assets by segmenl is nol regulady
provided to cur Execdive Board, Goodwill by segment s disciosed in Mate (D2,

Applications, Technology & Services

023 o) 2

b Actual Constant Actual Coresant Actual
Cowocy  Cumwncy  Cuowey  Comency'  Cumenoy
Skad, : 2120 L. sl AT . Jou
St Loy §TE 1801 FIES L%72 3zaa
Soﬁ\;;.l.e:.l.p:pﬂ:'! !I-.I.'ﬁ_ 1!.;1- 1ra0s l‘LE;E! 11411

Softwars loenses and wpnoa 128 13582 13584 13338 laf%a

Cloud and softadne HTaT Jals 2 Faiei] 22600
Seraoes 42080 308 4104 aEn 5%
Total segraent ;'an.li J0.057 S um Mﬁl mﬁ
Contof doua T a3 %S -307 2606
mmelicmmnﬂ T 1% e ~1748 =143

Cost of clod and softwang =4 971 =5 078 w505 =4 30 =4137
Cioaf of sensoes =2 581 =348 =1 555 =2708 =453
Total comt of revenue =795 B Frd =T34 =7 030 -4,%80
erm prali mlﬂ za.m- ?ﬂ.ﬂl- 1.9\.'!31 1n5e0
T j lizmd izen2 mm -tld456 1oz
Segmentprots asu 10119 BA2 B 472 8300

ey S0 Bl S SLRTANGY AFRUERE Al Sfily SOmBaralili 1o 0D botusl Suiehsy SMcuntl 2000 coratin Sutihly MGl e Sy
Enparalle e 2001 Ao SRR BTG

Directly allocated depreciation.and amortization expense in the ATS segment decreased comparned o
2022 by 339 (22% at constant currency) from €639 milllion to €491 milion.
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Segment Revenue by Region
EMEA Amerlcas B Total Segment Revenus
i 023 FLERF ] 20X A2 2023 aerrs 2033 22

Agctual CorsLang il Aetual Cardrant ATl Actuis]  ComsLan Al ACTUE]  ConstanT Actil
CLErency Currency Curency Cumency  Cumency Cumency Curnéncy  Cuimency Curency Currency Culmency  Cumency

Applications,
Tachrolagy HE L 1373 LIELE Hrl 17893 LLEG a1 b o4 T HTET AT AN
B Seniors
Toial
reporiable 13645 13,736 12610 17090 12453 11,606 &350 4634 4,280 30057 30,853 28406
segmarts
EMES Arrvericas AFRJ Total Segment Revenue
Ko Flerrd 2L 2022 201 Flirrs orril Flirrs FLival
Actupl  Constant At Actual  Constard Aol Actupl  Consmard  Acnul Actusl  Corsant Al
Currensy  Curmency Cunency Cuirenty  Cuwfrendy Curency Curréncy Cuerenty Curency Curfendy Cuifency Currendy
Applications.,
Tachriogy L2a1n L235F 12357 11606 1356 0 4260 4253 40m 406 M5051 2610
B Senvigey
Toal
repartable 12610 1z 338% 12367 11,606 10,386 DEFE AFE0 4193 4077 ZEADE TEOEL 26110
Segmama

For a breakdown of revenue by region for the SAP Group, see Note (A1)

{€.2) Reconciliation of Segment Measures to the Consolidated Income Statements

201 202 il
. Actual Constant Actual Constart Actual
Currency Currency* Cumency Curmency CLETEncy
Totsl segmsent rovirnie fof reponable segmants 057 53 o a1 26,110
Ot e 1150 Lisd L e k=]
Aa,mrm"r'm LTy ITpace -I:I -SE;S ) ] 1 M.'CI |:|
Ml Taital Faviniig I.207 3207 29520 0520 26053
Total segr profit for rep Lo Sogments A1 10,148 Baia BATE 9,308
Other pevenios 11850 (51 v} plirrn] a3 783
Dther experoes -2 =235 - L5y -1.74] -1
l\.s.-t\u:l:"n-.rﬂ B cur ey Fnpact ] -2 I.:- a0 U]
e G T . -
Accyiesithon-relabed changes =H5 =25 =329 =32 405
Srare-bamad paryTment Sperass =220 Erler )] =1431 =1431 =1334
ol Restnenring =15 =215 L33 128 =157
Acirstment for regulabony oompBance Matber expenses =1%% =055 o a o
ail Dperating profit 57 787 Boe0 [T 6,08
ol Otheer raon -opesting oo supenne, net ] -] -187 -187 14
.H+.-n.n:m wonene! - —s5 456 ~13689 =1 P .i'.l-'-‘-ﬁ
ol Profit befors tas frem continuing operations 5341 5341 am13 4513 8505

T ST SO SRy BGURES Ao Gy SOSEANANHE 16 J0T stus] Suttehly AitRRE EAEIAE SRttty STl She Sfly COMBAEEGE S MU Sl LR
! T 322 X i o r ] h 20
BRI
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(€.3) Other Mon-Operating Income/Expense, Net

L milans 2023 prsrd 2321
Foretgn ourrency exchange gaen/ oo, net &5 =144 H1
Thereod from firancal assets at fak value thiough ¥
pooit o lnas T | 545 116
Tharead from firandial assets ot amorntized oot 56 Fall 111
Thereod from firancal Sabibtes o e valbue thigugh = 2 E
PO of ks e T 2
Tharaod from firancial Sabities ot amontized oot =30 -B8 14
Macellanesus oomeecpenss, net =38 —44 -32
al Oeher non-openating income/expense, net ] -1a7 1

(C.4) Financial Income, Net

£ e 023 i) i d |
—
[Fnance incomas By a1 3173
Tharsad irerest rooms from Enancis] et m
s s 100 =

i fh-emdg,ar\r. from francal assets at far valus
throusgh profit of loss

Fnance coms -133 —2.200 o]

Thereof [osses iom Snancal assets ot fai value

PPreugh prolt o¢ logs . . . 515 —La0e 654
Thersod interest expense from financial labdises o
- =&00 = =155
Thisd it dnpirie T hingnc il skl s o
for waliie throwgh profi o [oss =& o =%
&l Finaneinl incoma, nee =456 =1,389 2178

Financig income, net, increased €934 million i 2023, in compansan 1o 2022, mainly due o
Lenwer net Losses fram the fair valuation of our equity imvestments (E2.049 miilian),

An increase in interest income due toa higher market interest rate level applied to a higher volume
ol interest-penerating imesiments (€276 milion) which is partially offset by an increase in menest
expiEnses on our financial debt (E~197 milion) (for mose inflormiation, see MNote (E 310, and

Anincrepse in inferest expenses from cerivalives [E=170 miltion), manty nomm the deal contingent
ferwand held in connection with the Qualtrics disposal (for more information, see Mote (E11L

(€.5) Income Taxes
) Judgments and Estimates

W arer subject to changing tax Laws in multiple juriscictions within the countries in which we operate.
Our ordinary business activities also Include transactions where the ultimate tax cutcome is uncertain
due 1o different interpretations of tax laws, such as thase involving transler pricing and intercampany
transaclions between SAP Group entities. In addition, the amount of income laees we pay is generally
subject 1o ongoing audhis by domestic and forelgn ta autharities, In delermining our wondwide
incame tax provisions, judgment is involved in assessing whether 1o consider each uncerain lax
treatment separately or topether with one cr more other uncertaln tax treatmends and whether to
refiect the respective effect of uncertainty based on the mast likely amount o the expected value. In
applying these judgments, we consider the nature and the incividual facts and circumstances of each
uncertain ta treatmient as well as the speclics of the respective jurisdiction, including apglicatde tax
lavrs and our Interpretation thereof
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The assessment whether a deferred tax asset is impaired requires judgment, as we need 1o estimate
future taxable profits to determine whether the uillization of the deferred tax asset is probable. In
evalusting our ability to utilize our delermed tax assets, we consider all svadable posiive and negative
evidence, including the level of historical texable income and projections for future taxabie income
ower the pericds in which the deferred tax assets ane recoverable. Qur judgment regarding lulwe
taxable income is based on assumptions about future market conditions and fulure profits of SAR

Judgment is also required in evaluating whether interest or penalties related to income taxes meet the
definition of income taxes, and, If not, whether if is of finencial nature. in this judgment, we particularky
consickr applicatle local tax Laws and interpretations on IFRS by national standard setters in the area
of group financial reporting.

Tax Expense by Geographic Location

£ miEore 0y 2002 2
Cuirent Lax expense

Garrany e 819 ]
Faign 1356 1165 1366
7‘“!;“““1“] L e Lm 1.4 150
Dofered tax expenseincome

Gamany 7 P 108
Fareign - 341 -
Total dederned L Income =211 =258 =Z87
Ml Total ncomss tax expense 1741 1445 182
Major Components of Tax Expense

£ 2023 2003 2001
J;;:uum: LO epenSe/i moomes .
T espeevese S corrent et 1934 Ly 12
Tamirs, for pioe yeusrs i7 -13 267
Total curent Lax eepense 1.952 1,704 15458
Dl cl 1 e

mration I;"kl rnvrﬁl.d-.en-fw;u-:.- L -3‘22‘ —u" 16 -3-11
Wbt Lice [erk2, raramanety bl vl Sxpmant 185 SacEs, a0l i 47 24
Soarelpn bax credits

Tnlul;dﬂ.lﬂ'ldbllhm T -2'.“.- =758 =TET
ol Toseail ECOmeD R e pentie 1741 1,846 182

Profit Before Tax by Geographic Location

s 2003 2072 oL
Gy a0 LAald 2067
Foreign 4140 20653 6453
&l Tatal 5341 4513 8505

The folicwing table reconciles the expected Income tax expense, computed by applying our
comiined German tax rale of 26.5% (2022 264%: 2021 26.4%:), 1o the actual income tax expense, Our
2023 combined German tax rate Includes a corpoarate Income lax rate of 15.0% (2022 1509%;

2021 15.0%), plus & solidarity surcharpe of 5.5% (2022 5.5%: 2021 55%) (hereon, and [race Laxkes of
10.7% (2022 1006%:; 2021: 106%)
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Relationship Between Tax Expense and Profit Before Tax

S, U Ol REWSE LS 2023 2032 2021
o] Profit bisfore 1 rom ot idng operatioes P et At
Taod efiect of
Foregn ta rates 210 -134 -143
Peoraechuctible eupenses 2481 L 141
Pas-swempdt ncome T P -3
Withiusl kg taes 2497 176 1w
Rargaanh aeed cirvelopimand andl ansgn the Credits =& =g =73
Pric T [t =B i 13
Assaiamnt of deferred i st edimarch and geelopment 138 174 3%
b creciis, o forespn bas credits
Cithes A =20 -3
il Total bncomes Gax expense i 1440 14882
(Eftoctive Lax rato {in %) ne ] 188

Components of Recognized Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

£ 2023 20
Delemed 1ax assots
rtargible asaats 1074 1A
Proapenty, plint, S acpipmesnt 37 Ky
Legies e 03
<:.va:r gl aigets T .i.’l
Temahe ot rd-c--;\.iw =a:| a1
Ponsonprovisons 211 203
Shwe-besed pryments 7 Fr. ]
Cthir provisions. and obligations =] 753
Contract kabiltees LFE] i
Carnyforwands of unused Lim o 147 180
R pncl chiewlopmind Sl Tosefin Tax cradit A 110
Ot 7o 13
Total dederned tax xssets (gross) u.w 4303
Methng nZQJ-I =31208
I Total deformed tax assets [net) 219 208
Defermed 10 Habiithes
Earaphle iy 51 IS
’.’\lﬂ”’!lh'.ﬁl-"". el spepeent o 105
Lessnd M: a7
Chver firancal asseis 1:5‘5 1.?\l:i
Teade and other recesables Ml 263
Penshon prowisions a3 n
Oithey prowissoms. and obligations 245 268
My =" 326
Total deforrod tax Fabilities {gross) 2269 2440
Hetting 2004 _2208
I Tostal cheturred ta Uabsiities {nat) 268 241
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The decrease in deferred tax assets lor contract liabilities and the decrease In delerred tax Habilities
T intangible assets mainly resull from the divestiture of Cualtrics,

The Increase in defermed lax assets for ather in the amount of €236 milllcn (2022 €169 millien) and in
deferred tax Hatbilites bor trade and other recehvabies in the amount of €492 million

{2022 €288 millian), as well as the decrease in deferred tax Fabilities for other in the amount of

€202 million (2022 €140 million ), mainty resull from reclassifications, leading 10 & mone consistent
presentation of the companents of recognized delermed tax assels and liabilities. The presentation for
2022 remains unchanged in this respect.

Items Not Resulting in a Deferred Tax Asset

o misons Fuorad 202 =
Unused tax loases

Blot epiing 151 k7L ai:
[Epning in the Sldraing year ] 14 o6
Exprirg afte the following yess - a#s 344 "
Total unsed tax losses T &7 765
Unused rescarch and development and farelgn tax crodits ol B

Mot axpiring = a .}
[Expring afper the Sxiknwving year 5 ol n
Total urrsed tas credits l-i- Fal an

OfF the unused tax losses, €181 million (2022 €276 million; 20212 €183 million) relate 1o LS state tax
lpss carmyforwarnds.

‘We have not recognized a deferred tax Habidlity on approximately €£22.15 billlon (2022 €28.51 billion)
T undistribubed prodits of our Subsidianies, DECIUSE we an in d position 1o control the timing of the
reversal of the temposary difference and it is probalble that such diflerences will not reverse in the
feweseeabile fullre,

Income Tax-Related Litigation

W are subject fo ongoing lax audits by domestic and foreign tad autherities, Currently, we ane in
dispute mainty with the German and only a few forelgn tax authaorities. The German dispute s In
renpect of certain secured capital Ivestments, while (he few loneign dispules are manly in respect ol
the deductibility of intercompany royally payments and intercomgaany services. In all cases, we expect
ihat & favorable cutcome can anly be achieved through litigation. For all of these matters, we have not
recorded a provision as we believe that the tax authorities’ claims have no merit and that no
adjustment is warranied, If, contrary 1o our view, the 1ax authorities were to prevail In their anguments
bedore the court, we would expect 10 have an additional expense of appradimately €1 815 million
{2022 €1L60T milllon) In total (including related interest expenses and penalties of €1.003 million
{2022 €881 miltion))

Reform of International Taxation Rules

In Crctober 2021, over 135 jurisdictions agreed on a new framework for the international tax system
covering (he re-gllocation of taxing rights and the introduction of a globe! minimum corporate tax rate.
In December 2021, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development {OECD) released
mace] rules, which shatl ensure that multinational enterprises with revenue above €750 millicn will be
subject to a 15% minimum corpsorate Tax rate. In Decembear 2022, the Member States of the Ewopean
Unian (EU) edopted a directive on a global minimunn level of taxation for multingtional enterpaise
groups and large-scale domestic groups in the EU By ihe end of 2023, Germany transposed the EU
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directive into national Law, applicable for fiscal years beginning after December 30, 2023, SAF has
performed an assessment of its potential exposure 1o the global minimum tax legislation, This
assessment is based on our current waderstanding of the global minimum taxation rules and on the
meast recent information avaflabie regarding the financial performance of the conslituent entities within
SAR Cur simulation reveals that SAP showld not be materially affected, SAP has applied the temaonary
mandatony exception to recognizing and disclosing Infarmation about deferred tax assets and
liakilities related 1o the global minimum tax.

{C.6) Earnings perShare

o WD, UPLESS DV SLHE 2023 ki rairh g
Prody sk aakle 1o scuy Bolden of 8P SE . 1534 3277 B0
Profn; st Aatle 10 mi;’yW.dEAPSE' E.II:-N 2784 L5I5E
I!!u&dﬂ-‘ﬂmi‘r‘m" ) LIE9 1283 1339
[Effect of treasusy shares’ =&l =58 49
Wighted mvage shires cuttanding. s’ 187 1im Libg
el ugive affact of sham-Bated pugraents’ 12 ] a
-..'m@:;\p.1h;u:gt-\.rm:;m:;.¢ual;tng et |--3.5;:.‘ 1175 L8
Earnings por shase, basic, sributable 16 equity holders of AP SE (in €) ) ] T
from contirming operations
Eamlnglpﬂ:.mw.h-'-c.llmmr!lmlurqmtrhnlmnlﬁﬂ‘sm:htr 5315 159% .85
iﬂmlnﬁp;_ulf_ihlﬂ\.dunlﬂrwmwlt}'mﬂiﬂﬂﬂ{hl] 108 279 5,45
frem contiring cporations
Earnings per share, diluted, atiribanable to ecuity holders of SAP SE [in €)° 520 194 4,40
* From oonfincing snd l:-smnl-'l..-m oatons. . B
! Kb of shates in millicns
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Section D - Invested Capital

This section highlgts our non-current assets including imestmenis that form the basis of cur
operating scthaies. Acdithons o imested capitel include separate assel acquisitions or business
cominations, Further, we disclose information about purchase abigations and capial contributions.

(D.1) Business Combinations and Divestitures
() Measuring Non-Controlling Interests and Allocation of Consideration
Transferred

‘We decide for each business combination whether to measure the non-controlling interest in the
acquires al fair value or at the proportionate share of e acquiree’ identifiable net assets.

‘We classify costs retated 1o executing business combinations as general and adménistration expense,

In our accounting for business combinations, judgment is required In determining whether an
intanginle assel s identifiable and whether it should be recorded separately from goodwill,
Additionally, estimating the acquisition-date fair values of the identifiable assets acquined and latilties
assumed involves considerable judgment. The necessary measurements ae based on information
availabie on the acquisition date and are based on expectations and assumplions that have been
deemed reasonable by management, These udpments, estimates, and assumplions can materially
affect aur linancial pesition and prafit far several reasans, including the foblowing

- Fair values assigned lo assels subject to depreciation and amartization affect the amounis of
depreciation and amoriization o be recortded in operating peofil inthe periods following the
acojuistion.

= Subsequent nepalive changes In the estimated falr values of assets may resuit in soditional
expense from impairment charpes,

- Subsecuent changes in the estimated fair values of liabilites and provisions may result in additional
expense il increasing the estimated fair value) o additional income (i decreasing the estimated fair
value]

W acquine businesses In spediic areas of strategic Intenest o us, pamiculady o broaden our produect
and service portfolio.

2023 Acquisitions

LeaniX Acquisition

On Seplember 7, 2023, SAP announced s intent to acguine 1008 of the shares of Leanl GmbH
{*LeanX™) & leader in enemrise archilecture management (EAM) scitware,

The acquisition clased on Mavemiber 7, 2023, fotlowing satisfaction of customary closing conditions
and regulatory approvals the operating resulls and the 355615 and liabilities ane refiected in our
Censolidated Financial Statements staing on that date.

The acouisition B expected 1o further expand SAP's business transtarmation portiolia, gving
customers access (o the full suite of tools required for continuous business transiormation and
Tacilitating Al-enalied process optimization.

Consideration transterred amounted to €1,231 milliom paid in cash,

192224
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The following table summarizes the values of identifable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
connecticn with the acquisition of Leankx, as at the acguisition date:

Leanl¥ Acquisition: Recognized Assets and Liabilities

£ il
Focgtinsans i %
Oihar ke iable paseds 102
Total kiernifiable assets w78
Exttet kierifiabs lisbiiies 14
Toeal idernitiaile liabiies T4
Total ideraifiaile ret assots 364
L=t B ) 35?.
Total consideration trantlened 130

Aswe are still obtaining the information necessany to Identify and measure certaln assets and
liailities, mainly tex-related ibems, the initial accounting for the Lean!, Dusiness combination is SI8)
Incomplete.

In general, the gooctwill arising irom our acguisitions conssts langely of the synergies and the know.
howr and skills of the acquired businesses” workforces.

Lean(x goodwill was aftributed to expeded synengies lrom the acguisition, particularly in the Ballowing
aregs

— Cross-selling to exdsting SAP customers across all reglons, using 54Fs sales organization
= Creating nevw offerings by combining Leank products and SAP products

- Leanl® complements ihe transtormation capabilities of SAP Sipnavio solutions and will ghve SAP
custamers unique clanity on the [T landscapes they need to neap the Tull benedit of business
transformation

The allccation of the goodwill resuiting from the LeanlX acquisition to our operating segments
depends on how car operating segments actually benefit from the synergles of the Leanl® business
combination For more information, see hote (0.2

Impact of the Business Combination on Our Financial Statements

The amouwnts of revenue and profit or loss of the LeantX business acquired In 2023 since the
acquisition dete were included in our Consolidaied Income Statement for 2023 as lollows:

" 2023 Ciontribution of

£ rilliorn &1 Repored Lapanily.
—

ol s T 1a

&l Prodit afver tax 5,064 -

Had LeanlX been consolicated as ot Janeary 1, 2023, our revenuée and profit alter tax for 2023 would
nct have been materially different.

2023 Divestitures

Qualtrics Disposal

On March 13, 2023, resulling from a process that was initisted on January 26, 2023, SAP announced it
had agreed tosell all of its 423 million shares of Quallrics International Inc. as part of the acquisiticn of
Dualirics by funds affiliated with Silver Lake &5 well a5 the Canada Pension Plan nvesiment Board, The
sale closed on June 28, 2023, following satistaction of customany closing conditions and regulatony
approvals, Al a purchase price of LISSLE15 In cash per share, SAFs stake was acouired for

193324
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approcdmately USST.7 billlon. To secure the ewro countervalue of the US$7.7 billlan purchase price, we
hedped an amount of LiIS$7.1 billion by entering info a deal contingent forward applying net
invesiment hedge acoounting. For mare infarmation, see Mote (E11 Al the time that Cualtrics was
classilied as a discontinued operation (following IFRS 5], there was no indication of an impairment (as
The Tair value less oost of disposal (Calculated based on share prices) sgndficantly exoeeded (he
canrying amount)

SAP % a close po-to-markel and technology panner far Qualincs.

SAPS Tinancial results present Quallrics as a discontinued operation as required under IFRS B The
Qualirics disposal group was previously included inthe Qualtrics reportaile segment.

The pre-tax disposal gain included in discontinued operations (E3.562 million) was calculated by
adjusting the purchase price less the cost of disposa! (€7,003 million) for net assets leaving the

SAP Group (E5,800 million, consisting mostly of goochdll (EAD0T millian) and other intangble assels
(€129 million)), the corresponding non-controlling Interests (€2,337 milllon), and amounts of cther
comprenensive income (22 million). SAP incuried taxes amounting to €793 miltien in connection with
the transaction.

Thie cash inflow resulting rom the pachase price (E7.088 million) was olfsel by cash and cash
eqguivalents of £713 millicn leaving the SAF Group.

SAP conlinues to provide rental guarantees for cenaln offices used by Guaitrics. Qualtrics s obligated
1o indemnify SAP with respect to the guarantees.

Additional financial information relating to Qualtrics is presented in the following taties (revenues and
expenses are presented after consolidation of transactions between Qualtrics and SAP: continuing
aperationsk

g, it ch e stated Fl=r ] 202

Consolidated Income Statements

Cloud revers [¥) | 1129
Terlal revarss 745 1351
Comtof clova 5 205
Toral e of rrverest a
Total operating expenses (incluging toaal cost of revernss] = 27
bepac.i.p:-rtb-t.;m;\e e . ) - . a
Opeating profit =1 430
Proft (loss) befora fax -1423
BratTn 1A ecpers” il
[T — i 130
[T T ——— 093
s pee shave, basc (IFRS, in € E 715 —gas
En;;pperm:mt..dlm-diiﬁs.nij' ?_'L? —0.85
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

Netophsirgcah ol ' 122 2
[T ——— 5510 e
Hn'rmnuﬁ-g_umﬂm —I-I -2’53.

e 2003, D million nelities 10 Thi Ak on Labe of GHCOREINU Sfie Mt
Vi 2003 ansl 300, tha waslgbes anet i P of shaedes wird §,LET millesn {olutoo § EB0 millen) o L1700 relihes (ol § TS o),
e pacireedy (reasury B0k ancluoedl

Total operating expensas includes share-based payment expenses related to Qualtrics' equity-settled
planof €403 million in 2023 (€1,182 millicn in 2022,

194,324
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2022 Acquisitions

In 2022, wee closed the acoquisition of Taulia Inc, San Francisoo, Califoonia {USA) ("Taulia™) and of
INMAAS s, Rome (falyl

Taulia Acquisition

On January 27, 2022, SAP announced its intent to acquire a majority stake of Taulia (far information
about SAFs current shareholding percentape, see Mote (G9)), a leading provider of cloud-based
warking capital management selutions. The acquisition closed on March 9, 2022, lollowing satislaction
of customary closing conditions. and regulatony approvals; the opeating results and the assets and
llabilities ave reflected in our consolidated linancial statements starting on that date.

Consideration transferred amounted to €705 milllon

The lolicwing table summarizes the values of identifiable assets acquired and liabiities assumed in
connection with the acquistion of Tawia, &5 al the acguisition date:

Taulia Acquisition: Recognized Assets and Liabilities

L, e

l'.l.'.w;nlnzmn 157
Dt icdereiinle b5s2s a7
Total kdertifianle assets 2t
ity iberefintie Gabebies B
Total kierifiable labilities

Total kernifiatle s assets 156
—— =

Pricyf to Decemiber 31, 2022, we completed our accounting assessment retating to the supply chain
Timancing (SCF) transactions offered by Taulla. Based on the setup ol the compantments and series
withan wivich the SCF receivalies and labilties ane stoed, and on the related contractual snd lounding
agreements, we concluded thatl we do not control the recelvables and Habilities resulting from the SCF
activities under IFRS 10, Thus, we do not include the respective tems in cur betance sheet and do not
showy cash flows linked to the SCF transactions in investing/Minancing cash flow

In 1 2023, measurenent of tagrelated assets and Fabilities for the Teulia business comibination
accounting was completed and resulted in £28 million adjusted to the Other identifiable assets'
apening balance and Goodwill

In general, the: goodwill arsing from aur acquisitions consists largely of the synergies and the know-
hiewar and skills of the acejuired businesses’ worklonces,

Taulia goochwil] was attributed (o expeded synergies from the acguisition, particularly in the faliowing
aless:

Cross-selling to exisling SAP customers across all regions, using SAPs sales organization

Further expanding the SAP Business Network capabilities and strengthening SAP's solutions far the
CFO office

Creating new clferings by combining Taulia products and SAP prodeds
Impeening profitaility in Taulla sales and operations

The allocation of the gacdwill resulting from the Taulia acquisition to our operating segments depends
o o Ou operating segrments actuglly benefit from the synergies of the Taubla Dusiness combination,

195/224
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Impact of the Business Combination on Our Financial Statements

The amownts of revenue and profit or loss of the Taulla business acguired in 2022 since the acguisition
dale wene ncluded in our Consolidated Income Statement lor 2022 a5 lollows:

Taulla Acquisition: Impact on SAP's Financlals

2O Cortrken of
£ SRl as R 1-Il..i.|!
Sl e J0ATL 50
&l Profit aftor tax 1.8 -0

From confinging and ciscontinued opations

Had Taulia been consolidated as at January 1, 3022 our revenue and prafit after tax for 2022 would
net have been materially different,

2022 Divestitures

On August 17, 2022, 5AP and Francisoo Partners (FP) anncunced tha FP had signed a definitive
apreement Wil SAP America, Inc. under which FPwould acquire SAP Litmas from: SAR The transaction
closed on December 1 2022 lcllowing satisfaction of applicable regulatory and other approvals.

The disposal gasn-of €175 milion is included in Other operaling Incomeexpense, net

2021 Acquisitions

In 2021, we closed the acguisition of Signavio GmbH, Berlin (Germany) {*Signavic”} and of
Clarabwidge, Inc., Reston, Virginia (LUSA) (Caabridpe™)

Signavio Acquisition

in January 2021, SAP anncunced It had entered into an agreement to acquire the shares of Signavio, a
leacier in (e enterprise business process mlelligence and process mandgement space that enaes
companies to understand, improwve, transhorm, and manage all their business processes quickly and at
SCEE,

The purchase price was £349 million The trensaction closed on March 5, 2021, following satislaction of
regulatony and cther apgoovals, The Signavio operating resulls and assets and labilities are reflectesd in
our consoliciated financial statements starting on that date,

The foliowing tabie summarizes the values of identifable assels acquined and labiities assumed in
connection with the acquisiion of Signavic, as at the acquistion date:

Signavio Acquisition: Recognized Assets and Liabilities

i mhons
IPLBrgitslir Fsets 55
ﬂﬂ'l.lflﬂl‘fﬂﬂm Fiit cd i
Total idernifiaile assets 28
ey et fintHe fbibes 108
Toanl kiarnifiabile labakes 160
Totol kberaiTiable et 550t 220
o =
Total consieration transterred a0
196,324
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In general, the goodwill arsing from our acquisitions consists largely of the synergies and the know-
hicaw andd skills of the acquired businesses’ workforces.

Signavio goodwill was atiributed to expected synergles from the acquisition, particularly in the
following aneas:

Cross-selling opportunities o existing SAP customers across all reglons, using S4Fs sales
organization
The acquisition of Signavio complements SAF's business process intelligence offerings and will

help create new offerings by comizining Signasio products and SAP products, but is also expected
to result for example, in Increased SAP SMHARNA and RISE with SAP zales

Improved praftability in Signavio sates and operations

The allccation of the goodtill resulting from the Signavio acguisition to cur cperating segments
depends on how cur operating segments actually benefit from the synergles of the Signavio business.
combinaion

Clarabridge Acquisition

On October 1, 2021 (after receipt of required regulatory approvals and satisfaction or waiver of ather
customary closing conditions), Qualtrics completed its previously announced acquistion of
Clarabwidge, a customer experience management softwane compamy headguanened in Reston, Visginia,
USA, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Recrganization and Merger, The number of Qualtrics class
A commion stock issued 10 the sellers was fioied based on a valuation of LISE1,125 millian (sutject to
centain adjustments) — e assumed Qualtrics share price was LISS3733, The actual consigeratian
transherred (mainly in Shares valued at e doousition date fair walue of the commaon stack) armounted
to LISS1,298 miltlon (€1,116 million). This includes €910 milllon of Issued shares, €115 mitlicn of
assumed awards, and €91 milllon of cash paid,

Cualtrics nas (1) assumed, amended, and restated Clarabridge stock plans, and (2) converted the
assomed oplions to purchase shares of Clarabndge stock culstanding into caresponding Cuallfics
options. Quaitrics has granted equity incentive awands to cenaln continuing employees of Clarabridge
and is subsiciaries under its own Qualirics equity plan at Qualirics’ sole discretion.

The tolicwing tabie summarizes the values of identifiable assets scquired and labdities assumed in
connection with the acquisition of Clarabridge, as at the acquisition date:

Clarabridge Acquisition: Recognized Assets and Liabilities

Cmilany

Trtanginle mssets 218
Other idertfisbie asiets By
1ﬂllh.irljﬂblllﬁ.ﬂ:- 2
My icherefiatle Labiltiag 1'-‘:I?
“Total iderniTiable Uakilties 107
Toeal idernifiaile res assats 195
Sl = =
Total consideration transionmed 1118

In general, the goochwill arising irom our acguisitions conssts largely of the synergies and the know.
howr and skills of the acquired businesses” waorkforces.

The Clarabxricige poochwill consists largely of the synengies that SAP expects 1o schieve (rem comibining
the acquired assets and operations with its existing operations, especially in its Qualirics subsidiary,

197324
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Impact of Business Combinations on Our Consolidated Financial Statements

The amownts of revenue and profit or loss of the Signavio and Clarabridge businesses acquired In
2021 since the aoquisition date ane included in the 2021 consolicated income statements as follows:

2021 Acquisitions: Impact on SAP's Financlals (Signavio and Clarabridge)

Furi Confriugon of
£ migem ) a5 Reported ) 2021 Acoutions
ol Freymrse 21'.8‘-.? bl
o Prodit afver 1ax 5378 ~Ha

Fromm COniuing and Ciscontinusd cperations.

Had the acguired entities been consolidated as at January 1, 2021, cur 2021 revenue and profit after
tax would nat have been matersially cifterent,

2021 Divestitures

On Apedl 13, 2021, SAP and iwestment comgany Dedlg GmtH, Munich (Germany) ("Dedig®)
anncanced that they had agreed 1o enter ino a parinership in the anea of Enancial services, Following
the close of the transaction in September 2021 (after satisfaction of all closing conditions Including
regulatony approvals), SAP and Dedig jointly own the new SAP Fioneer entity (with SAP owning 8
minority share)

SAP ancd SAP Fioneer Rive executed tansition Sensos and go-io-markel agreements, amang cliers,

The dispossl gaen relating 1o the transfer of the business (predominantly 1P and empioyess) wis
included in Other operating incomeSexpense, net (E77 milion).

(D.2) Goodwill
(©) Goodwill and Intangible Asset Impairment Testing

Thie annas poochwill impairment lest is perforred at the kevel of our operaling segments, since e
ane no lower kevels in SAP at which goodwill is manitored Tor internal management purposes.

In general, the lest is performed at the Same tinme (at the beginning of the Tourth quarter) for all
operating segments.

In making impairment assessments for cur goodwill and intangible assets, the outcome of these tests
s highly depengent on management’s assumplions reganding luture cash flow projections and
eeonomic risks, which require significant judgrment and assumptions abaut future developments. They
can be affected by a variety of factars, including

= Changes In business strategy
= Intermnal forecasts
- Estimation ol weighted-average cost of capital

Changes 1o the assumgtions underlying our poodwill and intangible assets impaiment assessments
could requine material adjustments 1o the carrying amount of our recognized goocwill and intangibie
assels a5 well as the amounts of impairment charges recognized Inprofit or loss.

The outcome of goodwill Impalrment tests may also depend on the altocation of goodwill to our
operating segments, This allocation imvelves judgment as it is based on our estimates regarding which
opemling segments are expected 1o benelit from the synengies of business comiinations.

Changes inour segment structure result in the reallocation of goodwill with the realiocated goochll
being calculated based on relative values (if a direct allocation is not possible)

198324
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Goodwill
L,
Hisaeeical oo
v 30100
L 1526
mm Rrorm e CORTRnSEROrT 55\].
Retrermemn s iypos=is =55
1243142022 181
Fo.ue-u-m;-m enchungs dfteenced ; A&l
Belditions o busionss comrblaon | o6
Retreenniesichigasats ' ' —ap0e
102 29191
Acomrutated amortation
LR 102
Faneign cumency swchange differenoe 2
1243142022 104
R B a
Ty Faance . —
Carrying amount
123142022 31077
12302 20080

Far maore Information about our segments and the changes in 2023, see Note (C1}

Throughout 2023, we have — through a qualitative and quantitative analysis — been continucasty
manitoring whether triggering events exist. Wi did nol identify any triggering events that would indicate
or cause the carmying amaunt of poocwill to excesd the recowerable amount

For imipairment [esting punposes, the carying amount af goodwill is allocated 1o the operating
segments expected o benefl from goodwill as follows:

Goodwill by Operating Segment

Applcations, .
£ vsoom Techmolopy & Ouasiics'  Emarmys T’ :"“' Sustanabiity Total
LAV aEs FrEH Ll x e -} i L0462 a2 0T

RELE Pl a A o s Pt e F Pt

Thas Crasllvies segmant was citsolved afer B dhvsttune of SAFs thate in Cualirics ntemasanal inc
* Tl goocwdl opening balanos was aojusien by £28 mdlon n 2021

Due to the dissolution of the SAF Signavio segment at the beginning of 2023 (for morne information, see
Note (C14), the SAP Sipnavio goockill (€4 10 million) was mowed 1o the Applications, Technology &
Services segment. Given the close prosimity o the 2022 annual goodwill impairment test and the
significant headream, no farmal impaiment test was performed on the reallocation date of the

SAP Signavio segmentL.

Based on (e expected Synergies, the poodwill added through the acquisition of Lesaal (E86T milicon)
was provisionally allocated to the Applications, Technolopy & Services segment on Depemioer 31, As
the initial accounting lor the LeanlX, business combination is incomplete (for maore information, see
Mate (T 11), the allocation |s provisional The goodwill iImpalrment test for the Applications, Technology
& Sendces segrment on October 1 resulted in a headroonm thet is significantty higher than the portian of
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the goodwill that - at the end of December — was allocated to the segment. Thus, there is no
imipalrment risk resulting from the atlocation of the LeaniX poodwill

Goodwill impairment Test

The key assumplions on which management Dased its cash Tow projections for the pesod covened by
the underlying business plans are as follows:

Koy Assumption Basis Por Dtesmining Values Assigned 10 Koy Assumpiion

Eraclganad nenve s fircrath Rty Eanntls FADE SChineyeedd i e SAmTEs joid, Schiasiond Sor an epeectid N s i SAFS adoreiaabie Clou angl clat s
frarkans: ampected growthin the sitatilnhed softwies applitations srd analytics. rmirketi Wsloess assgned eflect our st
aspHETIaNCE and OUr Expacations regaming an increass in the sddvessabls markets

Budpsted cpanmting mangn Cpeiating margin budgeted fod & phen Budget period equals the cperating marngin schisesd in e cument year, incressed by
expacted etficiency gairs. Values assigred reflect past exparience, except for effickency gairs

Discouet stad O eifirnatid ol Mo piodectoeTs ire diaoouned i preent valis g Grscound ribe (et e, Dot rled gne
bz an the wesghted averaps coat of capitsl (WACT) approach.

Teming] growth rale O estimated cash Now profeciions b pedads Beyand the business plan wene extrapolated using seprment-specilic termaral
proweh rates. These prowth rates do not esoeed the long-teem sverage growth rates for the market s inwhich cur segments
o

Key Assumptions and Detailed Planning Period

AR,
Parcert, urlass otharwise dmed Techndiogy & Sendoes’ Emarsys Tmiia Burinerss Metwork; Sustsnabity
P23 2022 2023 2022 2023 a2 2023 2022 2023 2022
prrrrnriimne gy B MR TEaa YRR e W
AT L ORSCONE T 118 111 123 187 110 113 115 LS 11.7 105
Temrinal growth e 3\.‘“‘ g aﬂ ag M 14] an 20 “ a0
Detalied planring perod (in years) s 5 12 12 12 13 10 1 12 12

VT 2000 Tiure relle 10 T Anicatiorm, Techmoiigy & Saopert Rimen wiiiol [ seadscelon o 1o Sal Sgesis sefrmeal

On October 1, 2023, we perfformed a goodwill impaiment test for the operating segments.

Applications, Technology & Services Segment
Far mane infarmation about our 2023 segment changes, see Note (C1)

The recoverable amount was determined based on a fair value less costs of disposal calculation, The
Tair value measurement was categosrized as a Level 3 air value based on the inputs used in the
valeation. The cash flow projections were based on actual operating results and specific estimates
covering a detailed planning pesiod and the terminal growih rate thereatter. The projecied resulls were
determined based on management’s estimates and are consistent with the assumiptions a markest
participant would make (atarget operaling margin of 34,59 (2022 27.8%) was used in the valuation).

We believe that no reasanably possibée change invany of the above key assurmplions would cause the
canrying amcunt of 0w Applications, Technology & Senices segrment Lo exoeed the recoverable
amaount,

Emarsys Segment

Thie recowverable amaunt was determined based on a fair vadue less costs of disposal calculation, The
fair value measurement was categorized as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs used in the
valuation. The cash Row projections were based on actual operating results and specilic estimates
covering a defalled planning period and the terminal growth rate thereafter. The projected results were
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determined based on management’s estimates and are consistent with the assumplions a market
participant would make (a target cperating margin of 33.79% (2002 22.4%) was used in the valuation).

Given the fact that the Emarsys segment Is expedied to show disproportionate growth in the coming
yiears and has not el reached a steacly state, we have usad a longer detailed planning period than
ane would apply ina mone mature segment.

The recoveeraile amount exceeded the carrying amownt by €618 million (2022 €513 millan)

Thie toliowing table shows the amounts by which the key assiemplions would need (o change
incividually {that is, without changing the other key assumptions) far the recoverable amount 1o be
equal to the camying amount. For budgeted revenue growth sensithity, the cost structure was not
adjusted, hence leading 1o a modified lerminal operating manging

Sensitivity to Change In Assumptions
Ernarsys
23 e
Tarpet OpsIALng AN & nd end of the bucigeted parkod fchangs in pp) = =16

Taulia Segment

The recoveranle amaunt was delermined based on a fair value less costs of disposal calculation, The
fair value measurement was categorized as a Level 3 lair value based on the inputs used in the
valieation. The cash fiow projections were based on actual operating results and specific estimates
covering a detailed planning pesiod and the terminal growih rate therealter. The projecied resalls were
determined based on management’s estimates and are consistent with the assumplions a market
participant would make (3 larget operating mangin of 26.5% (2027 24.9%) was used in the valuation).

Ghven the fact that the Tasla sepment is expected ta show disproponionate growth inthe coming
years and has net yet reached a steady state, we have used a longer detailed planning pericd than
ane would apply in & more mature segment,

The recoveraiole amount exceaded the carmying amount by €567 million (2022 €366 million)

Thie foliowing tatbie shows the amounts by which the key assumptions would need (o change
ingivicually (that is, withaut changing the other key assumplions) for the recoverable amount 1o be
ecqual to Ihe canying amount. For budgeted revenue growth sensitivity, the Cost strecture was not
adjusted, hence leading o a modified terminal operating margin

Sensitivity to Change in Assumptions
Talls
2023 Fobrkd
Buscigeted revenue growih {changs in pa) 5 =il T
Tarpet operating mangn & tha and of thie budgeted penod (change in pp) -:I-_'! =11
s -tao lBCount Fite ia 14
Business Network Segment

The recowveracle amount was determined based on a fair value less costs of disposal calculation. The
fair ualue measunement was categorzed B5.a Level fairvalue based on the inputs used inthe
valweation. The cash Row projections were based on aclual operating results and specific estimates
covering a detalled planning period and the terminal growth rate thereatter. The projecied resulls were
determingd based on management’s estimates and ane consistent with the assumptions a market
participant would make (a target operating margin of 25.2% (2023 24.2%) was used In the valuation).

Given the fact that the Business Networdk segment is expected ta shiow disproportionate growth in the
coming years and has not yet reached a steady state, we have used a longer detalied planning period
Than cne wauld apply ina mome mature segment.

200224
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The recoverabie amount exceeded the camying amount by €2,719 milian (2022 €2,821 million)

Thie fedicwing tabie shows the ameunts by which the key assumptions would need (o change
individually {that is, without changing the other key assumplions) for the recoverable amount to be
eoual to the canmying amount. For butdgeted revenue growth sensitivity, the cost stractune was nat
adjusted, hence leading io a modified terminal operating manging

Sensitivity to Change in Assumpticns
Brsineds Metwork
2003 22
IBuscigeted nepsrie growthichangs i po) =30 28
Target cxperafing Farpin o the end of the budgeted penad (change in pe) =18 -19
Sustainability Segment

The recoverable amount was determined based on a falr value less costs of disposal calculation. The
tair value measurement was calegodzed a5 a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs used in the
valuation, The cash Row projections were based on aclual operating results and specific estimates
covering a detalled planning period and the terminal growth rate therealtter. The projected resulls were
detemined based on management’s estimates and ane consistent with the assumplions a market
participant would make (a larget operating margin of 26.996 (2023 36.2%) was used In the valuation).

Given the fact thal the Sustainability segment |5 expected to show dispropodtionate graowth in the
coming years and nas nol yelt reached a steady state, we hive used a longer detailed nﬂanning prericd
Than ome would apply ina mane matune segment.

The recoverable amount exceadied the carying amoosnt by €246 million (2022 €112 million).

The folicwing table shows the amounts by which the key assumptions would need to change
incivicually (that is, without changing the other key assumptions) for the recoverabie amount 1o be
equal to the camying amount, For buggeted revenue growth sensitivity, the cost sirscture was naot
aeijusted, hence leading 1o & modilied terminal operating mangin

Sensitivity to Change in Assumptions

Hzd 2022
D S 14
TACRRC OsIALG FACEN 8 1w arecd of thes Duckgered peiod (hangs in gp) =18 =13

(D.3) Intangible Assets
%) Recognition of Intangibles

Whereas in peneral, expenses lor imemally penerated intangibles are expensed as incumed,
development expenses incurred on standard-related customer development projedts (lor which the
IAS 38 criteria are mel cumidatively) are capitalized on a limited scale with those amounts being
amartized over the estimated useful e for the majority of the projects of five o Seven years,

Determining whether internally generated intangile assets from development quakily lor recognition
requires significant jucigment, particulasty in the following aneas;

= Determining whether activities should be considered research-adlivities or development activities

= Determining whether the conditions for recoginizing an intangible assel are mel requines
assumptions about future market conditions, customer demand, and cther developments.

= The term “technical feasibllity” is not defined in IFRS, and therefare determining whether the
completion of an asset & technically feasiole reguines judgment and a company-specific approach,

202224
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= Determining the fulure ability o use o sell the intangible assef ansing from the development and
the determination of the probability of fulure benefits irom sale or use

= Determining whether a cost is directly or Indirectly atiributabie (o an Intangitle asset and whether a
cost s necessany for completing a development

Thiese judgments impact the total amount of intangible assets that we present in car balance sheet as
wedl as the timing of recognizing development expenses in prodit or loss.

() Measurement of Intangibles

All our purchased intangible assets olher than goodwill have finite wseful lves. They are nitialty
measuned at acouisition cost and subsequently amortized based on the expected consimplion of
economic benefits over thelr estimated useful lives ranging from two to 20 years,

Jusdgment is sequired in determining the lallowing

- The uselul e of an intangible asset, as ihis is based on our estimates reganding the period over
wihich the intangibie assel i expected 1o generate economic benelits lo us

- Thi armortization method, as IFRS requires the straight-line medivod 10 be wsed unless we can
rellabiy determine the pattern in which the asset’s fulure economic benefits are expected to be
consumed by us

Bath the amortization period and the amortization method have an impact on the emortization
eopense that is recorded in each period,

i#) Classification of Intangibles

‘We classify intangible assets sccording ko thelr nature and use in cwr operations. Software and
database lcenses consist primarily of technology for internal use, whereas acquined technology
consists pamarily of purchased soltware (o be incorporated into cur product offerings. Custonmer
relaticnships and othes intangibles consist primasity of customer relationships and acouired Iredemark
licenses.

Amortization expenses of iMangibie assets are classified a5 Cost of cloud, Cost of sendces, Research
and developmen, Sales and marketing, and General and administration, depending on the use of the
respective intangible assets,

Intangible Assets
o Sﬂh;;ll:b:: 1.;:::; mm?rfp:‘sm; Total
Liconses ot Mgt s
Histerlesl cost -
1172022 P P 6734 10843
Fonign cumency ekchange diferences 8 1m0 7 515
dubdiions from bunmass cmn:i..m a 5 .'EI! 183
ey SChRTONS .t 1N (1] =1 305
Petrerneresdispanals T 7% P “a1a
'i'ﬂa-n:lm . ar =3 =5 1
2022 1087 2807 1087 10641
Foreign currency sxchangs diferences =1 =5 =155 Cam
Aeldiices fom it coerbaion a 10 P %
Dbt ackREnONG prr d 3 L] E: ™
Rimtrasdapanals e 767 e _3166
Temnders aT a =87 (1]
132033 1073 s amz 7784
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Accumulated smartization
W5 Praakr] 4T za98 833 590
Foeign CUrTancy sushangs difte ences T iar 17e s
Ao mlz..!bm 9= 205 an ?D[l
IR ey S el =10 ] =51 =873
120302022 N a4 2041 42321 6206
Fomgn curTeniy suchungs ciffbesandes =f =57 =118 =17
Addtiors sortization P n ey 5am
it L RS ol =55 =477 =137 =187
1330/2023 S04 1584 1101 82T
Casrying amawnt
FFTE T iFF 13 g 2AME bE £
1273072023 473 35 1731 2505
Significant Intangible Assets
Carnying Amsont Remainng

o MiSEn Uit Gl Tl Lhlud Lite

20X ANz [ )
s = CLshome relaboeheps SES o Tia il
Lamanb - Curstormsr melationshign 145 Q 13
Callis = Custoemies ieationsieps 147 131 a
Sigranao = Customes nelationshans i7e 133 13
Total significart intangible astets 1258 LoGE

(D:4) Property;Plant, and Equipment
{7 Depreclation of Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are iyplcally depreciated using the straight-ine methol, Judgment i5
fiscpuingd in estimating the useful e of the assets In this assessment we consider, ameong athers, our
history with similar assels and cumrent and futune changes in technology.

Useful Lives of Property, Plant, and Equipment

Eudidings Fredomenantty 2510 50 years

Leazed axsets and lessehold mprovements Bazed on the term of the kease contract
Irfarmation technolofy sauipment 2t fyesrs

T furraune o 1o 20 years

A 1035 years
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Property, Plant, and Equipment
Cithar Peopay, F.re ST
(I Land and  CHher Property, Plere, mndl Pargmmans sndl
L By B Eusldings Flare, vl Testal
g L Epiperrt Equipment  Constructon i
. s Leamed Frogress
123032 1‘5‘85 1.7.53 1.4'3{:- .45 !-.:2‘ -l..m
12342023 1430 130 1309 a5 162 476
Agdciticns
120022 6 90 567 a0 87 1430
12731/2023 58 e 470 82 98 &10

The additions (ather than from usiness combinations) relate primarily to the replacement and
purchase of infarmation technology equipment and the construction and leasing of budidings and data
centers, For more Informeation about leases, see Mote (DU5)

(D.5) Leases
i#) Accounting Policies, Judgments, and Estimates

Under IFRS 16, a contract is or contalns a lease if the contract comveys the right 1o control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange lor consideration. As a lessee, SAP recopnizes a right-
of-use assel representing is right 1o use the underlying asset and a lease lability representing its
obligation 1o make lease peyments. The right-of-use assets are deprecialed on a strasght-Bne basis and
interest expense is recognized on the lease labilities. The vast majority of our leases consist of facility
and data center leases. Payments for short-term and low-value leases are expensed over the lease
term Extension opticns ane included in the lease term i thair exencise is reasonabily cemain,

Leases in the Balance Sheet
£ e 1232023 1232022
Régiht-ofume assets = Land snd Duldings 1,320 1758
g of U Jrusedy = nd'-lfﬂn.p-um,-.;immiquprm-rl ] -13.
Tulllﬁ.hl.-u“.amum ) 131!'5 m:.
F Progany, plant. and squipement 4% 4534
Right ofusa Jesets a5 % of 3 Propermy, plang, and eogupeent v} n
Lk lEniivies
Current lease lnbilties i #H- 340
':.E{‘l.urnl Tiruareciad, {iatodl gaes . :I..-.'l‘ﬁ- 4808
Curment Loape Tiabdses 3 % of 5 Cumant inarcisl St 17 7
IHen-current bease Labiliies 1327 17a1
I Bon-cutnent fn.m:.nnlh.lhuns ?.361 4547

Bon-cument lease labiities a3 % of B Mon-cument firancial Sabilties 17 19

SAP Is committed to future minimam lease payments inthe amount of €37 milllon (2022 €49 mélion)
for facility leases that had not yet commenced as at December 31, 2023,
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Leases in the Income Statement
o = s FOFT FOgZ

L SpMiriSas Within apersting pealit
D aiition of HEt -l uie a50ats 5 ET

For mane information abeut fghi-al-use assel additions, see Mote (D4), and far 8 maturity anatysis of
lease liabilities, see Mote (F1} For more information about the cash flow related 1o lease liahilites, see
the “Reconciliaticn of Lighalities Arising from Financing Activities™ talzle within MNate (E.3],

(D.6) Equity Investments
() Accounting Policles, Judgments, and Estimates

Aswe do not designate financial assets as “at lar value through profit or loss” we genemlly classify
Timancial &ssets inlo the following catepories: at amortized cost (AC), at faér value through other
comprehensive Income (FVOCI), and &t fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), depending on the
contractual cash flows of and our busness model for holding the respective asset,

For equity securities, as the cash How characteristics are other than solely principal and interest, we
tade an investment-By-imestment decision whether to classity as FVTPL o FYOCL

The valuation ol eguity securities of private companies requines judgment because it is typically based
on significant unobsenable inputs, a5 no market prices ane available and thene is inherent lack of
licyuiciity.

‘W take the most recent qualitative and guantflative information aspects into consideration to
determine the fair value estimates of these equily securities.

Considerable jutgment and assumptions are Involved with regard to the selection of appropriste
comparable company data, the assessment of cash requirements of the business, the acceptance o
the technotogy or produdts in the addressable markets, the actual and forecasted performance, the
maesione acheevements, the adequacy of price points from financing rounds, the transaction of simdar
sacurities of the same company, the rights and preferences of the underlying securities, the seledion
of adecuae equity allocation parameters, (he possitle exil scenanios and associated weightings.
Because all of these assumptions could change significantly, and because valuation s inherently
uncertain, our estimated fair values may difler sgniicantly from the values that would heve been used
had market prices for the imestments edsted and thal will ullimately be realized, and those
differences could be material

Gednsflosses on equity securities at FVTPL include gainsfosses from fair value Auctuations, from
disposals aswell as dividends, while gains/tosses on equity securities al PVOCH only include dividkends,
all of which are shown in Financial income, nel. Regular way purchases and sales ane recorded as at

the trace date.

Equity Investments
Fairk Funrrg
€ s a - :

M- Ko

Curring Cinrint Taotsl Curnant Cuméng Tatal
Eiuaty sicariges & 4957 4967 a EE ] LAk
Irestments in asociabes o 135 135 a 151 151
Exquaty rmsestments o 8,102 8,102 a ] L% ]
Crher hngrdipl pasets 1344 5543 a7 i) it L]
Ecuaity imesstrreris. o % of Offer fnancis] ssiets o 82 57 a ad L)
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Investments in Associates

SAP has Interests ina number of individually immaterial associates, We own more than 2006 of the:
ecuity intenests or have at least 20% of the voting rights inthese entities. Based on these facts and the
nature of the redationshipg, SAP has detesmined 1hat it hes significant influence.

The following tabbe shaws, in aggregate, the carmrying amnount and share of profit of lhese associates,

A i 202 frprd
Carmpng amoeun® of inténest in associsted 135 151
Shawre of profin s [asss from CosnEnueng ofesiaron =16 -

The vast monity of thie carmying amaunt of ierest in associates relates fo SAP Floneer GmibH,
For a list of the names of ather equity Investments, see Note (G9)

Financial Commitments in Venture Capital Funds

£ il 2023 oty
—_—
Connmined Fraashmants i wereung Capstal fund o 3

SAF invests and halds interests In unrelated parties that manage imsestments In venture capital. On
December 31, 2023, tolal commitments 10 make such investments amounted 1o €977 miliicn

{2022 £957 million), of which €708 million had been draawn (2022 €654 million). By investing in such
verdure capital funds, we ane exposed 1o the rsks inherend in the business areas in wivich the enlities
operate. Our maximum exposure to loss Is the amount invested plus comtractually committed future
capital contriputions.

Maturities

o 12/ HE
) Pt MLl in Verdue Copital Fursy

Due 2024 F

Total 260

(D.7) Non-Current Assets by Region

Thie tabile below Shows non-current Bssets excluding financial nstruments, ceferred lax assets, post-
emplayment benefil assets, and Aghts arising uncder Insurance conlradis.

Non-Current Assets by Region

Fy=so 2023 200
By T4 T
Rt of EMEA ' 5002 P
EMEA [ IW. 11,794
Lt S1a0es s 12355
oot of Americas P 510
Americas 29,762 12794
s 1 a1
Pz o AP 800 a7
a0 | 17 1210
SAP Group [ 1959 45590
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The decrease innon-current assets in the United States is primarily due to the divestiture of Qualtrics.
For mare information, see Note (1)

For a breakdown of our employee headoount by region, see Mode (B 1] and lor a breakdown of
revenue by region, see Note (A1)

{D.8) Purchase Obligations

Lmiang HED 22
Commciual cblgations fr acquisiton of property, plant, and sgupment and 6 1ad
I ANGERS A

i pudcharss obbgatiors 10377 7491
Purchuie cbligations 20541 1535

The contraclual obligations for acquisition of praperty, plant, and equipment and intangible assels
relate primarily 1o the purchase of herchware, software, petents, office equipment, and vehicles. The
remaining obligations relate mainly to cloud serdoes, marketing consulting maintenance, lcense
apreements, and other third-party agreements. The increase is mainly due 1o new purchase obligations
felated to clowd infrastructune sendces. Histoncally, the majorty of such purchase obligstions have

been realized.
Maturities
12/ 31,0023
£ —yony —
Putchuse Oblfgations
[ 2266
Do 202% 10 2028 1752
1D themmafier 503
Tezal 10541

(D.9) Income-Related Government Grants

() Recognition of Income-Related Government Grants

‘We recognize Income-Related Government Grants as a reduction of the related expense in the period
in which the: expense is incumed,

Al the end of 2023, we recefved a grant from the German povernment ta fund research and
development expenditunes related to cloud infrastructune, The grant will provide reimbursements of up
1o €329 million for gualifying expenditures through 2006, No material amounts were recognized or
reimbursed in 2023,
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Section E - Capital Structure,
Financing, and Liquidity

This section describes ow SAP manages As capital structure, Ok capital management i5 Dased on a8
high equity ratio, modest linancial leverage, awell-balanced maturity profile, and deep debl capacty.

(E.1}] Capital Structure Management

The primary cbjective of our capital structure management is to maintain a strong financial profite for
imveston creciton, and customer conficlence, and 1o suppon the growth of our business. We seek (o
miaantain a capital strcture that will allow us o continucwsly cover our funding requinements throwgh
the capital markets on reasonable terms anc, in 5o doing, enswe a high level of independence,
confdence, and fnancial Mexikility,

SAFS prime principte of inancial risk management is 1o sabeguand Lousdity 81 & level 1o De abie to
meeet all our financial obligations. In order 1o suppot this goal, SAPs principal use of cash Is focused
on:

Capial expenditure

Quick repayrment ol linancial deixt

Acguisitions and venlure aclivites

Payment af dividencs

Share buy-backs to return excess cash to sharehoicers

SAP SE's long-term credil rmting is %A2° by Moody's (posithve autlook) and "A+" by SEP Global Ratings

(stable cutlook).

12FL 02T 12/31/2022
ol Wl & in

€ millkans Todal Equity £ millors Total Ecpity

amd Liabiiithes arvd Liabdiziey
E Equiy AR08 ] 47 BaB 50 1
-l:;-l:mltﬂ:haumts :Ii-.'ﬁ-il .2I. 17.853 24 = U]
P Werrayrrant labilnes 1057 15 118558 16 =13
I i iabviities 24578 S 11 a1 =15
Tharriad foru il dedst LIS 1 11%64 18 -34
Thisreod Lease liskslithes 1621 z 2189 1 ~25
F Total equity and labilities E2335 100 TS 100 -5

AL maturity, we repaid €1L.800 million in BEurabonds, €145 million in teom oans, and €930 millionin
Commerclal Paper in 2023, The ratio of total nominal volume of finandal debt to total equity and
liabilities decreased S pa, Applying IFRS 5, prior-year numiers inclede amounts attributatsle o
Qualtrics.
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(E.2) Total Equity
(#) Accounting for Interests in Subsidiaries

Changes in SAP's interest in a subsidiary that do not resull in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity ransactions. When 3AR loses control over the subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary. and any related non-controlling intenests (NCT) and otfwer components of
equity. Any resulting gain or loss s recognized In profit or loss.

Issued Capital

SAF SE has Issued no-par value bearer shares with a calculated nominal value of €1 per share. Al of
the shanes issued ane fully paid,

Number of Shares

Aiiors Issued Capital Treasury Shares
e Bl l.zzu TS
12/31/2021 12288 a8
Puschase of tréaiyry shanes o -157
s iaprt of Rrdatory Ahaned urhed sha - uriesd sy rreents o a3
A2r3ua02 12285 614
ﬁ.---:lwseél.hﬁmsnre-. : [P ; -}E‘
Fiaismaance of t1eassy shates Lneder share-based payeees i 0 o
e Sl 2 et l.zzu e

On August 14, 2003, SAP Leunched a new shane repurchase program designed primarily to senvice
Tuture share-based compensation awards. With a total volume of up to €1,250 million, the program will
run untE Felruary 19, 2024, By December 31, 2023, we had repurchased shares with & tofal volurme of
549 million. In addition, we ressued 7.7 million treasury shares 1o sendce share-based payment
awards uncer our Move SAP Plan in 2023,

Authorized Shares
The Articles of Incorporation authorize the Executive Board toincrease the Issued capital as follows:

By up to a total amount of €250 million by Bsuing new no-par value bearer shares against
contribautions in cash until kay 19, 2025 (Authorized Capital 1) The issuance is subjedt to the
statulary subscriplion rights of existing shareholders

By Up 0o & 1otal ameunt of €250 million by BSUing new no-par value beaner shares dgainst
cantributions in cash o in kind until May 19, 2025 (Authorized Cagpital 1) Subject ta the consent ol
the Supendsary Board, The Executive Board is autihvarized 1o exdude the shareholders’ statutory
subscription rights in cerlain cases.

Contingent Shares

SAP SE's shane capital is subject 1o a contingent capital increase, which will be implemented only
insodar as the holders or creditors of converticle bonds ar stock optlons Issued or guaranteed by
SAPSE o any ol its directly or indirectly controlled subsidiaies under cenain share-Dased payments
exercise thelr comversion or subscription rights, and no other methods for servicing these righls ame
used, As at December 31, 2023, €100 million, representing 100 miltion shares, was still avallatie for
tssuance (20 €100 milton).

Retained Earnings

Retained eamings mainly comprise profit after tax and dividend payments as well as transactions with
non-conirolling interesis,
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Other Components of Equity
Lash Flow
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Treasury Shares

By resolution of SAP SE's Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on May 11, 2003, the
authorization granted by the Annual General Meeting of Shansholders on May 17, 2018, regarding the
acquisition of treasury shares was revoked to the extent it had not been exercised at that time, and
reptced by @ few authorization of the Executive Boasd of SAP SE to adquing, an or belang

hay 10, 2028, shares of SAP SE representing a pro rata amount of capital stock of up to €130 milllon in
apgregate, provided that the shares parchasad under the authorization, together with any other shafes
In the Company previously atquired and held by, or attributatle to, SAP SE do not account for mone
than 106% of SAP SE' issued share capital. Although Ireasury shares are legally considered
gutstanding, thene are no dividend ar valing rights associated with them We may receem or resall
shares held In treasury, of we may use treasury shares for the purpose of sendcing oplion of
COmersion rights under the Comparty's share-based payment plans, Also, we may use shanes heldin
treesury as consideration In connediion with mergers with, or acquisiticns of, other companles.

Foliowing the abbove authorization, in May 2023 we announced a new share buyback program with an
appregate valume of up 1o €5 billon and 8 term ulil December 31, 2025, As part ol the first tranche of
this program, we acouired shareswith a volume of €949 millica (without incldental acquisition costs)
between August 14, 2023, and December 31, 2023,

Distribution Policy and Dividends

Our general intentien s to remain in & position 1o return Lgusdity to ouwr sharehaoloers oy distribuling
annual dividends tataling 409 or mere of our profit sfter tax and Dy potentially repurchasing treasury
shares in future.

In 2023, wee distributed £2,395 million (E205 per shang) in dividends for 2022, companed 1o
€2 865 million (€2.45 per share, including a special dividend of £0.50 to celebrate SAFS S0th
anniversary) paid In 2022 for 2021 and €£2,182 million (€1.85 per shame) paid in 2021 for 2020,

The tctal dividend available for distripution to SAP SE sharenolcers is based onthe profits of SAP SE
as reported In its statutory financial statements prepared under the accounting rules in the German
Commercip Code { Handelsgeselziuch) For the year ended December 31, 2073, the Executive
Board inmtends 1o propose that a dividend of €2.20 per share (that s, an estimated total dividend of
2568 million), Be paid Trom the profits of SAP SE.

Non-Controlling Interests

Uil ivestiture in June 2023, Quallrics issued ew shares 1o senve shane-based payment maarnds
under the Qualtrics Omnious plan, which further reduced SAFs ownership In Quailtrics to 69%

{2022 71%:). In the Tirst hatt of 2023, 5 loss of €141 mélion (2022 €366 million) was attributed 1o nom-
cantrolling interests of Qualtrics. For mare Information about the divestiture of Qualirics, see

Nate (1) In 2023, a lass of £33 millloa (2022 €210 milkon) was attributed (o non-controlling intesests
of cther 5AP entities.
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(E.3) Liguidity
(#) Accounting for Non-Derivative Financial Instruments
Classification and Measurement of Non-Derivative Financial Debt investments

Our nan-derivative inancial debt investments comprise cash al banks and cash equivalents (highly
liguid investments with ariginal maturities of three manths or less, such as time deposits and money-
market funds), loans and ather finandal recehables, and acquired debt securities.

We penerally classdy financial assets as: at amortized cost (AC) at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCT), or al fair value through profit or loss (FYTPL), depending on Lhe
contractual cash flows of, and our business model for, holding the respective asset. Financlal assels
haning cash llow charactesistics other than solely principal and intenest ssch as money market and
similar funds are classified as FYTPL. Generalty, other finencial assets with cash llows consisting sciely
of principal and interest are held within a business model whose abijective 15 "held 10 collect” and are
thus clazsified as AC. Occasionally, such other financial assets are held within a business model whose
objective is “hoid 1o collect and sell” in which case they are classified as FYOCL

Gens/losses on non-Cervative financial dett investments at FYTPL are reponed in Financial income,
net and show intenest incomefapenses separately fram other gains/losses which include gains/iosses
from fairvalue fluctuations and disposals. Galns/losses on non-dervative financial debt investments at
AC are reparted in Financial income, net and show Interest income/expenses separately from other
galnsfasses which Include galnsflosses on disposals and changes In expected and incurred credit
losses. Gains/losses from fangign curmency exchange rate fluctuations ane included in Other non-
aperating incomafexpense, nel. Regular way purchases and sales ane recorded as at the trade date.

Impairment of Non-Derivative Financial Debt Investments

For these financial assets, we apply considerable judgment by employing the general Impalment
approach as follows:

= For cash at banks, lime depasits, and detd securithes such as acquired bonds and acquired
commercial papers, we apply the low credst risk excepdion; a5 it is our policy to imest only in high-
quality assels of ssuers with a minimum ating of at least investment grade to minimize the risk of
credit losses. Thus, these assets ane aiweys aliocated 1o stage 1 of the three-stage credit loss mogel,
and we record a foss allowanoe al an amount equal to 12-month expedied oredi losses. This loss
allowance Is calculated based on our exposure &t the respective reparting date, the loss given
default for this exposure, and the crecit default swap spread as a measure Tor the probability of
defaull. Even though we invest only in assets of at least Investment-grade, we also closely chsenve
the development of credil delault swap spreads as a measure of market participanis' assessments
of the creditwerthiness of a debtor to evaluste probable significant Increases in credit risk to tmely
regct 1o changes should these manilest, Amang clfvers, we consicer cash &l Danks, me deposits,
and deit securities to be in defaull wihen the counterparty |5 wnlikely to pay its cbligations In full
when there is information abowt & counterpadty’s financial gifficulties or if there is a drastic increase
In a counterparty’s credit defaull swap spread for a prolanged time period while the overall market
ermironment remains generally stable, Such financial assels are weitlen off either partially or In full i
the likelihood of recovery s considered remote, which might be evidenced, for example, by the
bankruptcy of a counterparty of such financial assets.

= Loans and other financial recelvalies are monitored besed on bomower-specific imernal and
esternal information te determing whether there has been a sipnificant increase in credil rigk since
Initial recognition. We consider such assets to be in default it they are significantly beyond their due
dale or if the borrower is unlikely o pay its obligation. Awrlte-olf occurs when the lkelhoed of
recovery is considered remote, for example when bankruptoy proceedings have been finalized or
when all enforcement efforts have been exhausted.

Mon-Derivative Financial Liabilities
Nan-derivative financial liabdities include bank loans, isswed bonds, privete placements, and other

{inancial liabilities. Other financial liabédities also include customer lunding labilitnes which ane (unds we
draw from and make payments on behall of our customers for customers” employes expense
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reimbursements, related credit cand payments, and vendor payments. We present these funds in cash
and cash eguivalents and recond our obdlgation to make these expense reimbursements and
payments on behall of cur customers as customer lunding Uabilities.

As we oo nat designate financiat liabilities &s FVTPL. we generally classify non-tderivat ive financial
lfabilities as AC.

Exqpenses and gains or losses on linancial labilities at AC mainly consist of interest expense which is
shown in Financlal Income, net. Galns/flosses from foreign currency exchanpe ate fluctuations are
incluched in Other non-operaling income/expense, neL

Group Liquidity, Financial Debt, and Net Debt

Group Iquidity consists of cash st banks, money market and other funds, as well as time deposits and
bl securities (Doth with remaining maturities of less than one year). Financial dell is defined as the
nominal volume of bank loans, Issued commercial papers, privale placements, and bonds. Met debt is
group liguidity less linancial detl

Group Liquidity and Net Debt

L 5 023 03 &
_-'.E Cash and cash equiveients ) _Iil.?d_ a008 b3
Crment time Seposis and ohelt Sacumhe 3151 E8G 2854
Group Lguidity 1278 504 1531
Cummant I'rflb'-cﬂ.debl -1_1.43 -1‘93!- rd: L]
Honecurment Sranaal debt -2 S| 1186
Financinl debe -7, 1558 -11764 4000
e ekt (=) 3521 =200 5590

While wee Continucsly monitor the ratios presented inthe capital structune table, we actively manage
our liguidity and structure of our finandial Indebtedness based on the ratics group liquidity and net

el
Cash and Cash Equivalents
i N
CAlloT
Cunent Hon-Curent Total Cuwrrent Hon-Cument Todal
Carsh az barks 3365 o 1369 1176 o 3876
Tirstem chespeoviit s 213 =] 2130 15012 [+} 1533
Wearery kot and othey funds LATE Q LA LE55 -} 1355
D, sy it 150 o 150 a7 o a7
Expocted crodt loss allowancs 3 o 5 3 o -3
T Cashy and cash aquivalars B4 ] 8124 8,008 o 9,008
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Mon-Derivative Financial Debt Investments

03 Fibrrs
€ aizom — o
Cutrant Her-Currant Totad Clrant hon-Curment Testal
Tirms chispuiriits fleri ] o 108 657 & 657
Dbl Sasiriers L% 0 14 v ) o iz
Farsircia] snstiumants pelpnea 1o 2
oy M plans o 2484 284 a 03 23
Lipanes, gencd ohar finaeecint i
e : e ] 182 L] Fl S s ] Fx]
Exgmactand croicit loss Mllowdnos =7 o -7 =X ] -3
Mon-derhvative financial detst
Investments ; s et ! i = el
B Cmtut Srncial svets iz 5543 agaa7 53 SEIE Eary
T e Aol nined Ll 2.z
ME: i 97 | 42 -] 6 17
Time cepasits with original maturity of three months or less are presented as cash and cash
equivalents, and those with original maturities of greater than Thiee months (imestrments consickered in
group liquidity} are presented as ather financlal assets. Debt securities consist of acquired commencial
papers andd acquined Bonds of mainky linancial and nen-inancial comporations and municipalities,
Thie Increase in time deposits presented as cash equivalents and current Investments and the increase
in money market lunds in 2023 are due 1o the proceeds irom the Quallncs divestitune,
Far marne information about financial risk and the nature of risk, see Note (E1}
Financial Debt
2023 2022
£ Pl Piomiral Vol ume Camryirg dumont Hominal Yol Camyrg Amoung
Current v:u-lmnw Curent . ! Totd  Cuerc . 0 Cument . OO Tostal
[ B5 6521 = sS85 6780 L0 THL 1500 L] 8155
Provats plecamant Bpfiadted = ol | -] 88 a m Q L] 405
Cnmaimed Cabl et 0 o o Q a L 1] Lo Q a2f
Bark loars 0 0 o LASE [ 1ATE ] 1456
Financial dett 1143 Be1z 1143 02e  7aes 3sEe 777 3583 ese0 10843
T Francial Uandnies . 1?'1:.- -:1'541 L1 A 50N anay 14352
Pegode e 66 % 74 & 72 6

a3 % of B Francal Sabsies

Vin 2023, SAP changec 1he pressntation of Bace-ceblon with o coecil balanos hom Financisl labilties 1o Trace and offer payabies. Trace-cebion with crio balenoes for 2000 ane
€106 milien (305 €306 miltion). The Bresenation kd J023 temains wehanges

Financial labilities ate unsecured, eocep fof the retention of title and Similar rights customarny in our
Incustry. Efective interest rates on our financial debt (nduding the effects from interest rate swaps)
were 349% In 2023, 1.23% in 2022, and 083%in 2021

For more Informiation about the risk assodiated with our financial Uabllities, see Mote (1} For more
information atoul kair values, see Note (E2)

214/324

329/404



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP Integrated Report 2023

Tar Chs o WMangnmant Coralidated Financisl Furthar Irfanmptan Bl AckEtiang
Staketioldars Heport Slatemenis IFRS Sustainabdity Indormation
Bonds
2023 a2
Homins! Velume
Maturity awefrice  Coupenmae | EMecie mmﬂ;‘m mqlml i S it
Euroibond B = 2014 033 AT, LE2%% [fix]) 125, E1,000 o 1000
Eurobond % - 2014 2027 s L730% ) LET% 1000 914 BG4
Eurcioond 12 — 2015 2005 SEEA% £ £ () 113% €800 s00 559
Eusoiond 15 - 2018 2026 g 1000 () 1ot 500 . 45
Furaibond 1 — 2018 00 sagirs, LIS L0 o 428 anl
Eurotond 15 = 3018 04 mm I}:ISJZ'!.|I'|):-| I.';IBD':& 350 Bﬂ.';- =21
Eurobond 20 - J00E .| GEETLH L7505 [fix]) L3559 €100 BEl B3
Ewrosong 71 = 3008 203 s LS i) L7 €150 1045 r]
Eurobond 22 — 2020 2023 AT G0 (i) sleric ] L1 ] 1] 00
Eurcioond 23 — 2020 2006 SR BA25% (A} 025% £E00 506 587
Eusiond 24 - 2020 P cavEre. OISR ns1% £500 56 43
S Ve A O ey bt e =
LUSD bond = 2018 ] e e i 4559 () A, T4%, LS00 2".'1 .2‘Bl
Bonds E T80 B,155
All ol aur Eurabonds ane listed far tracing on the Lueembourg Stock Exchange.
Private Placements
k] raerid
A Haminal Volume
Maturity  Coupon Rate mufmn:: wnnﬂ;‘lm mﬂm‘m Cﬂ?ﬂ‘:.:m
LS. private placemars
'-r.lr-\-chca -z:n'l.:' - fraers 2% (o) AT 0. e 4 )
Trancha @ — X012 a7 T 357% LER100 a5 5
Private placements 405

The LS. private placement notes were issued by one of our subsidianies that has the LS, dollar as its
functional currency.

Commercial Paper Program

The il proceeds nom aur commercial paper [Commercial Paper, of CF) program ane Being used lor
peneral corporate purposes, including dividends and share repurchases. On December 31, 2023, we
had no commercial papers cutstanding, [December 31, 2002 €928 million carrying amount generaily
with a maiurity of less than six moanths) The weighted average interest rate of the CP outstanding as of
December 31, 2022, was 1963,

Loans

In BMarch 2021, SAP drew two shoet-lerm bank ioans of €850 milllen and €500 milion with original
tenors ol one year that could be fedbly repasd until Septemibser 30, 2023 We repaid both loans in
Aupgust 2003,
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Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities
The changes in our inancial delis are reconciled 1o the cash llows from borrowings included in the cash How from financing

activities.

LR BE Lranaa Cazh Flows CWE:::!:: L.T:E: FE:‘::_;: Crther 12731/ 2023
Cuerent financial delb 1586 =1986 o IZI o L4 _l.HJ
Morciarent feancisl deby e | ] Q =14 o =L14T EELT
Hnlndi‘. debt (nominal voluma} 1.1.?‘51 =3 586 l:l =24 o L] 755
Bl aafustrnasnt =773 0 a ] ] o =S50
Tranzaciion oot =47 0 Li} a ] 4 =35
Financial chrbt (canrying amouri) 16543 =3.586 a - Fral iz Ti69
Aot v infenést and payment to bankcs Fakl =83 4 1] =] = 5
IS rite swvapns 753 L 0 -1 -5 ] 517
Litiei* Llag -1n 0 =7 o =Jikl L&l
Tmi..llnhm.ln MHW Iﬂhﬂlﬂ 140 —i A L a2 T ] M!‘I
P —

Emiton VLI CahFows B""':: c::'ﬁﬁ F:’ﬂ:;: Coiwr 1372022
Cisrere financisl chelb:i A7E5 ~HACE o k] . L] LE00 156
Mor-ourant finarcisl debt k] Q o &l Li] =LEo0 i
Finamcial cobe (nomined wolums) 1300E =1.406 o i L] o 11,764
B ae Lo -3 o o 2 -T.-H Q =713
Tharspction gunks -5.5 o o 0 Q g A7
Hmﬂduﬂu{mmmj 13005 1406 o 77 a1 & 10943
.Mum-d mm—u . iﬂ 119 o 0 . a 2:. 03
I enesg rate nwaps &2 a 1] -] M1 TE3
Lesza! 2143 =424 ] 55 1] 200
Total liabities trom finandng activithes 15750 =1,711 o 131 =73 3s2 14,039
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Section F - Management of
Financial Risk Factors

This section discusses financigl risk factors and risk management regarding foreign curmency exchange
rate fisk, interest rate sk, equily price sk, credi sk, and Bouidity sk Funher, it contains inlormation
about financial Instruments.

(F1) Financlal Risk Factors and Risk Management

(Z) Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments

‘We use derhvatives to hedpe lorelgn currency risk or inmterest rate risk and designate them a5 cash llow
of lair value hedpes il they quatily lor hedge accounting under IFRS 9, which involves judgment.

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments in Hedge Accounting Relationships

Mamy transactions constitute economic hedges, and therelore contribute effectively 1o the securing ol
Tmancial risks but do not quality bar hiedge accounting under IFRS 9. To hedge curmency risks inherant in
Toresgn-currency dencminated and recopnized monelary assets and liabilties, we do not designate our
heeld-for-trading derivative Enancial instruments In hedge accounting, because e poolits and losses
from the underlying transactions are recopnized in profit or loss In the same periods as the profits or
losses rom e cerivatives

In agidition, we cocasionally heve contracts that contain foreign curency embedced dervatives that
ane reguired 10 b accounted lor separately;

Fair vialue fluctustions in the spol component of such derivatives at FVTPL ane incliuded in Other non
operating incomefexpense, net while the forward element is shown in Financial income, net.

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments
&) Cash Flow Hedge

In general, we apply cash llow hedge accounting 1o the foreign currency risk of highly probalble
forecasted transactions. With regard to foreign curmency risk, hedge accounting relates to the spot price
and 1o the intrinesic values of the dervatives designated and quallying as cash Row hedges,
Accordingly, the effective portlon of these components determined on a present value basls is
recarded in other comprehensive income The forward element and time value as well as fareign
currency basls spreacs excluded from the hedging relationship are reconded as cost of hedgingina
separale position in other comprenensive income As the amounts are not material, they are preseated
together with the effective portion of the cash flow hedges in our consolidated statements of
comprehensive inoome and consolidated statements of chanpges in equily, All other components
including counterparty credit risk adjustments of the desivative and the ineffective portion are
immediately recognized in Financial Income, net in profit of loss, Amounts accumiutated in other
comprehensive income ane reclassiied 1o profit or loss 1o Other non-operating income’expense, nel
and Finandal Income, net Inthe same pericd when the hedged item affects peofit or loss.

s} Me Investment Hedge

In general, we do nat hedge the foreign curency exposure from the net assets of subsidiaries with a
funclional currency different from the eure, and we do not appty net inestment hedpe accounting,
However, in selected cases we might do 50, and we applied net investiment hedge accounting in 2023,
For more information, see Note (D),

The designated component in hedge accounting ks the spot price of the derivatives designated and
quetifying as nel investment hedpes, Accardingly, the effective portion of this companent determined
on a present value basls s recorded in Other comprehensive income. All other nol-designated
companents or ineffective portions are immediately recognized in Financial Income, net in profit or
loss. Amounts accumulated in Cther comprehensive income are reclassified o profit or loss 1o Other
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non-operating income/expense, net in the same period when the forelgn operation is partially
disposed of or sold,
) Fair Value Hedge

‘We apply falr value hedpe accounting for certain of our fixed-rate financial abilities and show the falr
value fiuchsations in Fnancial income, net,

o) Valuation and Testing of Effecliveness

AL inception of a designated hecging relationship, we document our risk management strategy and the
economic relationship bebween hedged ibem and hedging instrument. The existence of an economic
relaticnship ks demonstrated as well as the effectiveness of the hedging relationship tested
prospectively by applying the critical terms match for car foreign curency hedges, SINce CUMencies,
maturities, and the amounts are closely atigned fos the forecasted transactions and for the spot
element ol the lorwand exchange rate conlract of intrinsic value of the cumency oplions, respectively,
For interest male swaps, effectiveness is tested prospectively using statistical methods inthe formel a
regression analysis, by which the vaticity and extent of the relationsiip between the change in value of
the hedged items as the independent variable and the Tair value change of the dervalives as the
dependent variable is determined, The main sowces of ineflectveness are;

= The effect of the counterparty and our own creit risk on the fair value of the forwand exchange
contracts and intenest rate swaps, which is not reflected in the respective hedged item, and

- [ifterences in the timing of hecged item and hedped transaction in our cash flow hedges.

Wae ane exposed to vatous linancial isks, such as market risks (that is, foreign currency exchange rate
risk, interest rate risk, and equity price risk), credit sk, and Uguidity risk

‘We manage masket risks, credi risk, and liguidity risk on a Group-wide basis through our global
ireasury depatment, global risk manegement, and global eredit manapement. Risk management
policies are established to identify risks, to set apgrogriate risk imits, and to monitor risks. Risk
management polices and hedging strategies ane Labd out in our internal guidelines {for example,
treasury guiceline and other intermal guidelines) and are subject to coninuous. internal reviens
analysis, and update to reflect changes in market conditions and our business.

‘We only purchase derhvative financlal instruments to reduce risks and not for speculstion, which is
defined a5 entering info dedvathe instruments withow a cormespanding underlying transaction,

Fareign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk Factors

Az we are active worlcwide, cur ordinary cperatlons are subject to risks associated with flucteations in
Toreign currencies. Since the Group's entities mainly conduct their operating business in their own
Tuncticnal currencies, our risk of exchange mate fluctuations from ongoing ordinary operations [s not
considered significant, However, the Group's entities cocasionally gemserale foreign currency
denominated receiables, payables, and other manetary items by transacting in a currency other than
the respective functionsl curmency, Ta mitigste the extent of the associated lorsign currency exchange
rale risk, a signdicant portion al these ransactions is hedged as gescribed Delow

In rare clreumstances, transacting in a currency ather than the runmianalc'.rrem_.- alse leads o
emixedded foreign currency derivatives being separated and measured at fair value through profit or
loss,

In ackition, the inteliectus! property (IP) rolders in the SAP Group are exposed 10 risks associated with
Torecasted intercompany cash llows in loreign currencies. These cash Hlows arse out of rovally
payments from subsidiaries to the respective IP holder, The royalties are linked 1o the subsidiaries
exdernal revenue, This arangement |eads to a concentiation of the foregn curmency exchange rate risk
wilh the [P hotders, as the rayalties are mostly denominated in the subsidiaries’ local currendies, while
ithe funciional currency of the IP holders with The highest revally velume is the eure. The highest foreign
curnency exchange rate exposure of this kind relates to the currencies of subsidiaries with significant
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aperations, for examgple the LS. dollar, the pound stering, the Japanese yen, the Swiss franc, and the
Australian dotiar,

Generally, we are nat exposed to any significant foreign currency exchanpe rale risk with regiard to our
investing and financing activities, a5 such ectivities are normally conducted inthe functional currency of
the investing or barmawing entity.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk Management

‘We continuously monitor cur exposure to currency fluctuation risks based on monetary ltems and
Tevecasted transactions and DUrsue & Group-wice sirategy 1o manage loneign currency exchange rate
risk, using derivative financial instruments, primarily foreign exchange forward contracts, as approprizate,
switlh the primany aim ol reducing prafit o Iss volatiit, Most of the hedging instruments ane not
designated as being in a hedpe accounting relationship.

Currency Hedges Designated as Hedging Instruments (Cash Flow Hedges)

‘We enter into derivative financial instruments, primarily fomeign exchange forward contracts, o hedge
significant lorecasted cash fiows (royalties) from joneign subsidianes denominated in foreign currencies
wilth a hedge ratio of 1:1 and a hedge harizon of up to 12 months, which is also the maximum maturity
of the forelgn exchange derivatives we use.

Far all years presented, no previously highly probable transaction designated as a hedged item ina
Toneign ciarmency cash Tow Pedge relatianship ceased (o be probabie. Thenedone, we did not
discontinue any of our cash fliow hedge relationships. Also, ineffectiveness was either not materdal or
non-existent in ail years reported. Generadly, the cash fiows of the hedped forecasied transactions ane
expecied o oocur and to be recognized in profil or loss monthly within a time frame of 12 months flom
the date of the Statement of Financial Position,

Currency Hedges Designated as Hedging Instruments {Met Investment Hexdges)

‘We have hedged part of our met imvestment in cur LS, subsidiaries wiich have the LS, dollar as their
Tuncticnal currency, by entering inlo a deal contingent fonwvard. The hedged risk is the weakening of the
.5 dollar apainst the eunn. The deal contingent forward s desipnated as a hedging instrument for the
changes in the value af the net investment that i aftributable o changes in the LS, dollarfeun spol
rate.

To assess hedge eflectiveness, we have determined the economic relationship between the hedging
instrument and the hedped ilern, by cormparing changes in the carrying amount of the deal comingent
Torward that is attributabe to a change in the spot rate with changes in the investment in the LS,
subsidiaries due to movements in the spaot rate,

The amowiis a5 al December 31, 2023, relating 1o items designaled as hedged ilems wene 35 foflows:

Designated Hedged Items in Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Hedges

Forecasted Forecased -

e Licerize Paymanis P g Laognse Fayminds K ke

Flor] Fairr]
Changs in vl s for Caloudating hedge =
ineffectiveness : _1.9_ lf'_ _ﬂ =
Caah Mo el 19 a Er L
Costot h-odw — ] = 0 ol 0
IBalincas rgenaening in Cach Aow hedge
dusaran for wlich Pesige BOCOURLInG B G [/} -15 o a
banger apnlied

The amounts as at December 31, 2023, designated as hedging instruments were as lollows:
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Designated Hedging instruments in Fereign Currency Exchange Rate Hedges

Forecasted Licerse Met ivestment Fotecanted Licenae Het imvestment
Parymwnts in ELIR S Payments in ELIR musn
Cmsons 2023 2z
omiral amaurs EE ] L7t o
Camying At
T — ' P B 5 [
Crthesr Firuancial Lal.:-.l.l'lc-b [ vi‘J.:I o =0 0
Chiange i value recogrized inGC1 18 15 Erd o
-
m_m“:’ ez o -108. o o
Ot of haidgeng recogped in 001 -7 o 5 o
At reclasiiad om cath Mow I '
hedge in OC1 to Other non-opetating 2 v} i &
T, M
At rclassifiad lrom cont of % i 3 F

thedgng i OC1 o Fnancs indorme. net

On December 31, 2023 we held the loliowing instruments to hedge exposunes to changes in foreign

CANPErICY:

Details on Hedging Instruments in Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Hedges
Matusity
H0z3 032
Faiiard Suchibnps OMTENS 1-5 Mathe T-12 Months 1=6 Manghs T=12 Mantrd
Pt sgciant e i € il 1365 1035 =) 550
Aierage EURGED lorward rate b asn P n
Awmg_-a EURPY forwarel i I Lz 15210 . 13823
Avaiags EURCHF forward este (18 aga Lo a7
Merage EURAUD forward rate. 154 157 e 154
r\fmaﬁEELﬂ?LﬁD!.wdl&F L‘.Il:‘ 10 LS 103

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Exposure
Our risk exposure & based on the following assumptions:

The SAP Group's entities generally operate in thelr functional currencies. Inexceplional cases and
limited economic endranments, cperating transactions ans denaminated in curencies ctiver than
the functional currency, leading to a foreign curency exchange rate risk for the reiated monetasy
instruments. Whene matesial, this fareign currency exchange rate risk is hedged, Therefore,
Ructuations in foreign currendy exchange rales only have an impact on profit with regard 1o our
unhedged non-derivative manetary financial Instrumenis and related income or expenses.

Our free-standing derivatives designed for hedging foreign currency exchange rate risks almost
completely balance the changes in the fair values of the hedged item attributabie to exchange rate
mavements in the Consalidated Income Staterments in the same pedod As a consequence, the

hecged items and the hegging instruments are not exposed 1o oneign cumency exchiange fate nsks,
and thensby hinve no effect an profit,

Conseguently, we are only exposed 10 signilicant lorelgn currency exchange rate lluctuations with
regard to the following
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The spol component of derivatives held within a designated cash flow hedge relationship affecting
ather comorehensive income

Fereign currency embedded derivatives affecting other non-cperating expense, net

Unhedged lomign-curmency monetary assets and labilities aflecting other nen-coerating expense,
net

Thus, our farelgn currency exposure (and cur averagefiahv/low exposune) as at December 31 was as

Teillows:

Forelgn Currency Exposure

€l 2023 002
Y- doepaorsurnd 10w o Bl S STERDT CLETENCMS ‘_-':3' 17
Mmmm“ e e, T LY ! = i
Fghast sepeisn | a2 17
ILCrasT SpOE —35- 13

Forelgn Currency Exchange Rate Sensitivity

I on December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the lorelgn currency exchange rates had been higher/lower
as described below, this would have had the fotlowing effects on ather non-cperating expense, net
and other comprehenshe come:

Forelgn Currency Sensitivity
Effects on Other hon-Cipersting Experce, Effects on Crher Comprehenshee Incosme
£ = it
NED 022 20Tl 2023 Farr 2021
— |
D=5 Inplad watihin i Charsigrastinct cash Thow heckpe relationship
All e ouFenci —10% (2002 all e cufrencied —1 0
Sl all major ourmenscies ~10%) against the euro = 1% 106
AN e cuarcied = 105 (2022 all mar Surmencees « L0 -2m -1 -106
AL ol major cuftencies + 100 againat the éurd
Thestenlt: USEr ~10% [20EF ~ 10 2001: —100) agaens! the sum 13l i3 36
Thastesal LIS0r +10r% (200 +10% 20TL: » 109 sdairat the eu -1 -2 ]
Ermbacised clarmvatves
Al curarie — L0 Sgarr the segQ0Tied ArCtionsl Cuimansy -6l -8 -9
Al currencies + 0% againg the respactiod funceicnal cumency &4 k| i
Thesrack EUR ~1006.{2027 =107 7001 <1096 agaenat o respective .,-_a 30 -22 [
el o SR .
Thesreod ELIR +1 0% (002 105 202] +105%) apainst ek et T 20 w0
funemional corngy
Linhsoigna raeretpry sy bno ksl
Al currerssiog — L0, sanat the sespactive functianal cumanty -112 53 -15
AN corrercied + 109 ipasni Uk neRpiCtig functisnad cormamy 112 &3 15
Thastalt LGS0 ~ 1056 (20EE - 109 2031 —105) Bpasi ther eigaectivd ik a2 3
Funchional curmency
Thasraod USE: +1056 {202F + 105 2001 +1056) agaerna the respeacthay 6 2 3
Fufaral Sy
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Interest Rate Risk

Interest Rate Risk Factors

We are exposed to interest rate risk &5 a result of our investing and financang activities mainty in euros
and LS. dollars, since a larnge part of our investments are based on variable rates andior shoet
miaturities {2023 53%; 202 64%) and most of our financing transactions are based on fixed rates and
long maturities (2023 100%: 2022 879%)

Interest Rate Risk Management

The aim of our interest rte fisk management is 1o reduce profit or oss volatility and optimize our
interest resull by creating a batanced structure of fixed and variable cash flows. We therelore manage
interest rate risks by adding interest-rate-related derhvative instruments (o a given porttalio of
investments and debt financing. The desired fxed-floating miboof our net debl is set by Une Treasury
Committes.

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments (Fair Value Hedges)

To match the interest rate risk from our financing trensactions (o our iwestments, we use receier
interest rate Swaps to alter the intenast cash llows of cenain lied-rae linancial liabilites o Noating,
and by this means secure the fair value of the swapgped finanding transactions ona 1:1 ratio. Including
interest rate Swaps, 43% (2022 52%) of our tolal inenest-Deanng linandcial Eabilities cutstanding as at
December 31, 2023, had a fixed interest rate.

The amownis as al December 31, 2023, relating to items designated as hedged ilems wene a5 follows:

Designated Hedged ltems in Interest Rate Hedges

2023 e rd

Fiod-Rate Firie-Fati " Findd-Rate FroedRoe

o misons Bourowing Bormowing Borrowing Bomowing.

in EUR inUSD nEUR LSO

Bt st A550 o0 H5E0 aa

CAITYING Ao, 3564 ] EViCH 45
Aogrrdated b value sdknimerts in

Otfwew Ainancind Lt iters B, 5 ot A

Chuangs in b valiss usad for mensuing 5 1 3 11

inaflatihvarsras bor the repoiing peviod

Anourriulated smount of fair valus hedigs

eciprarnans ot hapdigeee D Cdddad 10 (v] =7 1] =11
e plustad Mo hadgreg painiloses

The amounts as at December 31, 2023, designated as hedging instruments were as follows:

Designated Hedging Instruments In Interest Rate Hedges

2033 R

Irterest Rate Inberest Rate Irtemat Rote Interest Rate

mone Twaps for S s for Swaps o Swaps for

ELR Borrowing USDBomrowing  EUR Bomowing USD Boniowing.

Betiong] st 4550 w0 4550 T

Canmying amount

Dt francial orssets o o [+] a

Crhes firnancisl labdtes =535 =1 =74 =3
Clange irs (s vlsd usid for maatuing

nelfactivireds for the neparing perac =34 =] [ 10
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As at December 31, 2023, we held the following instrumenis to hedge exposures o changes in interest
rates:

Details on Hedging Instruments in Interest Rate Hedges

ia
Maturity
£ miions 024 ook i) I froakil 2030 2031
ELR intarest rabe swaps
[T —— 1000 1000 800 50 1250
BT EDE VarablE ORI FNn i S941% L3659 STO0E% B340%: SN0
LS inderesd Fie Sevaps
Momral amounts L]
Average varable nbesest rate L5
M2
Maturity
£ =i oy 2037 2073 nX| 2030 anal
ELR intares rabe Swans
Pl MUt 1000 1000 BOO o] 1350
A B valable S ek Lo 3'9-&9’*'; Jﬂé’!ﬁ Z.Tl‘?.u‘i 3343“.; 351 t“x.

LIS inoenast raite Savaps

Posmere st o4

A;Efﬂemmmeﬂ!ur L 150
Interest Rate Exposure

Our inferest rate exposure (and our averageshigh/low exposure) as at Decemiber 31 was as faliows:

Interest Rate Risk Exposure
HEE 2
€ il
“Woar-End Avorage High Lo woar-End s g High [ P8
Faer viplusy interast rmte Tisk
From mwestments [211] iy il =1 e] 0 s Ot k]
CErah A irddnast iabi rik
From imesments (sncludng =
intarest-Emaring cash L] -l'.'l.'- 745 220 619 583 T an?
From francng Q LI 173 Q 145 171 LG 145
From rdarasl rats Swaps dE4 A4 A58 AEd Akl 454 L F] dfda

Interest Rate Sensitivity

A sensitivity analysis is provided to show the imgact of our interest rate risk exposure on profit or loss
and eguity in accordance with IFRS 7, considering the fallewing:

Changes In interest rates only affedt the accounting for non-derivative fieed-rate financlal
instruments if they are recognized at fair value, Therelone, Such interest rate changes do not change
the carmying amounts of cur non-dervative fixed-rate finandal labilities, as we acoount for them at
asmartized cost, Investments in lixed-rale linanciad assets classified as fair value through prolit or
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logs wene not materal al each year end reported. Thus, we do not consider any fixed-rate
Instruments in the equity-related sensithity calculation.

Income or expenses reccrded In connection with non-gdervative financial instruments with variable
interest rates are subject o interest rate risk If they are not hedged items in an effective hedge
relationship. Thus, we take into consideration interast rale changes relating 1o cur variable-rate
financing and our investments in mcney market insiruments inthe profit-redated sensiivily
cabeulation.

Thie cesigraation of intenest rate receiver Swaps in a e valee hedge relationship leads to inlenes
rate changes affecting Financial income, net. The fair value movements related to the interest rate:
swaps e not reflected in the sensiivity calculation, as they offset the fixed inferest rate payments
for the bonds and private placements as hedped items. Howewer, chanpes [n market interest rates
aftect the amount of interest payments from the interest rate swap, As a conseguence, we include
those elfects of market interest rates on interest payments In the profit-related sensithvity
caboulation.

If, on December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, Interest rates had been higherfower this would hawe had
the following effects on Financial income, net,

Interest Rate Sensitivity
Effescis on Financial lnoomss, Met
£ s
2023 2033 2021
—
Darwatives held within a desigrated fair value hedge relatisnshin
Iridierersd rates = 1000EG for LS, doller srears §00bnd for sung area (D027 =TS 1 3500 for 36 _=a T
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It raners — 1 D0 for LAS. aollar aneas/—L00UEE for swrd el (D002 — 20— 100 e 26 5 10
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Varable-rate fmancing.
Inberest rates +1000ps for LUS, dollar srea’s L00DDs Tor eung area (200 = TR+ 125003 for & 18 d
LS. gollan/eurg seau 20071 « 750+ 3000s for LS. collan i anas)
Inberest rabes -100bps for LS. gollar aread-L00bps for suro srea (2022 -25%/-100ps for & L 3
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e . - .
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Equity Price Risk
Equity Price Risk Factors

We are exposed to equity price risk with regard to our westments in equity securities.

Equity Price Risk Management

Our listed eouity insesiments are monioned Dased on the curment markel vaiue that is dlected by the
fluctuations in the volatile stock markets worldwice. Unlisted equlty investments are monitored based
on detailed financial information proviced by the investees, The fair value of aur listed equity
investments depends on the equity prices, while the teir value of the unlisted equity iInvestments is
influenced by various unobservalie input ctons
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Equity Price Exposure

On Decemiper 31, J023, our exposure rom our inwestments i equity securities wes €4.367 million
{202% €5, 137 millior; 2021: €5,798 million).

Equity Price Sensitivity

Our sensitivity towards a fluctuation in equity prices is as follows:

Equity Price Sensitivity

£ e b ik 2021

v stments in ety vecunities.
InCrene® it SCRATY ERICES Ared NS pCIe
unabsensatie nout s of 22% - nceess of francial 1093 503 515
e, et
Decreass in equity prices and respective
unobsyratby npaes of 279% = chcreata of =LaG =503 -55
firiricial incame, net

TFor 2022 and 2L 8 +/=1{% Foresse SN ORI Wi SSSUmel

Mast ol our equity securities ane within the venture-capital-related investment activities. For purposes
of our equity price sensithity disclosure, we benchmarked the histosical aversge of public market
meturns al the MASDRO and S&P S00 (o the average annual venture capital benchmark relums over &
12-year period, which [s the assumed average holding perlod of venture capital funds. Overall, our
analysis indicated a blended return ange of /- 22% in 2023,

Credit Risk

Credit Risk Factors

To rexiuce the credit risk in invesiments, we arranpe 1o receive rights to collateral for certain investing
aciivities in the full amount of the nvestiment volumes, which vee would e allowed to make use of only
in the case of default of the countenparty ta the investment. In the absence of other signdficant
apreements 10 reduce our credit risk exposure, the total amounts recognized as cash and cash
equivalents, current investments, loans, and other financial receivaibles, rade recehvables, and
derivative linancial A55Se1s represent our maximum expasure o oredil risks, exept Tor the agreements
mentioned abowe.

Credit Risk Management
Cash at Banks, Time Deposits, and Debt Securities

To mitigate the credit risk from our Investing activities and derivative financial assets, we conduct all cur
aclivities anly with approved major fnancial instituticns and issuers that cary high external ratings, as
requined By our internal treasury guideline. Among its stipulations, the guideline requires that we invest
only In assets from ssuers with a minimum rating of at least “BEB flal.” We oniy Imeest in isswers with a
lower rating In excepticnal cases. Such vestiments wene nol material in 2023 and 2022, The weighted
averape rating of aur flinancial assets is AL \We pursue a policy of cautious investments. characterized by
precominantly current investments, standand indestment instruments, a5 well a5 a wide porialio
diversification by doing business with a varlety of counterparties.

T further reduce aur credit risk, we redquire collateral for cerain imestments in the full amount of the
Irvestment voiume, wiich we would be allowed to make use of inthe case of default of the
counterpany 1o the imestment. A5 such collateral, we only acoept bands with al least imestment -
grace rating level,

In addition, the concentration of credit risk that exists when Counterparties are Inwolved in similar
activities by instrument, sectorn, of peographic anea [s further nvitipated by diversification of
counterparties throughout the world and adherence 1o an intemal imit system for each counterparty,
This internal limit system stipulates that the business volume with individual oounlerparties is
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restricted to a defined limil that depends an the [owest official long-term credit rating available by at
least one of the maar rating agencies, the Tler 1 capital of the respective financial instiution, ar
participation in the German Depasiters’ Guarantes Fund o similar profection schemes, We
continuously monitor strict comgpliance with these counterparty limits. As the premium for credit
defaull swaps mainly depends on market participants’ assessments of the oreditaoahiness of a
deblor, we also closely ohserve the cevelopment of credd delault swap spraads in the market to
evaluale probable risk developments and react in & limely manner to changes should these manitest.

For cash al banks, time cepasits, and delbd securities such &s acquined bends or commencial papers,
W apply the general impairment appeoach, A% TS our policy 1o only inwest in high-quality assets of
issLeers with a minimum rating of at least Investmient grace 50 a5 to minimize the risk of credit losses,
it Lise The low credil risk exception. Thus, these assels are always allocated to stage 1 af the three-
stage credil loss mode] and we record a loss allowance for an amount equal to 12-month expected
ol |osses, This loss allowance is calculated based on our exposune as al the respective reponting
dale, the boss given delault for this exposune, and the credit default swap spread as a measure for the
probability of defaut, To ensure that during their lifetime our investments alwanys fullill the requirement
al being imestment-grade, we manitor changes in credit risk by tracking published external credit
ratings. Amang cther things, we consider cash a1 banks, time depasits, and debt securities 1o be in
default when the counterparty is undiiely to pay its cbligations in full, when there |s information atsout a
counterparty's financial difficuities, or in case of a drastic Increase inthe credit default swap spread of
acounterparty for a profonged time pericd while the overall market environment remains rather statile
Such tinancial assets are written off either partially o in full § the likelihood of recovery Is considered
remate, wivich mightt be evidenced, for example, by the bankrupdcy of a counterpanty of such linancial
assels,

Trade Receivables

The default risk of our trade receivables is managed separately, malnly based on assessing the
creditporthiness of custamers through external ratings and on our past experdence with the customens
concerned. Based an this assessment, individual credi limils are established for each customer and
deviations Trom such credi lmits need to be approved Dy management,

‘We apply the simplified impairment approach using a provision matrix for all trade receivables and
contract A55els 1o take into acoount any lketime expected credil losses alreach af inilial recagnition.
Far ihe purpase of the provision matrlx, customens are clustered into different risk dasses, mainiy
based on market information such as the country risk assessment of their country of orgin Loss rates
used o reflect Lifetime expedted credit losses are determined using a rell-rate method based on the
probability of 8 receivable pregressing through different stages of being overdue and on our actual
credit loss experience over (he past years. These Loss rates are enhanced by larward-looking
information to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the
historical data has been colbected, cument conditions, and the expected changes in the ecanomic
conditions over the expected life of the receivables, Forwand-looking information is based on changes
in country risk ratings, or llectuations in credd defaull Swaps of countries of the customers we do
business with, We continucusly manitor outstanding recesvabies locally to assess whetner there is
objective evidence that our rade recehables and contract assels are credit-impaired. Evidence that
trade receivables and contract assets are credit-impaired Include, among the trade recelvables being
et due. IMomation about significant financial ditficully of the customer of non-adherence 1o &
payment plan. Under extreme situaticns such as the current war situaticn in Ukraine, related account
fecehales and contract assets ane crifically assessed to determing whether they ase credit-impaired.
We consider recehables (o be in defaull when the counterparty i5 unlikely o pay its obligations in full
Hewever, a detay of payments (for exampte, more than 30 days past due) inthe normal course of
basiness alone does not necessarily indicate a custome: defaull. We write off acoount balances either
partially or in full if we Judge that the likeilnood of recovery ts remote, which might be evidenced, for
example, when banknupicy proceedings for a customes are finalized o when all enforcement efforns
have been exhausted,

The impad of defaull on cur trade recebabies from individual custome s is mitigated by cur larpe
customer base and lts distribution acress many different industries. compary sizes, and countries
worldwide. For more information about our trade receivables, see Note (A3
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Credit Risk Exposure

Cash, Time Depaosits, and Debt Securities
As at December 31, 2023, our exposure to credit risk Trom cash, lirme depasits, and cebt securities was

a5 followes:

Credit Risk Expasure from Cash, Time Deposits, and Debt Securities

£l a0, urieds olfieie $0MSa0

Rl clinss § — o riak
F;r.ut clags 7 = highiisk
Rk class 3 — unerted
Tetal

€ rrllliones, Wb cohenwie SLa0ed

Rk class L= Imlﬂ
Fisk clazs 2~ highinisk
Rk class 3 — uniated
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As al Decemiser 31, 2023, the majority of our ather loans and other financial receivables was
concentrated In Germany, There were no lcans, or other financial recetvables past due but nat
impaired and we had noindications of impairments of such assets that werne not past due and not

Impaired as at thal date.

Master Netting and Similar Arrangements

W ender into dervatives on the basis of the German Master Agreement o Financial Dervathes
Transactions ("Deutscher Rahmenvertrag fir Finanztermingeschafte™) and similar agreements. The
respulations of these agreements apply particulary in the case of insolvency and not during the narmal

course of business.

The lotlowing tabie shows the derivative instruments that ane subject 1o such netling arangements:

Master Netting and Similar Arrangements

Lalow

Fraincial issets

Francal babitie

2023 raarry
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Trade Receivables and Contract Assets
A5 at December 31, 2023, our exposure to credit risk from trade recevables was as follows:

Credit Risk Exposure from Trade Receivables and Contract Assets

Cormolidated Financsl

Furthar Infonmaton At
Sustainabdity
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Irdoumration
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AR crvencia Mane tha 90 din's —1I% 40 FE =200
Todal —4. 5% SE47 o0 -#61
The mowvement in the ECL allowance bor trade receivalbiles and contract assets is as Tollows:
Moverment in ECL Allowance for Trade Receivables and Contract Assets
farr] Foi v
Crinom ECL Allerwanco ECL Alknvancs
ﬁ-e_um'eai it :I-'_I. =26l -I.'_-‘El
et credit nsses secognized =12 -187
dricants weritten off -} 1
el o 81 12051 -3 -2l
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity Risk Factors
We ane exiposed o Liguidity risk fram our abligations towards suppliers, employees, and financial
institutions.
Liguidity Risk Management

Our Houidity is managed by our ghobal treasury department with the primary aim of maintaining
licquictity at a level that is adequate to meet our Enancial obligations.

Generally, our primarny source of guidity is funds generated from cur business cperaticns. Our global

treasury depanment manages liquidity centrally for all subsicranies, Whene possibile, we pool ther cash

surplus 5o that we can use Bauidity centratly for our business operatians, for subsidiades’ funding
reCranements, or 1 imest any net surplus B the marked, VWeth this sirategy, we Seek 1o oplimize yields,
while ensuring lguichity, by imeesting only with counterparties and suers of high oedit quality, as
explalned betore, Hence, high levels of liguid assets and marketable securities provide a sirategic

oOoOooodn

resenve, helping keep SAP flexible, sound, and independent.
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Apart from ethective working capital and cash management, we have reduced the liquidity risk inherent
in managing our day-te-day operations and meeting our financing respansiilities by armanging an
adequate volume of available credit Tacilities with varicus Bnancial institutions on which v can draw if
Necessany.

In order 1o retain high finandal flexibility, in 2023, SAP 5E entered into a sustainability-linked revoiving
credit facility with a volume of €30 billion with an iniial teom wntil 2008 plus two one-year extension
aptions. replacing its previous credit facility of €225 billlon from 2017, The use of the facility is not
restricted by any linancizl covenants. Bormowings under the facility bear interest of EURIBOR or the
apreed Benchmark rate lor The respective currency plus 8 Dase mangin which might be adjusted
depentding on the fulfiliment of agreed sustesnabllity perfarmance tangats. Wi are also required o pay
a commiment fee af Thos per annum on the unased available credit. We have not driavn on the
facility.

In September 2019, we infliated a commercial paper (Commercial Paper, or CP) program. As at
December 31, 2003, we had €0 million of CP outstanding with malurities penerally less than six months
(2022 €930 milllon).

Adiciitionally, &5 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group had available lines of crect totaling
€555 million and €555 million, respectively. There were immaterial bosmowings culstanding under these
lines of credit B all years presented,

Liguidity Risk Exposure
The table below is an analysis of the remaining contractual maturities of all our financial lakilities and
pusraniees held as a1 December 31, 2023

Financia! llabllitles for which repayment can be requested by the contract parner at any time are
assigned to the eariest possible period, Varable interest paments were calcitated using the latea
relevant interest rate fixed a5 at December 31, 2023 As we generally settle our derivative contrads
grass, we show the pay and recelve legs separately Tor all our currency and interest rate derivatives,
whether or not the fair value of the derivative is negative. The cash outflows for the currency derivatives
are translated using the applicable spat rate.

‘We continue to provide rental guarantees for certain otfices used by Qualtrics. The amounts shown for
the financigl puaraniees are the gross amounts we guaranies, however, we are entitled to
incemnification payments by Oualtrics which will reduce the guarantee amounts disclosed,

Contractual Maturities of Non-Derivative Financial Liabilities

o m Cordractual Cash Flows
1Z7F0/203F ke Foar—) 205 2027 ot Thasraaluey
Mon-dervative fnanclal Uabilites m——
Trade paybles -1022 -1z a a a P a
Bandn 780 i 52 ~L161 1048 —L03 -2604
[ — 399 s a 3 i P o
fr— [ o o a a a o 0
-Emmr\cu[ a1 —l:l a a a [ 1]
[————— —iga -0 260 204 “150 127 -a04
e firancial Esbiltias E - ) = o a 0 a
Total of non-derivative finandal lsbiites -10,078 2z —L288 —1308 178 -1160 -3.408
Finareial guaraniess o 19 19 19 19 19 300
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R m Contractual Cash Flows

L2310 ) i 2075 e FZT Thensier

Mea-dlids i iitivee [rancisd b ilives:
Trache pirratsles =LA%E L a a Li] L 0
Bongi . =815 =L 550 il <P =118z = L5 =1£36
Prevace plocemsnos =T 14 -316 =3 =3 =57 Q
Losaires 1456 147 a a a 0 !
Commercial paper 578 Sk a 1} a 0 a
Lease Babilties =2hdfy ~d =317 -24F -22R =1k =161
Crhisd franesal Babiitied A7 —u7 -1 a a 0 [
Total of nom-dorvative Tinarcial labiiies =15.002 —£.308 L8058 =112z -1.303 =133 M7
F-Inandal.. Juarantoes D a a 1] Q L a

The Cairying amaount of SR financisl bt ncluoes SCored mbevest 1e o nonoeratins Snancial b o wal a5 for o vathvees. wihvis (e cash ousiow of this socnesa
nhined B prrvended TogetRer with e unceiyng IahEty inihe mabury analyis

Contractual Maturities of Derivative Financlal Liabilities and Financlal Assets

— E_"‘_“':_: Contraciu Cash Fiows E"_r"':::' Corerssiual Cash Flows
127302023 WEh Theesher 123172002 20:3 Themealter
Deaivative financial [Eabilivies and st = . . . .
Desivative financial Uabilities.
Currency derrvaiies not designated as hedging nsnuments =6 =28
Carsh outfows =248 o ~314% =13
Cashinflows 2017 o 111 [
Curw«mw.w,w;wwnhﬁrum:-m -2 5
Cashinfiowe P 2
Interest rabe darvatives desiprated as hedgng instruments =53 =T42
Coshounflows -2} =l e LiF3 =131
Cash mflows L] 3 63 a
.Tl:lrll.ﬂ.l:-llfh'l'ﬂ';#m Li!!;;ll.ﬂih —ﬂ3 g —éﬁ —5-" —Bdg -1 —&50
Deeivative financial assets
. ﬁﬂmmﬁmmwmasmmlms =2 ]
Cath outllows -2 -1713
Cath inflais a2 L0
Curtancy’ Ghavh B chidiprated il hadgrg Sisiaveni 1 33
Caesh cunfionws _':,:n'a -107@
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Total of derivative financst assets s 7 0 63 st a
Ttal od dervative finandsd labilites and assets =53 =147 =547 =187 -5l &5
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(F.2) Fair Value Disclosures on Financial Instruments

(Z) Level Transfers

It is our policy that transbers between the cifferent [evels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed o have
oocurred al the beginning of the period of the event or change In cliroumstances that caused the
transher,

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

W LiSe Varicus t:p'l')ﬂ'&-ﬁl financiad instraments in the ondEnany course of business, which are classified ag
either amoetized cost (AC), kalr value through other comprehenshive income (PYOCT)L or fair value
through prefit or loss (FYTPL). For those financial instruments measured al fair value or Tor which fair
valuee must be disclosed, we have categorized the linancial instruments indo a three-level tair value
hierarchy depending on the inpuls used to determine fair value and thelr significance for the valuation
Techinigues,

Falr values of Financilal Instruments and Classification Within the Fair Value Hlerarchy

123150033
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Falr Values of Financial Instruments and Classification Within the Falr Value Hierarchy
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Fair Values of Financial Instruments by Instrument Classification
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Determination of Fair Values

Adescription of the valuation lechnigues and the inguts used in the air value measurement is ghn

beloinn

Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
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Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value

Typ= Far il Higvarchy Destermination of Fair Valus®alustion Technque
Firanicasl labdiges
Fsd-rate Donds (Tirancel labdities) Lervel 1l Dot ed pross 0 an sctve market
Depcountad cach Mows
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Fuurnd S ol il Soopd iy and prrincinal see
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Larenl 2

For ather nan-cervathve linancial assetsliabilites and variable rale inancial debt, it is assumed that
their carmying value reascnalbbly approsimates their fair values,

Transters Between Levels 1 and 2

Transfers of eguity securities from Level 2 to Level 1, which occurred because disposal restrictions.
lapsed and ceducting & discount for Such restricticn was no longer necessany, did not take place In
2023 (2022 €93 mitlion), while transfers from Level 1 to Level 2 did not cocur at all

Level 3 Fair Value Disclosures

The follcswing tatbe shonws the reconciliation of fair values from Lhe opening (o the closing balances Tor
our unlisted equity securities and call options on eguity shares, aswell as the deall contingent forward
e our met investment hedge classitied as Level 3 fair values:
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Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Values

Tl 2023 Foirrd
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.Tlan-'.rﬁ,-r-.
ko Livved 3 'ﬂ o L1}
Ot of L 3 -4 = L
Purchanes 417 512 {
Seblird =1 —43 L]
CAMTRETIRTES LU 1]
CRainsiosses
Inctuded in financiad income, net =119 =1 =8 o
Inctudied in exchangs dfsnencss in other compneednes 164 e 137 o
Income
105 4817 a EE k] a
Chisrgge o urweslLsed Eaaaflosdes b ool o 1oss for adquity 55.'.‘ P _7g8 a

invesiments heid ot the end of the reporting period

Transters out of Level 3 are due to initial pubic olerings of the respective imestees of distributions in
kind in the form of listed imestees. Changing the unobsenalble inputs ta reflect reascnably possibie
alternative assumplions would net heve 3 material impact on e fair values of our unlisted equity
securities held as FVYTPL as at the reporting date,
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Section G - Other Disclosures

This sedlion provides additional disclosures on miscellanecus topics, including information pertaining
1o the Executive Board, the Supenvisory Board, related pary transactions, and olher corporate
governance topics.

(G.1) Prepaid Expenses and Other Tax Assets

Finrad g

Lrukeni

Hon- Haone

Current Current Tt Qurren: Cant Tt
Prepad expenses HiL 386 1330 BE2B =2 1330
Lo i T T 241 33 T4 X4 49 203
Total 10E5 419 1504 1072 581 1533
& Qo ronfrancal sets 2374 a5 Sa47 2139 1580 5718
Prapacd sxpamges and other 1ax asses o 13 s 50 - &

o % of B Other non-francl ssets

Prepald expenses primarlly consist of prepayments for hyperscalers, support services, and software
royatties. Other tax assets primarily consist of value-added tax (VAT),

(G.2) Other TaxLiabilities

HEY oty

Lo '
Curngnt Current Tedal Cuerere  MomCiarent Testal
Other tax liabdnies 871 o a7l 52 o £52
E Other non-firandal Labilties =] £ag S5 4813 L= 5523
O 1 Bailie a5 % of T Onhar ron- 15 o 14 ia @ @

Bnanos Labdtees

Other tax liatalities primarily consist of WAT, payroll tax, sabes tax, and withbotding tax

(G.3) o©Other Litigation, Claims, and Legal Contingencies

This Note disclases information about inellectual propery-related litigaton and claims, tax-related
litigation cther than income tas-related litigation (see Note (C5), and anti-bribery matlers.

& Uncertainty in Context of Legal Matters

The polices cutlined in Nole (A 4} for customer-related provisions, which include provisions for
customer-related [igation cases and daims, equally apoty to our other [igation, claims, and legal
contingencies disclosed in this Note.

The cutcome of ligation and claims is intrinsically sublect to considerable uncertainty, Management's
view of these matters may also change in the future, Actual cutcomes of [tigation and clesms may differ
fram the assessmenis made by management in prior pericds, which could result in a material Impact
O our business, Enanciad position, prodit, cash flows, or reputation, Most of the [ewsuits and claims are
ol a very individual nature and claims are either not guantified by e daimants or the dlaim amounts

237324

352/404



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP Integrated Report 2

Tear Cus Combin Management Censalidatad Firnancis, Furthar Infonmation abos. Additiansl
Stakethiolders Heport Slatemenis IFRS Sustainabdity Indormation

quantified are, based on historical evidence, not expected 1o be a good proxy for the expenditure that
would be required to resolve the case concermed. The specifics of the jurisdictions where most of the
claims are located further impair the predictability of the autcome of the cases. Therefore, 1 is typically
not praclicable to rellably estimate the financial effect that these lawsuits and claims would have if
SAP were 1o incur expenditure for (ese cases,

Further, e expected tming ol amy resulling outflows of economic Denedits from these Lawsuils and
claims is typically uncerain and not estimabile, as it depends generally on the duration of the legal
proceedings and settlement negotiations required to resclve them,

W are sulbject to avariety of claims and Lawsuits that arise trom time 1o Bme in the ordinary course of
aur business, including proceedings and claims that refate to companles we have acquired, We will
continue Lo vigorously defend against all claims and Liwsuits agaimst us. The provisions reconded for
these claims and lawsults as al December 31, 2023, are nefther Individually nor In the aggregate
materisd to SR

Among the claims and lewsaits disciosed in this Nole ane the following classes:

Intellectual Property-Related Litigation and Claims

Intellectual property-related [Migation and claims ame cases in which thind parties hawe threatened or
initiatect litgation claiming (hal SAPviolates ane ar mone intellectual propemy rights thal ey possess,
Such ntetlectual property rights may Include patents, copyrights, and other similar rights.

Contingent liabadities exist from intellectual property-related [Rigation and claims for which no provision
has been recogrized. Generally, it is nol practicable to estimate the financiad Impact of these
contingent [Fabilities dee o the uncertamties around the litigation and claims, a5 outlined above, Based
on our past experence, most of the intellectual property-related |Rigation and clalms tend to be either
cEsmissed in cown or setthed out of court Por amounts signilicantly below the originally claimed
amounts. We currendly believe that resolving the Intellectual property-related claims and lawsuits.
pending as a1 December 31, 2023, will neither indhiduaily nor in the aggregate hive a matera] adverse
effect on our business, financial position, profit, or cash fiows.

Inciviclual cases of intetleciual property-related ltigation and daims include the ollowing

In June 2018, Teradata Corporation, Teradata US, Inc. and Teradata Operations, Inc. {collectively
“Teradala®™) filed a chvil lawsult against SAP SE, SAP America, Inc, and SAP Labs, LLC in LS. federal court
in Calffornia Teraclats alleged that SAP had misappropriated trade secqels of Teradata, had infrinped
Teradata's copyrights {this claim was subsecuently withdrwn by Teraclata), and had victated LIS,
antitrust Laws. Teradata scught unspecified monetary damages and injunctive rellel In 2019, SAP
asserted patent infringement counterclaims against Teradata seeking monetary damages and
Injuncthee relef in 2000, Tevadata inltiated a second chvil lawsult against SAP asseriing patent
infringement, Seeking monelaty damages and injunctive reliel; in February 2021, SAP liled patent
infringement counterclaims against Teradata in this second LS. lawsult as well as a civil lawsull against
Teradata in Germany assering patent infringement, seeking monetary damages and injunciive reliel,
Currenily, all claims between the paries have been dismissed. Teradata has appealed the dismissal of
its tradie secret and antitrust claims; this sppeal = expectad to De completed by (ate 2024,

Tax-Related Litigation

W are sulject 1o ongoing audits by domestic and foneign tax authosities, In respect of non-income
Tanes, we an imolhved invarious procsedings with enly a lew foreign tax authorities reganding
assessments and igaticn matters on intercompany royeily payments and intencompany sendoes, The
Tt potential amount in dispute related (o hese matters bar all applicable years &5 approximately
€416 miltion (202 €344 milllon). We have not recorded a provision for these matters, as we believe
That we will prevail

For mare information about our income tax-related tigation, see Note (C5)
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Anti-Bribery Matters

SAP has recehved communicalians and whistletiower information alleging conduct that may violate
anti-bribery laws in the United States {including the LS. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCRA)) and in
ather countries. SAP%S Office of Ethics & Compliance (OEC) conducted Enestigations with the
assistance of an external law firm and volumarily advised the US. Securities and Exchange
Cormmissian (LS SEC), the US. Department of Justice (U.S, DOJL and locs! autharties where potentisl
violaticns werne investigated. In early Janueary 2024, following comprehensive and exhaustive
imvestigations, dialogue, and cormespanding remediation activities, SAP entered Iinta final settlement
apgreements with U.S. SEC and LS. DO, as well a5 with Local authoslties and parties in South Africa, to
rescive criminal and civil clalms fully and finally against SAR Under these agreements, SAP Is regulred
1o make payments amounting to €207 million As 3 consequence, as at December 31, 2023, provisions
for fines. In regulatany compllance matters totaling €155 milion (December 31, 2022 €0 million,

Jume 30, 20231 €170 million) were recognized in owr Condolidated Financial Statements as well as
repayments to customers, lor which revenue recognized from contrects with customers have been
reversed, A considerable poion of these repayments 1o CUSlomers was eligitle to be credited against
the fines incurred in the regulatory compliance matters. Immaterial amounts were already pald In 2022
The remalning payments will be macde to a large extent within the first hatf of 2024,

(G.4) Board of Directors

Executive Board

Memberships on supendsory boards and ather comparable governing bodies of enenprises, other
than subsidiaries of SAF on December 31, 2003

Christian Klein
Chiel Executive Otficer
Stralegy & Operations. Corporate Developmenl, Sustainability, Busingess Al and Compliance

Supervisory Board, adidas A5G, Herzogenaurach, Germany

Dominik Asam (from March 7, 2023)
Chiel Financial Officer

Glosal Finance and Administration including Legal, Investor Relations, Internal Audi, Dala Protection &
Export Control

Superyvisory Boand, Bertelsmann Management SE and Benelsmann SE & Ca. KGah, Guetersiah,
Germany

Sabdine Bendiek (until Decembser 31, 2023)
Chief People & Operating Officer, Labor Relations Dinector
HR Strategy, Business Translormation, Leadershin Development, Talent Development

Supervisory Boand, Schaefller AG, Herrogenaurach, Genmmany
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Juergen Mueller

Chiel Technotogy CHicer

Technology & Innovation

Technotogy and innovation Strategy, SAP Business Technology Platform induding Data Managemend,
Anatytics and Planning, Integration, Application Development Capabilities, Global Security

Scott Russell
Customees SUCoess

Global Field Organization including Sales, Services, Partner Ecosystermn, Customer Engagement,
Warking Capital Management

Thomas Saveressig
SAP Product Engineering

Global Responsibility Tor all SAP Business Software Applications, Cloud Operations and Support,
Cross-Development Functions, SAP Enterprise Adcption Orpanization, Emarsys

Board of Directors, Mokia Cornporation, Espo, Fevand

Gina Vargiu-Breuer (from February 1, 2024)
People & Culture, Labor Relations Director

Julla White
Chief Marketing and Solwions Oificer
Glebal Marketing, Cofporate Communications, Government Alfains

Executive Board Members Who Left During 2023
Luka Mucic (until March 31, 2023)

Supervisory Board

Memberships on Supendsory boards and ather comparable poverning bodies of enenprises, olher
than suinsidiaries of SAR en December 31, 2023

Praf. Dr. h. ¢ mult, Hasso Platines >&88
Chairperson

Lars Lamadeé™*-*"

Deputy Chairperson
Head of Global Sponsoships

Supervisory Board, Rhein-Neckar Loewen GmbH. Kronau, Germany
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Manuela Asche-Holstein® *

Industry Advisor Expert, 4P Germany SE & Co. KRG, Walldod, Germany

Alcha Evans™=*"
Chiel Executive Cificer and Memier of the Beard of Directors, Zoow, Inc, Foster City, CA, Uinfted States

Board of Directors, Joby Sviation LLC, Santa Crue, CA, United States

Margret Klein-Magar'*
Wice Presicent, Head of SAP Alumni Relations
Chalrperson al the Spokespesons’ Committee of Senlor Managers of SaP SE

Monika Kovachka-Dimitrova® &7
Chief Operations Expert
Member af the SAP SE Works Council (Europe)

Peter Lengler? %1
Value Achisor Expert
Member of the SAF Germany SE & Co, KiG Works Councll

Jdenniter Xin-Zhe Li**
General Fanner of Changcheng Investment Partners, Baijing China

Board of Directors, ABB Ltd, Zurich, Switzerland
Board of Directars, Kane Oy Espoo, Finland {until Febosany 28, 20023)
Board of Directors, Full Truck alliance Co, Ltd. Manjing Jiangsuy, Ching, and Ciyman tslands

Do, G Lu™ ™"
CED, MiraclePlus Lid, Belfing, China

Board of Directors, Finduoduo Inc, Shanghal, China

Chairperson al the Board of Directars, Fine Field Holding Limited, Cayman Islands
Chairperson al the Board of Directors, Pine Field Holding Limited, Hong Fong China
Chairpersen of the Board of Directors, Pine Field Ltd, Beijing, China

Gerhard Oswald***
Managing Director of Oswald Consulling GmiH, Walldord, Germany

Advisory Board, TSG 1899 Holfenhelm Fultball-Splelbetriens GmibH, Sinsheim, Germany
Achvisory Board, appliedAl Initiatihve GmiaH, Munich, Germany (from January 1 2024)
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Christine Regitz’- >4

Vice President, Gicbal Head of SAP Women in Tech

Supervisory Board, Schioss Dagstuhl — Lesoniz Cenfer lor Infarmatics, Wadern, Germany
Supervisany Baard, HV Cagital Manager GrbH, Munich, Germamy

Dr. h. ¢. Punit Renjen (from May 11, 2023)
Inclependent Managemﬂ Consultant

D, Friederike Rotsch® 187
General Counsel, Deulsche Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Helke Steckt 2457
Sendor Operations Manager
Member af the SAP SE Works Council and Memiber of the SAP SE Warks Council (Europe)

Helmut Stengele
On Earty Retirement, SAP Germany SE & Co. WG, Walkdorl, Germary

Dr. Rotrven Westphal? 1582

Kemiber of the Executive Boand of the Hasso Platiner Foundation, Potsdam, Germany, and Managing
Director ol the General Partner of HPC Germarny GmisH & Co. KG Petsdam, Germarmy

Achisory Board, Sharks Sports & Entertainment LLC, San José, CA, United States

Dr. Gunnar Wiedenfals®258
Chiet Financial Oificer, Warner Bros. Discovery, InG, New York, NY, United Stales

Board of Cirectors, OWMIN LLC, West Hollywood, CA, Unmed States
Board of Directors, Speechagain, Inc, New York, NY, Unlted Stales

James Wright' > %2
Member of the SAP SE Works Council (Europe)

Supervisory Board Members Whe Left During 2023
Praf, Dr. Gesche Joost (until May 11, 2023)
Professor for Design Research and Head of the Design Research Lab, Berlin Linkeersity of the Arts

| Anpmivhing By S S0 SE Werks Coueil [Europss)
* il oF T CIOMpar’s Perscinil an0 Sowimancs Commiies
Titiarvibae of Thi Company's Aot and Comnpllancs Comeines

242324

357/404



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP Integrated Report 2023

Tar Ohs Combire Management Consalidatod Firnancisl Further infonmation Al Adkitians]
Stakeholders Heport Slatemenis IFRS Sustainabdity Indormation

* Mgt of Hhe Compann’s Technalogy and Srategy Commdtes
T tpmibar of the Compary's Finence sno et tment Committes
* bt (oF I Comany’s NOmination Commathim
st ol The Comia's Peple s Cuthen Casmittes
! it of Thie Compannys Go-To-Miront are Dpaations Commifley

(G.5) Executive and Supervisory Board Compensation
& Accounting Policy

The shane-based payment amounts disclosed Below in the tabie "Execulive Board Compensalion” ane
based on Ihe grant date fair value of the share units in the respective year. In 2023, 2022, and 2021,
Share units wene issued 10 the Executive Board members under the LTI 2020, For mone information
about the terms and detalls of this plan, see Note (B.3)

In the taible *Share-Based Payment for Executive Board Members,” the share-based payment expense
is the amount recarcied in profit or loss under IFRS 2 (Share-Based Payment) in the respective peiod

The tetal compensation of the Exeoutive Board memibers lor each of the years 2023, 2022, and 2021
WS B follows:

Executive Board Compensation

f Fumann 2023 g SRl
Shart-tenm smpioyes Denefis _w LIEEE 5015
Shave based payrers 24869 072 prpe
Subotal 42101 1282 50410
Post-atnploy et bty [ Lam “1am 64
R ——— ] 73 -1433 a1
Trasrpod ChefinaCi-C o Tt i 0 & 3
Tesrmanatsn Beneiits A L1 v His
Total 5134 anass 0878

Share-Based Payment for Executive Board Members

I Far) P
i of Shars wnits granted FEASID PG FEE v
Tl don pesrivil i Peoniriinfucst »1ET 04058 Bash

The delined benelit obligation (DBO) for pensians (o Executive Board members and the annuaal
pension entitlement of the members of the Executive Board on reaching age 62 based on entitlements
{ram peformance-based and salary-linked plans werne a5 follows:

Retirement Pension Plan for Executive Board Members

£ Eamsen 2033 ik 0

DB 12731 2182 1562 3434

Annal penskn snidernen 137 114 108
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The total annual compensation of the Supervisory Board memiters is as follows:

Supervisory Board Compensation

€ Founancs 2023 2002 Foaral
Tl Cormpensation 5427 5200 3855
Trareof fed compssnsation 3185 alss 1176
Thereof commbtes remuneraton 223 2058 ]

The Supendsory Boand compensation is a shor-term benelit The Supenisory Board members oo naot
recehve any share-based payment for thelr services. As far as membeers who are employee
representatives on the Supervisory Board receive share-based payment, such compensation is for
their sendces a5 employees only and s unrelated to their status as membsers of the Supervisory Board,

Payments to/DBO for Farmer Executive Board Members

o st 2023 froerrs el
Parymments 2313 ZILT 2159
DBC 1273 Kk ¥t e a3

SAP did net grant any compensation advance or credit to, or enter into any commament for the benelit
ol, any member af the Executive Board or Supenisory Board in 2023, 2022, or 2021,

(G.6) Related Party Transactions Other Than Board
Compensation

Certain Supenisary Board members of SAP SE currently hodd, or held within the [ast year, positions of
slgnificant respansibility with other entities. We have relationships with certain of these entities In the
ardinary course al business, whenety we buy and sell products, assels, and services at pices beliewed
1o be consistent with those negolfated at armi's length between unrelated parties.

Companies contnolled by Hasso Plattner, Chairperson of the Supervisory Boasd of SAP SE and Chiel
Softwane Advisor of SAR, engaped in the loliowing Irensactions with SAP: providing consulling sendces
10 SAF recelving sport sponsoring from SAF and making purchases of SAP products and services.

Oecasianally, members of the Execative Board of SAP SE obitain services from SAP for which they pay
a consideration consistent with those negotiated at arms length between unrelated parties.

Al amounts relatecd to the stovementionid tANSactions were immaterial 1o SAP in il periads
presentec.

Related Party Transactions
Comparies Contfrolled by
Exgcuthee Board Memibers Supervisory Board Memboers. i Associnied Entities
Ermliceng 2023 ey 2023 222 2023 Forr] 2023 2022
— — e — —

Prepchacss el Serviods pronemed A HA o a ] 1 HE 11
Produdts and servioes receled 2 WA Fa F 3 a 150 113
Sponsoning and other E &
Trancil Suppa proded HA HA Tl K& 7 5 BA ke
Dutstanckng balances at year end i

"y M HA o a o L ] 18
Chtsareing Dalirded ol pias and
Eu o} P, HA o a ] o o 4
Commamens af yeer end Py, HA (v} ] 42 51 Y 1]

| Ieueg sendons e Enmeped refresenialies &4 e Sunesvisony B e I el canscily i eveloyec of KAl

b gl o B G b 4 e
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All of these balances ane unsecured and interest-free and seltlement is expected to oocur in cash,

For information about the compensation of our Executive Board and Supenisory Boand members, see
Hote (GSY

(G.7) Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Al the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on May 18, 2022, our shareholders elected

BDO AG Wirtschaltspeifungsgesallschalt (BDO) a5 SAPs independent auditer or 2023, BDO kas been
the Comgany's principal auditor since the fiscal year 2023, D Jens Freiberg has signed as auditor
responsitble for the aedit of the financial reporting and the group reporting of SAP SE since the fiscal
year 2023

For prics fiscal vears since 20002, KPMG AG Wittschafisprifungsgeseilschalt was the Company’s
principal awditor and Bodo Rackwitz signed as auditor responsible for the audit of the finandal
reparting and the proug reporting of SAP SE for the years 2018 1o 2022,

BDO and other firms in the giobal BDO network charged the following fees to 4P for audit and other
professional senvices related 1o 2023 (KPMG for previous yearsk

2021 i) w2
(Gomany) 00Rms " (Gumany weuntme % Gamay) wcrmm T
8 5 1 a 10 u 3 B 12
(] 1 1 i T 10 Fi 5 7
0 B 0 0 o 0 o 0 [
o B 0 0 o g o 0 [
a8 ; 18 7 ir o] 6 13 19

Al fees ane the aggregate tees charped by BDO lor auddling our consolidated ingncial statements
and the statutory financial statements of SAF SE and its subsidiaries. The Increase In audit lees for
BOCrAG s due 10 8 centralized awdit approach. Fumther, BOO Germany has engaged local B0
netwark firms ta audit financial information of subsidiaries as pant of the audil of cur consolidated
fingncial stetements. Audit-related lees are fees charped by BDO for assurance and related services
that are reasonably related to the pedormance of the audit and Tor senice organization aftestation
procedures.

(G.8) Events After the Reporting Period

Organizational Changes

On January 9, 2024, SAP announced several grganizational changes. Muhammad Alam was appointed
a member af the Executive Board elfectve Aol 1, 2024, and a new Board anea called Custormer
Services & Delivery will be formed under the leadership of Thomas Saueressig, The announoed
arganizational changes might resull in a change in S4Fs operating sagrents,

Settlement to Resolve Criminal and Civil Claims in United States and
South Africa Fully and Finally Against SAP

In earty January 2024, following exhaustive investigations, dialogue, and comesponding remediation
aCiivities, SAP entered into ingl settiement agreements with the LS, SEC and LLS, DO, a5 well with as
ocal aunharities and parties in South Alrica, 1o resolve ciminal and civil claims fully and linally against
SAR For morne infarmation, see Nate (G3),
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Transformation Program 2024: Focus on Scalability of Operations and Key
Strategic Growth Areas

In 2024, SAP will lurther increase 15 focus on key stralegic growth aneas, in particular business Al it also
intends to lranstorm its operational setup fo caplure arganizational synergies, and Al-driven
efficiencles and prepare the Company for highly scalable fulure revenue growti

Tz 1his endd, and 10 ensure thal SAPS skill et and resourdes continue 1o Mt fulune business nesds,
SAP will execute a Company-witde restructuring program in 2024, The mearity of the approximately
8,000 affected positions is expected to be covered by voluntary leave programs and internal re-skilling
measures. Reflecting re-investments into sirategic growth areas, 3AP expects to exit 2024 at a
heackount similar t current levels,

Restructuring expenses are preliminarnly projected at around €2 billion, the vast mapority af which is
expected to be recognized in the first haif of 2024, impacting IFRS cperating profit. Excluding
restructuring expenses, the program is expected to provide anly a minor cost benefit in 20024,
Expected cost savings and re-investmeents are fully reflected in SAPS 2024 outlook and the updated
2025 non-IFRS aperating profit- and free cash flow ambition,

The Supervisory Board of SAP SE nominates Pekka Ala-Pietild as new member
of the Supervisory Board

On February 11, 2024, the Supendsory Board of SAP SE nominated Pekia Ala-Pielild &5 & new memier
of thie Supendsory Board and proposes Pekka Ala-Fietila as the designated successor o Chalrman
Hasso Plattner. Pekia Ala-Fietild will stand for election for a two-year term at the next Annael General
Meeting and, if elected, will assume the rale of chair. Punit Renjen has chasen to resign his mandate on
1 58P Supervisory Boand withelect Trom the end of SAP'S Annual General Meeling on May 15, 2024,

SAP Completes First Tranche of Share Repurchase Program

On Fetaryary 14, 2024, the first tranche of the share repurchase program launched in 2023 was
completed with a lotal volume of €101 1 milion. For the volume processed unlil December 31, 2023,
and for mare Informat lon, see Mote (E2).

(G.9) Scope of Consoclidation; Subsidiaries and Other Equity

Investments
Entities Consolidated in the Financial Statements

Tortal
12 30/e021 EH
ki it
Deposaly -2t
1273042022 288
Akt 12
Dnpacals —£5
12738/2023 35
The additions relate to legal entities added In conmection with acquisitions and loundatlons. The
despasals ane mainly due to mergers, liquidations, and divestilures of Legal entities.
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Subsidiaries®
Major Submidianes
S — U O DA ool e
%  fthomands  €thousends € thousands

Acba Technologes Incka Private Limted, Bengalur kvl 0 s mam aL7et 130
Aring, Ing, Palo Alka, Rmm iﬂ.ﬂ i‘i&:ﬁ& E-B‘?.-ﬁi 5;5”-.'351 I.-ﬂ‘ﬂ
WTEWFV—.MM '-'M.LHW‘-"H‘M e EEERLD -W.NBG'-‘ BE2E.LI6 2217

st il - P il e ——
Wl;!drmt:lr’l.': Blel. S'M.u'l‘lrid. -i::.‘}- . me& . I!&SE& . Ellﬂ.?:f;i B;!
SAP (LK) Limtect Feéthasn, Linitect Kingclom 100 LATLERD BT 04573 1658 17
SAP Amanca Inc. Newtgan Scuuace PA, Linited States 100 p— nzie 11879728 9228 .
54 Agectna SA Butnos Acen, Mgetoa I T T
W-“LM a L'IIJ-. Sirgaraea, "'ld'“KH! I.':l.ﬁ TR &ﬁd I.L-Z.Wi; 1085 1-?
SaP Austratia Py Lict, Syaney, Australa 100 soasae 1753 Frpre e
SAPEravLoa, S3o Paio, Brasd. 10 sion3  mam 1i2ne e
58P Canadda Inc. Teorta, Caracls W LiEvans 1aAdd 768,751 2104
EAP Dunschinndd SE & o, KG, Walldard, Gamany 100 ETHMARE Bl5333 L796.440 5048 L
ﬁm Siﬂmxwxms';m-o‘:mla Iformatica, W0 £4n5E0 79132 120,151 —
SAP France S, Levallown-Pemed Fonos e ] LI FLT: L L4 N0 1575
TR Yok B o wms  ws | mes vz
SaP ol Private Limted. Bengalieu India 100 FezzE 539 310,957 2378
Wrmmhwms-c;;n P.\er.ed-sum :-J;.': UI-I;J-:Q- m.a;‘.'-:rs. 1-.:1.1.‘?.:'..12 2'?9
m‘::jﬁ:"’ Applicazion Prodon] i Data Pracessing Sp/. 100 743718 T 9281 B2
SAP Japan Co, Lid, Tokyo, Japan o] LIGSES 7354 IAFHG 1416
SAF Labrs Bulgana ECOD, Sofa Bulgens 100 131438 5545 32508 1330
‘S4P Labs b Privae Livitedt Bengaiun inda o mom 5539 261,808 172
Wlnlbi 1.|-I:. Fﬂﬁmmwﬂﬁm L] ssmm umn 55'.1.453 1733
SAF Wdodon S0, ce TV, Moo City, Moo 100 o 6346 131233 L8 17
Wﬂmﬂﬂ-v T-Haopankosch, the bethailands. 0 prke L4 G057 006 B57 14
SAP Phlippirss, bec, Tagesg Ciy, Prilippings. 200 NATEDD Fiol BA75 17 17
wﬁm;:;-éﬁppmcm:mmmemm 100 e 454 1 701 173 N
SAP Sensoed Lo, Prague Ciech Republs e ] Frr it d:?'l'ﬁ TLO55 1a3h
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Wamae and Location of Compary m{:}mb Footnole
.wurmm I.I.F' Akmn,.- Kum-mnn 1w

u-:u-:c.\, [ — Sopuare, F'.-!, Umited Seates 100
Anwuw-mmmmnmw.murm 100
.l:u:nbrnﬁu.p-eﬁ-es hoﬁmuwmmmmhﬁm 100 17
e Expendt Sedaitiocs LLE, Chantilly, WA, Uinbed Stated 109

Apparser i, Indisrapols, I United States 100

Wﬂr BPW FH-“J 1w
Anbm:u-:nim. H'a-gur l:m-chmnuﬂn: W

Arit ingha Privece um;m, Eun.ira"n, P 1
mnmmlmmmmeMME w

sriba imtermatioral Sngapone Ple: Led. Singapore, Singapore 104

At Irterraticral e Wilmington, DE United Stabed 100

Aty Slovoe appublic, s00, Kerkson, Slonakis 100

duibsa Scfraae Technology Sensces (Shanghsd) Co. Ltd. Shangrul Crina 100
MT;:_ il iie Ewa mirs? nwmu = = :.'
E.',;.'é.p;;'.] i:;;gn.,..: mw D, retandd 0 58
Bmac.:p-mmuj_ L, Rty a aia.
E..n:u-:ap-mut Nm'aﬂﬂ.NJ. Uinited States ] il
ﬂa-l.tuﬂaﬂdal"é.r\. Lusestbnsf Liestibioiu L] ]
ﬁ.rsms!-Doe@m Hﬂ:lﬂ-ne&'.i wmu—mwm 100 1
&:sn'-eﬁ-méﬁ Dmmucm.nmmor_uuwiwn 100

Businss Coipocrs Sty Limised {Tradng i SAP Seiugcrs); ublin, elang 100

Callids m';.;'u;;';é;;; 'c@r;;é's};'.';; e
mmﬂm|mmmm¢m H,de-amr-u.; 1w

-:}n:.:-e F'Mnenr-'lascl'zt'.r. pwwmmtmmwm 1453
-cu-arwrrnc Smlraﬁcrm@kum-dkm 100 5
CRIGR Opsteationg Maxion 5 de RIL de OV, Mz Oy, Masica 10
-c‘m:[camdalmmm r:m 100

Concur [Caecti] 5.0, Pragian, c:wn mrpmu: wm

Jre— eruﬁ; SAS, Pe— Pmm France m
m[ﬁemrv'{mﬂlfrmammqﬁbﬂuny 1w :in. 1
Contir [JapanjLed, Toiya. Jepen £

Lonamr Muwwjmmmlm.mm 1450

Cotcur (St nérlind) Gmbi, Turich, Switzedand 100 15
'C:m(u cldings (Franoe) 545, Levallon-Poret, Francs 100

Comncur Holdings (Nemadands) BV, - Hentagenbosch, the Nethariands 100 1
-::urmre-cn.:mngﬂn;.aunau,my mms,ur.q- o— 1

Conan Technologes (Hong Kmﬂmmmmm 100

Concur Technologies (india) Privete Limed, Bengalun, Inda 100

Lonar Technologies (Srgapcen) Phe. Lid, Sngapone. Sngenons 140 17
Concur Tachnadoghes (UK Lirstad, Felthem, United Kingdam 100 17
e Corvalting Litited, Feltham Lrited Kingdlom 100 1347

W 13
Crystal Decisions {UK] Limite<d Feizhaem, Linited Kngdom 100 13
Deios Cioud GrmisH, Schanelaldl Gemany 100
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tmmq-sr&lnﬂm-:gmemsm'tmmm 10
irrlarw:.-tﬂr/rn S-Isl.lemlm T I.Ed'Eh hwbm. '|u‘1ﬂ.-_,- 100
Ehmﬂlmwmhnmmﬂthlnfﬂnw 1-:-'.'1
Emassys Uinaaed Hong Kang, China 1w
Emarsys Morth Amsarics, I, Incharmaaoles I, Linted S1aees 1
Emarsys Fa. Licl, SIgapoe, Snganon 100
Emarsys Py Lid, Sydnery, dustata 100
Emarmys 545, Levallol-Pemet. France 100
Errlarw:-Si:erl' GrdJHZ\.rlch.S'm:uland 100
Emorsys UK Lick Leexon, Unined Kingdam 100
EMARSYS Tochrtoghes Inormatin Sooigahans K. Budspeit Hrgsry 100
E55 Cubied Prosunermaes Propiietary Limited, Joharesburg, Sonsh Aliiea e
Frpaklarkets Lids, S Paclo, Brand 100
ﬂp&ﬁﬁﬂﬂlmﬁﬁww 100 .l|:'. U-.
wm;n_ Fome. Eaty 100
le#oiml.htimﬂmr\c‘\wediuﬂ-s 1':.:0
'wm-m EARL Cobeveis. Flun-oe 190 5
st GrrisH, Borr, Gambny 100 5
Laanbt 5 dlos, Lhians, 'SI-EI';“I 100 5
Leanhd UK Lirrata, L oeschon, leedﬂmgdw 100 5
lwus-qunngs.rLanmMLrﬁﬂ Zees 100 5
Leanbd, BY, Amsterdam, the Netbadacds 1 |
m&mm‘xweﬂﬁﬂﬂ - 1'C.>CI 5
I.I.lf '-Ema'w' Mm.-tvﬂ th:uu 100
L "BAP Lt Nocinm. R 100
LLC "AR Liraina™, Ky, Lhraina 1 17
Riryitsys Technoioghes keael Licl, Tel futy, B pel 10
UﬂEHIerfmmm.H.uerm.h‘m 100 3
Wi Arina KK, Tﬂk:rﬂ, e 1
Chberioin, Inc, San Raman, T, UnBed States 150
OnutiokSo Detachinnd GriH, Witk Gamany 100 10,1t
PTSAP balsnesia, Jskans, ndonesis P
Cuascham Africs Pry, Lid, Johannesbing, South Afncs 100
Duasdingm Bracd Loda, Rso de Janesno, Bracd 100
Crssdrgm Chile Lida, Santugo obe Chils, Chils 100
Cusadinesm Enbernadional Lid Hasretion, Bemasds ]‘:':;
M‘f‘ﬂ”ﬂhﬂlﬂﬂd& B'-' Mwm hes Betherlands 1% 14
W%MWJ‘#U& H‘Eﬂﬁﬁl.'ﬂbﬂ i Pl i Ly iy 100
Quidham Paru SAC. Liva. Pery h 10
‘SAP (Bagng) Softwars System o Lt Beging, Cira 1
‘SAP (Crina) Holing Co., Ltd, Bafng China 1w
wmnyﬁﬂcwuﬂmwm. 100 1}
SAF AT (LC, Baay, Azertiaan 100
SAP Balpum - mmﬁmnﬂ'ummhmahﬂdmakdaun 1%
SAP Beredgungs bk, '.-.wcb-r Garrany ' 100
SAP Buliis £00D, Safa Bulgsrs 10
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SAP Business Sarices Canter Nederiand BV 3-Hestogerbosch the Netherdands 190 14
wmmmsnupaecue Crite 100 17
SAPCIS ULC Moscom, Pussls 100
5AP Colimsib SAS. Bogoth DC. Colombia 1 17
wm-mm;ﬁmmam 1 17
wmm:rmhmmw 100
SAF Cyprus Limaed, Mocosa, Cypns 10
SAP Danmmark A5, Coperfugen, Denmark 100
SAP Drtre Batsligungs- und Vesmog: " inungs Grbh Walldod, Germany 1m0
'gﬁme;mm [P r— 10 17
SAP Byt LLC, Cara, Epype 100 17
WWJMSMEgMﬂ.m 100
SaF Ersce Elnﬂw und Vermigereveraaungs GmbH Walldor, Garmany 109 o
‘SJ\FE:IWDU Tﬁ.rrl.Eﬂczu ]'l;l:l
AP Finarvial, e Torons, Cands 100
" SAP Fiared O, Espo, Firlard. 100
"BAP Foreign Hildings Gt Weatkdor, Germany 100
BAR Friece Holging S, Linvallos-Pairer. France 100
wmmmmmw MEM 100
wmwh‘ﬂmﬁﬁﬁ.w E’Eﬂl!' l.ﬂJ- 3
SAP Hang, Kong Co. Lt Hong Kong, China 100 17
Wlbﬂngbﬂmﬁrmkumﬁ-ﬂm mﬂ :6.:1
SAP Wkt (Hlchng) Pre. Licl Sigapesre, Sigapons 100 a
"BAP Itaeranal Panien SA Pansma oy, Panama 100
AP Wtmenasianil, Ins, Mami, FL Unied Sstes 1
iﬂrlmms.b'-: WWE,LWM 100
wmmbﬂnm l'JJ- : El..?
SAP Inetand LIS - Financial Services Desigraned Activey Company, Dubion beland 100
‘Si.FI:.ruﬂ ud_ﬂnmmu ' 1 17
TAP Mores Lo Seoud, St Karda 100 h
AP Lats Frawia BAT. Meuging, France 100
SAP Lats bt Ltdl, R'anans, kst m
_Sdlummmku:mmmu 100
kesadia e

1

- 617

100 17
SAP Pediailand Hobing BY. 5-Hanopeboseh, the NatPareds 10 u
AP Ml Toalanad Limitect, Aucklang, e Zealand e
SAP Mo A5, s, Norwiny P
wr“;ﬂ‘l;'ﬁ’ﬂmﬂl.ﬂmhm 100
S Oistorrekch Gmi, Vienna, Auiria 10
SAB Perls SAC. U Peru 10 17
SAP Potska S £ 0. Worsaw, Poland 100 '
"GP Pomals Hebdeng Batedligurgs Gk, Walled Gamniey P
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AP Portals kraed Lid, fi¥anan, brsel 1

'GAP Portugal - Siatemas Aplicagies & Produtos Informitcos. Socdade Unipessoal Los., en

Pono Sahv, Porugal

SAP Proiskv iR une Betslgungs ik, Walkkorl Geriry 100

SAP Public Senvoes, I Wastingion, D, Linted States P
wmmw ‘Walior!, Gearmary 100 1 1;._1;_
SAP Rotal Sautons Beteiging-gesetachah Gerbk, Walldor, Geemany 1

SAP Sauch raiia Sofmare Senvices Lt Fiyadh Kingelom of Sou eatia 1

548 Sauch Avabla Softmare Tracing L1 Fiyad, Kingom of Saud Acabia w0 1
SAP Sechate Batiiigungs- und Vermogeniverwalungs GrbH, Walidar Germany 100 it
SAP Satben Bauligungs. uned Vermdgeng et ngs (bH, Walidor!, Gamany 1 w11
SAP senl, apkBCHE in Erod Tl 28 Ctdevo pddathoy a0, Libans, Siowei 1
_.";;;h\m s, Brateslana, Sloemios 100
SAP Softwans and Servioes WLL, B, Qutar - 617
meumﬁmmmmhmM¥mmm 1w

TAP Sysnerns, Applications s Prochiets i Deth Proctisng (Thatand) Lid, Bangkok, Thadand 100

SAP Tabwan Co. Liel, Togped, Tadan 1
wncrmm:m Fal Alta, T, Linked Stanes 100
w"l’mllﬂmﬂl‘l v‘rﬂhl‘ﬂ‘ F-Z.E-é.-m-, Lhm.l’i'lb Ememes 100 17

Yagibm I'.Itwn — A.ﬁ., Iﬂ.l:rlhn.i, TI.i‘kl" m

w \'crll.lrﬁ I'wrslment G-rh«wd]m-f Gﬂ'marn' 108 10, 11
TAP Wharta Bstailigungs- und Yerrmdgshiwervaliungs GrbH, Walldel Garary 100 o
BAP Wistre Comparn Limibed, e Chi Mind City, Vischam 100

SAF Werst Balkaers o.oug, Belgrachs, Serbis 10
SAP Tt BRGNS Und VETTIORTIVErAIRLNES GTIGH, WBJ0HT, Gemmany m wi
.;;.F_J;IZMLF - Austin, T Uinted States a 7
Sapphice Fund Invesaments I Hokdings, LLC. At TX Unied Staes. w00 Fi
Sapphine Fund invesaments L LE. Austin, TX Lned Stes o 7
Sappive Fund Imosments I Fekdings, LLC. Austin, TX Urnied Staned 100 7
Suppie Fund msments I, LP. Austin, T, Unted Stnes 0 7
Sappine SAP HANA Furdd of Furds, LP. Ausatin, TH, Uried! Statet 0 7
" Sapprire Werruns Fund L L, Austn, TH Unked STates g 7
"Sappiine Wenmures Fund ILLF, Astin, T, Unted Stanes a 7
Sapphire Vertures Fund WLLP. Ausin, T Unied Stares. S F
Sapphire Vertures Fund IV, LP. Austin T4, Unked States 0 7
Sapprive wermures Furd W, LP_ At TX, Uit States 0 E
Suppine Ve Fund WLLP, Austin, T, Urited Sistet 9 7
Sappine Vermues Fund Vi-A, LP, Ausin, TX, Uniteds St5te3 0 7
SAPY (Mo, Ebne, Mauriss 1w 7
50 SAP omanis 5L, Eluchﬂrl-:, Romana 100

ym S4F Cioud fuu-.-mwcmm gl Srangal Crina M

smmuk e n-n-m Urited Kingom 190 13
Eigrania e, Hewiown Scuars, P, United Stated 100 -
SuvteisFaetors (PHUSHNEL e Paig Oy, Pribipanss 100 17
SR oS, I, St Sopasee, P2, Uriked Stnes P
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Sybase Angoln, LD Luand, Angola 190 18
Sybase Berin, SL. Madvid Spak 100 '
:.}rh_r@w el Hekdings Corp A LLE, San Baemon, €A, Unted States 100

“Gybase. ine, San Pamon CA Untad States. T

Syatams AppicaEes Proscuscts (Afvica Ragee] Proprienary Lt Sharrdbug SHuEh Al m

Sysems Applications Procucts (Afnca) Proprietary Limted, Johanesburg, South Afnca 100
Emmw;ém(wmmu%wﬁymm qumumll. Smmm':u -éi- 1?
Systerms Applications Produsts Nigera Limeed Victoria kland, Mgeria 100 17
Tandia [Shagha) St Tacrasogy Co.Lid. Shanghe, Chira 100
_"r-al-;l-:ﬂi_l.-fm;;fx:w;; 5;# PR 100 5
Tl Aarsiradis Pry, Lte. Syokvay. Austr o 10

Tadin Bulgaria EQOD. 5ol Bulgana 10

Tadia GmiH, Cleessldon, Garman 100 17
T;JI.I:LC.EH\Frmo\.CAM'.E!-ﬂ;I' =

1|l..i.|.l S-hglpqne Re Led !mgq:-urr.irwau 11;:;

Tandia Tracke memﬁmw 100 12
Twdis UK il Londsn, United Kingdom 100

“Tethraloy Minagement Assocetss e Chaetlly, VA Unted S1ates 100

TRK Eurasr Limsacd, Faltnam, Lnked Kinggom 1 347
TRX Technologses Incia Private Limsec, Bengalus incla 100

TR Inc. Ballews. m Untied States 100

Wik Inegeatio, r:r-rm;; VA, Liited Siates 100

*For the chaseficaton of the FUbsowres, D folowing Tgures 370 CoTG e MvEmLRes, poofl Aors pfte Lax, 1oitel ecaty, ana mumioer of
4 These fpres e Boses ormor local FRE Tnancial slafermants prics 16 elimingsions remling from o oo ot iofiect
ikt bl mnﬂﬁmmmm'ﬁm“’"w“ e

! ks af Crecamber 31, 2033, NCIUCNG Managing Siecior, inFTE.

* Figuees fof profitoss AMes s and Toal SOy PUlsUuan 10 HGE, Secon 255 an Semon 313 a0k no cesciceen) ¥ orary a0 ol manor
Sigricancs for & T presentaton of the peoSsDETy, Boukoty, Capial resouroes, o0 financial poastion of SAF SE. pursuant bo HGE,

wegticn JU3 (2 sectence Ina & ang pection 206 (X) sentence 1 no I

* Cprmolicabes for Thie it e in 2070

* Agrewmants with Brar obfr shareholcers provioe Bhal SR SE fully contiols the endiby.

" ERnt e vl Dy Eeonging o SR SE. The térulhs of opsbrations. of Iiese entle e inched in 5APS Comclicales Financll Slaesents n
ot eancn wish FRES 10 (Consolicates Findncial Ratement)

i e wih FRS 10 iy ek AR Wil T dbSihalilicl S [BDLEGS Srbolling Fiom B Supdly Shilni ARahang
(SCF) Mt

* Enuity vl pevsonaly liabbe panne is SAF SE

* Entiny vt (1 O ) Jorks DAB T AT

| Pursua oo HGB, secthon F (1) od section 264b, tha subadtieny B esmpt rom applying Comsn lagsl secuismarts o0 (hsr STRUcry Sl
Mone financisl sademaents mﬂumhml maodars B0 Hhe Prsancial stof smeends ano 3 ovirs of e sbone. B necolsonend
of e t Gl anc Py of pubis

¥ Pursuand to HGEL section T16 (1) the subsicleny i evempt bom having &5 Snancial atemants suclen in respact of i Tnencial yeer snoed
Dl 3L, 00K

W Pyt 00 section &0 of e LG Compinied Sct 000, e ! iy B sabmgl from having ke Snancisl statementn i ibe on Chis gnouncs that
T Ly i DT 13 e Dl froen & ey in redpact of s Enancisl year oncie Diomeber 31, 2001

1 Pursunnt b artiche 2400 of the Dol Chal Cogie, the antly Bopeesrpd hom applﬂmm*gd:mmiw il SLIFLLEy LA -l
Brancial s inefuing the W D ol et Cha Flrwaracind W ol i " BUCHE, Snd he
equremeni of poblic cicosue nespect of Es financial year enced December 38 3003, o hmdhmmm
Sepbembar 10, T respethvaly

' Pursuant bo articke 7278, patagraph 2 of ine Swss Cooe of Dbigatons, the eniy i sxempl ke having kS inancial statemens st in
sirnpisct of 25 Anancisl e s December 3L G031, of in nedpect oF 23 Tnancesl yees anchs S 20, ML pep ¥,

" Purguand B Anpols Tax Lire ana Preticentisl Decoes no. 187713 of Dctobed 1, 2003, the éntly coes not cuallly xi biiig o Large Tacpayer
ang Eharefony i aosmpl hom having 23 Snandial Sa0ementt SuCEen N netpct of B3 naecial yoar ended December 11, 2037

1T Eraity swith seopepei littin st bry SAP SE
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Joint Arrangements and Irvestments in Assoclates

Mame and Location of Company ‘Ownership (%)
IMMD{“W&WLWMMM Chira ) "2'-3 .
Proousement Megdckos Eletrdnioos S04, Rl de Janebo, Bracl 17

SaP Fonser GrbH, Waltldor!, Germany o

Namse ard Locathan of Company

Eﬂuhlmmﬁ.hmﬂﬂn I:f at Least 5%

47th Sarest Partnens LLP. Menla Park, CA, Unibed States
Aidanh P LP, Hl."LI!,E-d. Iiraes|

Ackmiity Gﬂ':l’*t '-".-ln-\n ALsRiin

.A.I.n'm iz, Hﬂ-durmd El" Eﬁ, Urited States

ALt AL Mo HMJLLC.SMFI&'\:.mFAM'S{AM
AlephBipg 5P, LF, Grand Cayman, Cayman lslands

il Taps Piatfonmm - Solucoes Trbutariss SA, Sha Paulo, Braci
Amplity Paciners il P, Menke Park, A, Unfed Stabes

Jurnhﬁ.- Partrars HLLP, Menhﬂ'mk.& Lirnesd EMH:.
Anw;lpmmwh' I P, h'!-n‘. rF‘a'L{'A_Llﬂmms

-‘\n::i-!:r F‘J-h-m. l l' Hvub%-kt-k urwd suﬂs

BRS Heslding=, e, Aiagin, TH, Urdad Sanes

EiaCatch Lidl, Tel Ak, 1srasl

Exonc Techmology Labs, Inc, Kanateis, Indls

Blue Yood Capfal 1 Albernatre |:.."lﬂ"IJ-'l'I & Cou K, Bavlin, Garmany
ﬂur i d Cupd:ut- I l.'-rrbl'l 5 Ca HG. [u:m lf-e-rmanr

ﬂlur \'n-d Cr:."lpu :LI.F' 1-10{ Jﬂlﬂﬂ- 'Hlun.- AR, e 'Su‘v:
&:-Id-.um wm-:u '-' 1 ? "-hm FL. w-d .sm.-g: ’
MMIWUH\'[LF Murr'- AL, LH-HJ'E.‘M'-H-

[Enghafedd Holaings, Inc., My Work, BY, Linbed States

[Bry) Fechnoiogess. inc {fla Follovw Analytics, Inc ), San Franascoo, O8, United Stmes
BY Capital 2 GrbH 0o KG Hc-l.m.ﬁemr:.'

Catchpoint Emms. In-'_ M.-w ""D'lk. N'r' UM S-blbes
'cmm S Gallen, Smrﬂmlnnd

.{hﬂgﬁ'\l‘mu'ﬁ HﬁI1LP 5‘| Harder '\-r.eg. C.h-w:e-lh-armli
ﬂ'n.IL#nI.l'lﬂ.u'ﬂi Fuircd B LP, 5t Habar J-M"ﬂr,' Chdrmhl.hrﬂd.
Chatlen Ventures Fund Bl ILF, 5 Helbor, Jorsey, Charne Blands
CircleC], inc, SanFrancico, G, Unfed States

Clan, Inc, Sunmyvale, O, Unsied Sistes

Codfindty-X Gmb#, {o-br\-e.’.'-.'-ﬁm.rr;-

Collecthy s P'm-:llr'-‘u.{nurﬂﬂl Slrﬂlh
Comporertlab, . Seatie, WA, Livied Saces

Coramiul Glotad, lru'_ B, Ewnuﬂ:f

Costanoa Veniure Capstal B ILF, Palo Ao, T8, Unted Stabes
Corstanoa Veniune Capstsl O, LLT, Pabo A, A, Linted Sahes
Costanoa Veriure Capstal I L., Palo sivo, T, Unned Stabes

253/324

368/404



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

Tar Cus Combin Managemert Censolidated Firnancis, [Frarthar Ind Ak Additions)
Stakehotders Heport Satemenis IFRS Sustainabdity Indorrration
Name arci Location of Campany

ommm:mmms«m
mm;.nu.qma.immm mLSmhmmc.n.umcdStres
Wmn.mﬁmmuwm
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SAP Integrated Report 2023

Tar Chs Conbir Managemant Consalidated Firancisl Further infonmasion absss. Additiansl
Stakehoiders Heport Satemenis IFRS Sustainabdity Indorrration

(G.10) German Code of Corporate Governance

The German federal government published the German Corporale Governanoe Code (the "Code®) in
Fefruary 2002 and intreduced a commission that amends the Code from time to time. The Code
contains stalutary requirermnents and a numizer of recommwendations and suggestions, Only the legal
recuinenents ane binding lor German compames, With regarnd (o the recommendations, the Genman
Stock Corporation Act, section 1EL requines that every year, listed companies putilicly state the exdent
1o which they have implemented them. Companies can deviate from the suggestions without having (o
miake any publc stalements.

In 2023 and 2022, the Exedutive Board and Supervisory Boand of SAP SE issued the required
declarations of compliance. The deciaration for 2023 was issued at the end of October 2023, These

stetements are evallable on our Web site wwwsap comyinvestors/en/governance,
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Independent Auditor®s Report

To SAP SE, Walldorf

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OF THE
COMBINED GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

AUDIT OPINIONS

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SAP SE, Walldorf, and its subsidiaries (the
Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2023, and the
consolidated income statements, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of
changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the financial year from January 1, 2023 to
December 31, 2023, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In addition, we have audited the combined group management report (report on the position of the company
and of the group) of SAP SE for the financial year January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023. In accordance with
the German legal requirements, we have not audited the content of those parts of the combined group
management report listed in section ““OTHER INFORMATION~~.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,

the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as well as adopted by the EU, and the additional
requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315e (1) HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial
Code] and, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities
and financial position of the group as at December 31, 2023 and of its financial performance for the
financial year from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023 and

the accompanying combined group management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the group®s
position. In all material respects, this combined group management report is consistent with the
consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately presents
the opportunities and risks of future development. Our opinion on the combined group management report
does not cover the content of those parts of the combined group management report listed in section
““OTHER INFORMATION>~.

Pursuant to § 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB (German Commercial Code), we declare that our audit has not led to

any reservations relating to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the
combined group management report.
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BASIS FOR THE AUDIT OPINIONS

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the combined group management report
in accordance with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation (No. 537/2014, referred to subsequently as ““EU
Audit Regulation®”) and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement
Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW).
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in supplementary compliance with the
International Standards on Auditing (1SAs). Our responsibilities under those requirements, principles and
standards are further described in the ““AUDITOR S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OF THE COMBINED GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT”” section of our auditor®s report. We are
independent of the group entities in accordance with the requirements of European law and German commercial
and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements.

In addition, in accordance with Article 10 (2) letter (f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we declare that we
have not provided non-audit services prohibited under Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the combined group management report.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS IN THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the financial year from January 1, 2023 to December 31,
2023. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as
a whole, and in forming our audit opinion thereon; we do not provide a separate audit opinion on these
matters.

We have identified the following matters as key audit matters to be disclosed in our auditor®s report:
1. Cloud revenue recognition
2. Assessment of the Group"s uncertain tax treatments

3. Measurement of unlisted equity securities

CLOUD REVENUE RECOGNITION

Matter

The Group generated revenue in 2023 of EUR 31,207 million, of which EUR 13,664 million relate to cloud
revenues from fees earned from providing customers a cloud offering with software as a service, platform as
a service, infrastructure as a service and/or premium cloud support through subscriptions for use of the
Group®s cloud solutions. For most of the Group"s cloud offerings, measured both in volume and number, the
customer is entitled to continuously access and use one or more cloud solutions for a specified term,
therefore cloud revenue is recognized based on time elapsed and thus ratably over the term of access.
However, some cloud business models are provisioned on a consumption basis where a customer commits to a
fixed value of spend on cloud services throughout the contract term, but with the discretion to call off
cloud services on an as needed basis. For those arrangements cloud revenue is recognized based on
consumption as it best reflects the measure towards satisfaction of the performance obligation(s).
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The evaluation of cloud revenue contracts bears an inherent risk of errors due to the complex nature of
certain contracts. SAP defined detailed accounting policy guidelines in line with the applicable accounting
standards and has established uniform processes throughout the group to manage the accounting for its cloud
contracts. Applying them often requires significant management judgement, in particular with respect to
whether certain agreements with the same customer are economically linked and need to be combined, whether
the various services that are owed by the Group according to the contract qualify as separate performance
obligations, the allocation of the transaction price of a customer contract to the performance obligations
in the contract based on standalone-selling prices and the point in time at which the provision of services
by the Group for the specific performance obligation commences.

Cloud revenue recognition is a key audit matter due to the significance of the cloud revenue and the high
degree of complex judgement required.

The respective cloud revenue disclosures of the Group are contained in section ““A.1 Revenue”” of the notes
to the consolidated financial statements.

Auditor®s Response and Observations

We evaluated the design and we tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to
the revenue process, including controls related to the identification of certain economically linked
agreements and separate performance obligations, the allocation of the transaction price to the performance
obligations in certain contracts, and the point in time at which the provisioning of service commenced. We
tested a sample of underlying contractual agreements and other related documents to evaluate the Group®s
assessment of whether certain agreements were economically linked, the identified performance obligations,
the allocation of the transaction price and the point in time at which the provision of service for the
performance obligations identified commenced. We tested key contractual terms and conditions from the
respective contracts to evaluate the identified performance obligations and the point in time at which the
provision of service for the identified performance obligations commenced.

Based on the audit procedures we performed, we have found management"s judgements used for revenue
recognition of cloud contracts, particularly in the area of assessing whether certain contracts are
economically linked and need to be combined, identifying separate performance obligations, allocating the
transaction price to the performance obligation, and assessing the point in time at which the provision of
services commenced, acceptable.
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ASSESSMENT OF THE GROUP®"S UNCERTAIN TAX TREATMENTS

Matter

The Group disclosed contingent liabilities relating to tax uncertainties of EUR 1,815 million. The Group
operates in multiple tax jurisdictions which continually revise,

change, and implement tax laws with complexities and uncertainties due to different

interpretations of these tax laws, especially relating to transfer pricing and intercompany transactions
for the use of intellectual property. The identification, recognition, measurement and disclosure of
certain income tax risks specifically from transfer pricing and intercompany transactions for the use of
intellectual property requires significant management judgement in determining key assumptions to be
applied to the interpretation of tax laws, related regulations, case laws and mutual agreement procedures
across multiple jurisdictions. Significant management judgement is also required to determine whether a
transfer pricing tax position is more-likely-than-not to be sustained and to assess whether intercompany
transactions are based on the arm®s length principle. These management judgements demand a high degree of
expertise, for which the Group regularly engages external experts to provide tax opinions to support their
own risk assessment.

The respective disclosures regarding uncertain tax positions of the Group are contained in section ““C.5
Income Taxes”” of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Auditor®s Response and Observations

We involved internal experts with specialized skills and knowledge in taxation to evaluate the
appropriateness of management®s methods and key assumptions used to estimate certain uncertain tax
positions. We verified our understanding of the relevant facts by evaluating certain of the Group®s
transfer pricing documentation and we assessed whether the Group®s processes and guidelines in connection
with certain intercompany transactions support an arm"s length position. For certain group business
activities, we evaluated the reasonableness and consistency of management®s judgments (including
application of tax regulations and interpretations), key assumptions and processes. We assessed the overall
reasonableness of conclusions reached regarding the identification, recognition, measurement and disclosure
of certain uncertain tax positions from transfer pricing and intercompany transactions for the use of
intellectual property.

Based on the audit procedures we performed, we have found management's judgements related to the estimation

of uncertain tax positions, specifically from transfer pricing and intercompany transactions for the use of
intellectual property, acceptable.
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MEASUREMENT OF UNLISTED EQUITY SECURITIES

Matter

The Group holds unlisted equity securities held at fair value of EUR 4,811 million as of December 31, 2023,
primarily relating to Sapphire Ventures investments. These investments in unlisted equity securities are
classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss requiring a recurring fair value
measurement using significant unobservable inputs. The measurement of the fair value of certain investments
is complex and, with regard to the assumptions made, highly dependent on management®s estimates and
judgments. This applies particularly to the significant measurement uncertainty associated with the fair
value of such investments relating to significant unobservable inputs used, such as the selection of
appropriate comparable company data, in deriving revenue multiples as well as forecasted performance of the
investees.

The respective disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of unlisted equity securities of the Group
are contained in sections ““D.6 Equity Investments”” and ““F.2 Fair Value Disclosures on Financial
Instruments”” of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Auditor®™s Response and Observations

We involved internal experts with specialized skills and knowledge in valuation to assist in assessing and
evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation technique used for a selection of certain investments in
unlisted equity securities relating to Sapphire Ventures investments. We tested the appropriateness of the
valuation technique selected by comparing it to our expectation based on industry experience and knowledge
of the investment. We assessed the source, reliability and relevance of evidence used in determining
significant unobservable inputs and we evaluated the significant unobservable inputs considered in the
recurring measurement of fair value by comparing them to historical and market information. In addition, we
developed an independent range of acceptable fair value estimates utilizing available market information
from third party sources to assess whether managements estimates are reasonable.

Based on the audit procedures we performed, we have found management®s judgements related to the fair value
measurement of unlisted equity securities acceptable.

OTHER INFORMATION

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises:

the combined non-financial statement provided in section ““Non-Financial Statement Including Information
on Sustainable Activities”” of the combined group management report,

the separately published corporate governance statement, to which reference is made in section
““Corporate Governance Fundamentals”” of the combined group management report,

the information extraneous to the combined group management report and marked as unaudited, and

the annual report on Form 20-F and the other parts of the annual report, except for the audited
financial statements and combined management report as well as our auditor®s report.
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Our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the combined group management report do
not cover the other information, and consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and thereby acknowledge
whether the other information

is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the combined group
management report, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

In addition, we were engaged to perform an independent assurance engagement on selected qualitative and
quantitative sustainability disclosures, which is also other information of the integrated report 2023. In
regard to the nature, extent and conclusions of this independent assurance engagement for specific other
information we refer to our independent assurance report dated February 21, 2024.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD AND THE SUPERVISORY BOARD FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE COMBINED GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

The Executive Board is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
comply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German
commercial law pursuant to § 315e (1) HGB as well as the IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and that the consolidated financial statements, in compliance with these requirements, give
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the group.
In addition, the Executive Board is responsible for such internal control as the Executive Board has
determined necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud (i.e. fraudulent financial reporting and misappropriation of
assets) or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Executive Board is responsible for assessing the
group®s ability to continue as a going concern. The Executive Board also has the responsibility for
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, the Executive Board is
responsible for financial reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an
intention to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, the Executive Board is responsible for the preparation of the combined group management report
that, as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the group"s position and is, in all material respects,
consistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements, and
appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the Executive Board
is responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as the Executive Board has considered necessary
to enable the preparation of a combined group management report that is in accordance with the applicable
German legal requirements, the German Accounting Standard number 20 (GAS 20) and the IFRS Practice
Statement Management Commentary and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the
assertions in the combined group management report.

The Supervisory Board 1is responsible for overseeing the group®s financial reporting process for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements and of the combined group management report.
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AUDITOR™S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND OF THE COMBINED GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the combined group
management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the group®s position and, in all material
respects, is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit,
complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of
future development, as well as to issue an auditor®"s report that includes our opinions on the consolidated
financial statements and on the combined group management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with German Generally Accepted
Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer (IDW) and
supplementary compliance with the ISAs and standards of the PCAOB will always detect a material
misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements and this combined group management report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and of
the combined group management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than the risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial
statements and of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the combined group
management report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the Executive Board and the reasonableness
of estimates made by the Executive Board and related disclosures.

conclude on the appropriateness of the Executive Boards® use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group"s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor®s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and in the combined group management
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective audit opinions. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor®s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the group to cease to be able to continue as a going concern.
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evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements present the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the group in compliance with
IFRSs as adopted by the EU as well as with IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315e (1) HGB.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the group to express audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements
and on the combined group management report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinions.

evaluate the consistency of the combined group management report with the consolidated financial
statements, its conformity with German law, and the view of the group®s position it provides.

perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the Executive Board in the combined
group management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in
particular, the significant assumptions used by the Executive Board as a basis for the prospective
information, and evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions.
We do not express a separate opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions used as a
basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the
prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the relevant
independence requirements and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and, where applicable, the actions taken or safeguards applied to
eliminate independence threats.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor®s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter.
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OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING IN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PURSUANT TO PCAOB

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting in the Consolidated
Financial Statements

We have audited SAP SE®s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the ““COSO criteria®”). In our opinion, SAP SE
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2023, based on the COSO criteria.

Executive Board"s and Supervisory Board"s Responsibility for the Internal
Control over Financial Reporting in the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Executive Board is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in
Management®s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting in the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

A company®s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company®s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company"s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing SAP SE's internal control over financial reporting in
the consolidated financial statements.
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Auditor®s Responsibility for the Internal Control over Financial Reporting in
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on SAP SE"s internal control over financial reporting based on
our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent
with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the
PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

REPORT ON THE ASSURANCE ON THE ELECTRONIC RENDERING OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE COMBINED GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT, PREPARED FOR
PUBLICATION PURPOSES IN ACCORDANCE WITH § 317 (3A) HGB

Assurance Opinion

We have performed assurance work in accordance with § 317 (3a) HGB to obtain reasonable assurance as to
whether the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the combined group management report
(hereinafter the ““ESEF documents””) contained in the electronic file ““sap-2023-12-31-DE.zip”” and
prepared for publication purposes complies in all material respects with the requirements of § 328 (1) HGB
for the electronic reporting format (““ESEF format””). In accordance with German legal requirements, this
assurance work extends only to the conversion of the information contained in the consolidated financial
statements and the combined group management report into the ESEF format and therefore relates neither to
the information contained within these renderings nor to any other information contained in the file
identified above.

In our opinion, the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the combined group management
report contained in the electronic file identified above and prepared for publication purposes complies in
all material respects with the requirements of 8§ 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting format. Beyond
this assurance opinion and our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements and the
accompanying combined group management report for the financial year from January 1, 2023 to December 31,
2023, contained in the ““Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the combined
group management report”” above, we do not express any assurance opinion on the information contained
within these renderings or on the other information contained in the file identified above.

402/404



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

Basis for the Assurance Opinion

We conducted our assurance work on the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the combined
group management report contained in the file identified above in accordance with 8§ 317 (3a) HGB and the
IDW Assurance Standard: Assurance Work on the Electronic Rendering of Financial Statements and Management
Reports, Prepared for Publication Purposes in Accordance with § 317 (3a) HGB (IDW AsS 410 (06.2022). Our
responsibility in accordance therewith is further described in the ““Auditor®s Responsibilities for the
Assurance Work on the ESEF Documents”” section. Our audit firm has applied the requirements of the IDW
Quality Management Standards, which implement the IAASB"s International Standards on Quality Management.

Responsibilities of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board for the ESEF Documents

The Executive Board of the company is responsible for the preparation of the ESEF documents with the
electronic renderings of the consolidated financial statements and the combined group management report in
accordance with § 328 (1) sentence 4 No. 1 HGB and for the tagging of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with § 328 (1) sentence 4 No. 2 HGB.

In addition, the Executive Board of the company is responsible for such internal controls that they have
considered necessary to enable the preparation of ESEF documents that are free from material intentional or
unintentional non-compliance with the requirements of § 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting format.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the process for preparing the ESEF documents as part of
the financial reporting process.

Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Assurance Work on the ESEF documents

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ESEF documents are free from material
intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the requirements of § 328 (1) HGB. We exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the assurance work. We also

identify and assess the risks of material intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the
requirements of § 328 (1) HGB, design and perform assurance procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain assurance evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our assurance
opinion.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the assurance on the ESEF documents in order to
design assurance procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an assurance opinion on the effectiveness of these controls.

evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF documents, i.e. whether the file containing the ESEF
documents meets the requirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, in the version in force at
the date of the financial statements, on the technical specification for this electronic file.

evaluate whether the ESEF documents provide an XHTML rendering with content equivalent to the audited
consolidated financial statements and to the audited combined group management report.

evaluate whether the tagging of the ESEF documents with Inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) in accordance
with the requirements of Articles 4 and 6 of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, in the version in
force at the date of the financial statements, enables an appropriate and complete machine-readable XBRL
copy of the XHTML rendering.

403/404



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

FURTHER INFORMATION PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 10 OF THE EU AUDIT REGULATION

We were elected as group auditor by the annual general meeting on May 18, 2022. We were engaged by the
chairperson of the Audit and Compliance Committee on November 30, 2023. We have been the group auditor of
SAP SE without interruption since the financial year 2023.

We declare that the audit opinions expressed in this auditor®s report are consistent with the additional
report to the audit committee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form audit report).

In addition to the financial statement audit of SAP SE, we have performed various financial statement
audits at subsidiaries and have provided to group entities the following services that are not disclosed in
the consolidated financial statements or in the combined group management report for the audited entity or
its controlled entities:

assurance engagement on selected qualitative and quantitative sustainability disclosures of the
Integrated Report 2023,

assurance engagement on the combined non-financial statement according to § § 315c HGB in conjunction
with 8§ 8§ 289c to 289e HGB,

service organization attestation procedures,

audit of the compensation report including related disclosures of SAP SE pursuant to the requirements of
section 162 of the German Stock Corporation Act [AktG].

OTHER MATTER— USE OF THE AUDITOR"S REPORT

Our auditor®s report must always be read together with the audited consolidated financial statements and
the audited combined group management report as well as the assured ESEF documents. The consolidated
financial statements and the combined group management report converted to the ESEF format— including the
versions to be published in the German Federal Gazette— are merely electronic renderings of the audited
consolidated financial statements and the audited combined group management report and do not take their
place. In particular, the ESEF report and our assurance opinion contained therein are to be used solely
together with the assured ESEF documents provided in electronic form.

German Public Auditor Responsible for the Engagement
The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is Dr. Jens Freiberg.
Frankfurt am Main, February 21, 2024

BDO AG
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft

Dr. Jens Freiberg Klaus Eckmann
Wirtschaftspriufer Wirtschaftsprifer
German Public Auditor German Public Auditor
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